University of Alberta

Renal Effects of COX-2-Selective Inhibitors

by

Saeidreza Harirforoosh



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Pharmaceutical Sciences

Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring 2006

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-494-13982-X Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-494-13982-X

# NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

# AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



# Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my wife Nooshin and my daughter Sarah for their patience and support.

### Abstract

We compared the effect of a selected group of NSAIDs with different inhibitory for cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) and COX-2 on urinary sodium and potassium excretion in rats. We also tested the hypothesis that the relative extent of renal effects of the three NSAIDs, rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam, is governed by their degree of kidney exposure as compared with plasma.

Chronic arthritis has been reported to impair glomerular function. In addition, both acute inflammation and chronic arthritis can alter the pharmacokinetics of some drugs. Since NSAIDs are mainly used in the treatment of inflammatory conditions, we studied the effect of inflammation on sodium and potassium excretion and pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib and meloxicam.

As compared to placebo, rofecoxib, celecoxib, diclofenac, and flurbiprofen significantly reduced the excretion rate of sodium and potassium. Meloxicam had no significant effect either on sodium and potassium excretion or urine flow rate. There was a significant correlation between the area under the plasma concentration-time curve from time of dosing to 24 h post-dose (AUC<sub>0-24</sub>) of rofecoxib and the change in sodium and potassium excretion. The 24-h post-dose concentration of celecoxib was correlated to the change in sodium and potassium excretion. The ratios of kidney to plasma concentration were  $2.14 \pm 1.63$ ,  $3.61 \pm 2.34$ , and  $0.27 \pm 0.10$  for rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam, respectively.

Sodium and potassium excretion rates were not affected by inflammation. The  $AUC_{0-24}$  of rofecoxib, but not meloxicam, in inflamed rats was significantly higher as

compared with that of normal rats. The ratios of kidney/plasma concentrations were not significantly altered.

At the examined dosage levels, no relationship was found between reported COX-2/COX-1 selectivity and renal effects. The lower ratio of kidney to plasma concentration of meloxicam compared to rofecoxib and celecoxib indicates less distribution into kidneys for meloxicam. Inflammation altered kidney function demonstrated by an increase in blood urea nitrogen and plasma creatinine. However, inflammation does not influence the urinary electrolyte excretion. Since the pattern of kidney effect of the examined NSAIDs in inflamed rats is similar to that of previously reported healthy rats, one may conclude that inflammation does not exacerbate the adverse effect.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude and appreciation to my supervisor, Professor. Fakhreddin Jamali, for accepting me into his lab and advising me on various subjects over the years I had been in the Ph.D. program.

Many thanks to Dr. Ali Aghazadeh-Habashi for his help with the HPLC.

I would like to thank Dr. John Duke and Mr. Russell Ambeault from SLOWPOKE Nuclear Reactor Facility of University of Alberta and Mr. Greg Olson and Ms. Christine Cook from the Surgical-Medical Research Institute of University of Alberta for their technical assistance.

I am also thankful to the students in Dr. Jamali's lab for their help on various aspects of my project.

Table of Contents	
-------------------	--

CHAPTER 1	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 NONSTEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUGS (NSAIDS)	2
1.1.1 History	2
1.1.2 Cyclooxygenase Isoforms	3
1.1.3 COX Structure	3
<b>1.1.4 Localization of COX isoforms in Major Organs</b> 1.1.4.1 Brain         1.1.4.2 Platelet         1.1.4.3 Stomach         1.1.4.4 Kidney	<b>4</b> 5 5 5
1.1.5 Selectivity of NSAIDs for COX-1 and COX-2 inhibition	6
1.1.6 NSAIDs Categories         1.1.6.1 Traditional NSAIDs         1.1.6.2 COX-2-Selective Inhibitors (Coxibs)	<b>9</b> 9 11
<ul> <li>1.1.7 Mechanisms of Action of NSAIDs</li> <li>1.1.7.1 Arachidonic Acid Cascade</li> <li>1.1.7.1.1 Thromboxane A2</li> <li>1.1.7.1.2 Prostaglandin I2 (Prostacyclin)</li> <li>1.1.7.1.3 Prostaglandin E2</li> <li>1.1.7.1.4 Prostaglandin D2</li> <li>1.1.7.1.5 Prostaglandin F2α</li> </ul>	11 13 13 13 14 14
<b>1.1.8 Therapeutic Effects of NSAIDs</b> 1.1.8.1 Analgesic Effect         1.1.8.2 Antipyretic Effect         1.1.8.3 Antithrombotic Effect         1.1.8.4 Anti-inflammatory Effect	<b> 14</b> 14 15 15 16
<ul> <li>1.1.9 Side Effects of NSAIDs</li> <li>1.1.9.1 Renal Effects</li> <li>1.1.9.1.1 Urinary System</li> <li>1.1.9.1.1 Sodium Balance</li> <li>1.1.9.1.2 Potassium Balance</li> <li>1.1.9.1.2 Acute Renal Failure</li> <li>1.1.9.1.3 Renal Papillary Necrosis</li> <li>1.1.9.1.4 Hyperkalemia</li> </ul>	17 17 20 20 20 21 22

<ul> <li>1.1.9.1.5 Sodium Retention</li> <li>1.1.9.1.5.1 Cardiovascular Events Associated with the Use of NSAIDs</li> <li>1.1.9.2 Gastrointestinal Effects of NSAIDs</li> </ul>	23 24 26
1.1.10 Diclofenac 1.1.10.1 Pharmacokinetics of Diclofenac in the Rat	<b>28</b> 29
1.1.10.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Diclofenac	29
1.1.11 Flurbiprofen           1.1.11.1 Pharmacokinetics of Flurbiprofen in the Rat	<b>30</b>
1.1.11.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Flurbiprofen	31
1.1.12 KOIECOXID	34
1.1.12.1 Pharmacokinetics of Rofecoxib	33
1.1.13 Celecoxib	35
1.1.13.1 Pharmacokinetics of Celecoxib in the Rat	35
1.1.13.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Celecoxib	36
1.1.14 Meloxicam	
1.1.14.1 Pharmacokinetics of Meloxicam in the Rat	
1.1.14.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Meloxicam	
1.2 THESIS RATIONALE	. 39
1.3 HYPOTHESES	. 40
1.4 OBJECTIVES	. 40
1.5 REFERENCES	. 41
CHAPTER 2	. 53
EFFECT OF NONSTEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUGS WITH	
VARYING EXTENT OF COX-2/COX-1 SELECTIVITY ON URINARY SODIU	
	M
AND POTASSIUM EXCRETION IN THE RAT	М . 53

2.2 METHODS 5	55
2.2.1 Chemicals	55
2.2.2 Animals	55
2.2.3 Dosage Forms and Administration	56
2.2.4 Selection of NSAIDs and Dosage Regime	56
2.2.5 Data Treatment and Statistical Analysis	57
2.3 RESULTS	58
2.4 DISCUSSION	59
2.5 REFERENCES	58
CHAPTER 3 7	70
THE EXTENT OF RENAL EFFECTS OF COX-2-SELECTIVE INHIBITORS IS	
PHARMACOKINETIC-DEPENDENT 7	70
3.1 INTRODUCTION7	71
<b>3.2 METHODS</b>	72
3.2.1 Chemicals	72
3.2.2 Drugs, Dosage Forms and Route of Administration	72
3.2.3 Experimental Design and Sample Collection	73
3.2.4 Rofecoxib Assay	73
3.2.5 Celecoxib Assay	74
3.2.6 Meloxicam Assay	75

3.2.7 Neutron Activation Analysis of Urine Samples
3.2.8 Data Treatment and Statistical Analysis77
3.3 RESULTS 78
3.4 DISCUSSION
3.5 REFERENCE 113
CHAPTER 4 117
EFFECT OF INFLAMMATION ON KIDNEY FUNCTION AND
PHARMACOKINETICS OF NONSTEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY
DRUGS, WITH DIFFERENT COX-2 SELECTIVITY 117
4.1 INTRODUCTION118
4.1 INTRODUCTION
4.1 INTRODUCTION
4.1 INTRODUCTION.       118         4.2 METHODS       119         4.2.1 Chemicals       119         4.2.2 Dosage Forms and Administration       120
4.1 INTRODUCTION.       118         4.2 METHODS       119         4.2.1 Chemicals       119         4.2.2 Dosage Forms and Administration       120         4.2.3 Experimental Design and Sample Collection       120
4.1 INTRODUCTION.       118         4.2 METHODS       119         4.2.1 Chemicals       119         4.2.2 Dosage Forms and Administration       120         4.2.3 Experimental Design and Sample Collection       120         4.2.4 Total Protein, BUN and Plasma Creatinine Analysis       121
4.1 INTRODUCTION1184.2 METHODS1194.2.1 Chemicals1194.2.2 Dosage Forms and Administration1204.2.3 Experimental Design and Sample Collection1204.2.4 Total Protein, BUN and Plasma Creatinine Analysis1214.2.5 Nitrite Assay121
4.1 INTRODUCTION.1184.2 METHODS1194.2.1 Chemicals1194.2.2 Dosage Forms and Administration1204.2.3 Experimental Design and Sample Collection1204.2.4 Total Protein, BUN and Plasma Creatinine Analysis1214.2.5 Nitrite Assay1214.2.6 TNF-α Analysis122
4.1 INTRODUCTION1184.2 METHODS1194.2.1 Chemicals1194.2.2 Dosage Forms and Administration1204.2.3 Experimental Design and Sample Collection1204.2.4 Total Protein, BUN and Plasma Creatinine Analysis1214.2.5 Nitrite Assay1214.2.6 TNF-α Analysis1224.2.7 Rofecoxib and Meloxicam Assays122
4.1 INTRODUCTION

1.3 RESULTS
4.3.1 The Presence of Inflammation123
4.3.2 Effects on Body Weight124
4.3.3 The Effect of Inflammation on Kidney Function124
4.3.4 Effects on Urinary Electrolyte Excretion and Urine Flow Rate
4.3.5 The Effect of Inflammation on Pharmacokinetics Parameters
4.3.6 The Effect of Inflammation on the Distribution of Rofecoxib and Meloxicam into the Kidney 125
4.4 DISCUSSION 126
4.5 REFERENCES 142
CHAPTER 5
GENERAL DISCUSSIONS AND CONCLUSIONS 144
5.1 REFERENCES 150

# List of Tables

Table 1-1. Comparison of several NSAIDs with respect to the $IC_{80}$ concentrations
Table 1-2. Chemical classification of NSAIDs    10
Table 2-1. Change from baseline in sodium excretion, potassium excretion, and urine
flow rate/100g bodyweight after administration of rofecoxib (30 mg/kg, n=8), celecoxib
(120 mg/kg, n=6), meloxicam (9 mg/kg, n=6), diclofenac (30 mg/kg, n=3), or
flurbiprofen (125 mg/kg, n=6)63
Table 3-1. Coefficient of variation and accuracy for the rofecoxib assay in the rat kidney
(n=3)
Table 3-2. Coefficient of variation and accuracy for the celecoxib assay in the rat kidney
(n=3)
Table 3-3. Coefficient of variation and accuracy for the meloxicam assay in the rat kidney
(n=3)
(n=3)
(n=3)
<ul> <li>(n=3)</li></ul>
(n=3)

rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (3 mg/kg), (MEL/CONT, n=7), inflamed rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (MEL/INF, n=7), normal rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/CONT, n=7), and inflamed rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/INF, n=6) on day 13 post-Table 4-3. Changes in urine flow rate, sodium excretion, and potassium excretion in normal rats treated with placebo (PL/CONT, n=6), inflamed rats treated with placebo (PL/INF, n=6), normal rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (3 mg/kg), (MEL/CONT, n=7), inflamed rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (MEL/INF, n=7), normal rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/CONT, n=7), and inflamed rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib Table 4-4. The pharmacokinetic parameters of rofecoxib (10mg/kg) in the absence or Table 4-5. The pharmacokinetic parameters of meloxicam (3mg/kg) in the absence or 

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1-1. Biosynthesis of prostaglandin 12
Figure 1-2. Structure of a nephron 19
Figure 1-3. Chemical structure of diclofenac
Figure 1-4. Chemical structure of flurbiprofen
Figure 1-5. Chemical structure of rofecoxib
Figure 1-6. Chemical structure of celecoxib
Figure 1-7. Chemical structure of meloxicam
Figure 2-1. The effect of low dose of rofecoxib (10 mg/kg) on sodium and potassium
excretion /100g bodyweight
Figure 2-2. The effect of rofecoxib (30 mg/kg, n=8), celecoxib (120 mg/kg, n=6),
meloxicam (9 mg/kg, n=6), diclofenac (30 mg/kg, n=3), or flurbiprofen (125 mg/kg, n=6)
on sodium excretion/100g bodyweight
Figure 2-3. The effect of rofecoxib (30 mg/kg, n=8), celecoxib (120 mg/kg, n=6),
meloxicam (9 mg/kg, n=6), diclofenac (30 mg/kg, n=3), or flurbiprofen (125 mg/kg, n=6)
on potassium excretion/100g bodyweight
Figure 2-4. The effect of rofecoxib (30 mg/kg, n=8), celecoxib (120 mg/kg, n=6),
meloxicam (9 mg/kg, n=6), diclofenac (30 mg/kg, n=3), or flurbiprofen (125 mg/kg, n=6)
on urine flow rate/100g bodyweight
Figure 3-1. Electrolyte excretion/100g bodyweight after administration of rofecoxib (10
mg/kg, n=13)
Figure 3-2. Electrolyte excretion/100g bodyweight after administration of celecoxib (40
mg/kg, n=7)

Figure 3-3. Electrolyte excretion/100g bodyweight after administration of meloxicam (3
mg/kg, n=7)
Figure 3-4. Electrolyte excretion/100g bodyweight after administration of placebo (n=6).
Figure 3-5. Plasma concentration-time profile of rofecoxib in the rat following a 10
mg/kg oral dose (n=13)
Figure 3-6. Plasma concentration-time profile of celecoxib in the rat following a 40
mg/kg oral dose (n=5)
Figure 3-7. Plasma concentration-time profile of meloxicam in the rat following a 3
mg/kg oral dose (n=7)
Figure 3-8. 24-h post-dose concentrations of rofecoxib in plasma and kidney of rats
following a 10 mg/kg oral dose (n=13)
Figure 3-9. 24-h post-dose concentrations of celecoxib in plasma and kidney of rats
following a 40 mg/kg oral dose (n=7)
Figure 3-10. 24-h post-dose concentrations of meloxicam in plasma and kidney of rats
following a 3 mg/kg oral dose (n=6)100
Figure 3-11. Correlation of $AUC_{0-24}$ with sodium excretion change from baseline for
rofecoxib
Figure 3-12. Correlation of $AUC_{0-24}$ with potassium excretion change from baseline for
rofecoxib
Figure 3-13. Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with sodium excretion
change from baseline for rofecoxib

Figure 3-14. Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with potassium
excretion change from baseline for rofecoxib104
Figure 3-15. Correlation of $AUC_{0-24}^{\dagger}$ with sodium excretion change from baseline for
celecoxib
Figure 3-16. Correlation of $AUC_{0-24}^{\dagger}$ with potassium excretion change from baseline for
celecoxib
Figure 3-17. Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with sodium excretion
change from baseline for celecoxib 107
Figure 3-18. Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with potassium
excretion change from baseline for celecoxib
Figure 3-19. Correlation of $AUC_{0-24}$ with sodium excretion change from baseline for
meloxicam
Figure 3-20. Correlation of $AUC_{0-24}$ with potassium excretion change from baseline for
meloxicam
Figure 3-21. Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with sodium excretion
change from baseline for meloxicam
Figure 3-22. Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with potassium
excretion change from baseline for meloxicam
Figure 4-1. The changes in nitrite in normal rats treated with placebo (PL/CONT, n=6),
inflamed rats treated with placebo (PL/INF, n=6), normal rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral
dose of meloxicam (3 mg/kg), (MEL/CONT, n=7), inflamed rats treated with a 3 mg/kg
oral dose of meloxicam (MEL/INF, n=7), normal rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose

of rofecoxib (ROF/CONT, n=7), and inflamed rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of
rofecoxib (ROF/INF, n=6) on day 13 post-inflammation
Figure 4-2. The changes in TNF- $\alpha$ normal rats treated with placebo ((PL/CONT, n=6),
inflamed rats treated with placebo (PL/INF, n=6), normal rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral
dose of meloxicam (3 mg/kg), (MEL/CONT, n=7), inflamed rats treated with a 3 mg/kg
oral dose of meloxicam (MEL/INF, n=7), normal rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose
of rofecoxib (ROF/CONT, n=7), and inflamed rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of
rofecoxib (ROF/INF, n=6) on day 13 post-inflammation
Figure 4-3. Plasma concentration-time profile of rofecoxib in absence ( $n=7$ ) or presence
(n=6) of inflammation following a 10 mg/kg oral dose
Figure 4-4. Plasma concentration-time profile of meloxicam in absence $(n=7)$ or presence
(n=7) of inflammation following a 3 mg/kg oral dose
Figure 4-5. 24-h post dose concentrations of rofecoxib in plasma and kidney of normal
(n=5) or inflamed (n=6) rats following a 10 mg/kg oral dose 140
Figure 4-6. 24-h post dose concentrations of meloxicam in plasma and kidney of normal
(n=6) or inflamed (n=7) rats following a 3 mg/kg oral dose

# **List of Abbreviations**

≈	Approximately
μg	Microgram
APPROVe	Adenomatous Polyp Prevention on Vioxx
ARF	Acute renal failure
AUC	Area under the plasma concentration-time curve
BUN	Blood urea nitrogen
CL	Clearance
CL <sub>I</sub> '	Intrinsic clearance of free drug
$CL_I$	Intrinsic clearance
cm	Centimeter
C <sub>max</sub>	Peak plasma level
Co	Cobalt
COX	Cyclooxygenase
Coxibs	COX-2-selective inhibitors
CV	Coefficient of variation
CYPs	Cytochrome P450s
ET-1	Endothelin-1
F	Systemic availability of drug
fu	Unbound fraction
Ge	Germanium
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate
GI	Gastrointestinal

h	Hour		
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography		
$IC_{50}$	Inhibitor concentration that is required for 50% inhibition of a		
	enzyme in vitro		
IFN-a	Interferon-a		
IL-1β	Interleukin-1ß		
INAA	Instrumental neutron activation analysis		
kb	kilo-base pairs		
kg	Kilogram		
L	Liter		
log P	Partition coefficient		
Μ	Molar		
mg	Milligram		
MI	Myocardial infarction		
min	Minute		
ng	Nanogram		
NO	Nitric oxide		
NSAIDs	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs		
Pb	Lead		
pg	Pico gram		
PG	Prostaglandin		
PGI <sub>2</sub>	Prostacyclin		
Q	Hepatic blood flow		

RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RPN	Renal papillary necrosis
S	Second
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Standard error
t <sub>1/2</sub>	Half-life
TARGET	Therapeutic Arthritis Research and Gastrointestinal Event Trial
t <sub>max</sub>	Time to reach peak plasma level
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α
TXA <sub>2</sub>	Thromboxane A <sub>2</sub>
UGT	UDT-glucuronosyltransferase
V <sub>d</sub>	Volume of distribution
VIGOR	Vioxx Gastrointestinal Outcomes Research
V <sub>ss</sub>	Steady-state volume of distribution
W	Weight
WBA	Human whole blood
WHMA	William Harvey human modified whole blood

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

.

#### 1.1 Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs)

NSAIDs are a heterogeneous group of compounds including aspirin, which irreversibly inhibits cyclooxygenase (COX), and several other classes of organic acids (1). Despite a wide range of pharmacokinetic characteristics, they have some common properties (2). Most NSAIDs are weak organic acids, well absorbed, highly proteinbound, and extensively metabolized. NSAIDs are one the most common classes of drugs and are considered as the first line for the treatment of rheumatoid disorders (3). The number of NSAID prescriptions in the US has been estimated to be 70 million annually; each year, \$US6.8 billion is spent on NSAIDs all over the world (4).

# 1.1.1 History

The inhibitors of COX have been used by human since 1500 B.C. (5). In 1874, salicin, the ingredient of the common white willow, was used to reduce the symptoms related to rheumatic fever (6). Also, sodium salicylate, which had antipyretic and uricosuric effects, was used for the treatment of rheumatic fever and gout in 1875 (1). Felix Hoffman who was assigned by the pharmaceutical manufacturer, Bayer, to develop a more efficient form of salicylic acid, synthesized acetylsalicylic acid by acetylating of the hydroxyl group on the benzene ring of salicylic acid (6). The compound was introduced in 1899 by Heinrich Dreser, Bayer's chief pharmacologist, under the name of aspirin (1). It is believed that aspirin is originated from St Aspirinius, patron saint against headaches (6). However, *Spiraea*, the origin plant species of salicylic acid, is known for the basis of the name by some authors (1). In 1971, Vane proposed that the therapeutic effects of aspirin and other NSAIDs was the result of COX inhibition (6). After discovery of aspirin, many new compounds, that share similar therapeutic effects, have been introduced into clinical

medicine. The goal was to make compounds which were more efficient and had less side effects (2). Discovery of COX-2 in the early 1990 led to development of new compounds with more selectivity for COX-2 inhibition (5).

#### 1.1.2 Cyclooxygenase Isoforms

COX-1 and COX-2 are two isoforms of COX enzyme (7). COX-1 is expressed constitutively in many tissues and is involved in many physiological functions such as regulation of platelet aggregation, gastric mucosa protection, and maintenance of renal function (8).

Inducible expression of COX-2 under inflammatory conditions has been documented in the literature (9). While growth factors and pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) increase the levels of COX-2, corticosteroids and anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13 inhibit the expression of COX-2 (10). However, there are several studies reporting constitutive expression of COX-2 in mammalian brain (11), stomach (12), colon (13), and kidney (14).

A new isoform, COX-3, has been identified (15;16). Kis et al. (17) have detected COX-3 mRNA in different parts of rat brain. However, some authors believe that COX-3 does not exist as a distinctive enzyme in humans (18).

# 1.1.3 COX Structure

63% of amino acids of COX-1 and COX-2 are identical and 77% are similar (19). While human COX-1 derives from a 22-kilo-base pairs (kb) gene with an mRNA transcript at

2.8 kb, the human COX-2 gene is a small immediate early gene at 8.3 kb with a mRNA  $\approx$  4.5 kb (10).

Two enzymes, COX-1 and COX-2, form a lipophilic channel containing an active site, which binds to the substrate (19). Comparison of COX-1 and COX-2 shows that isoleucine at positions 434 and 523 in COX-1 is substituted for a smaller size amino acid, valine, in COX-2 (10). Exchanging valine at position 523 makes COX-2 active site more accessible to bulkier molecules compared to that of COX-1 (19). Since selective COX-2 inhibitors, such as celecoxib and rofecoxib, have a large molecule, they are not able to reach the active site of COX-1 (10).

Human COX-3 originates from COX-1 gene and expresses COX-3 mRNA transcript at 5.2 kb which is most present in cerebral cortex and heart (15).

# 1.1.4 Localization of COX isoforms in Major Organs

#### 1.1.4.1 Brain

Although COX-2 is the predominant isoform of rat spinal cord, the amount of COX-1 and COX-2 mRNA are equal in human brain (10). Basic levels of COX-2 are present in brain and cerebral microvessels (20). Although COX-1 is present in brain neurons, it is mainly located in forebrain (10). The constitutive expression of COX-1 in macrophages and microglial cells and COX-2 in endothelial cells has been detected in rat brain (21). In addition, COX-2 is located in cortical pyramidal and is involved in control of cerebral blood flow (22).

#### 1.1.4.2 Platelet

Although COX-1 is the main isoform of COX in platelets (10), the expression of COX-2 has been detected in the platelets of patient who had a bypass surgery (23).

# 1.1.4.3 Stomach

COX-1 is the main form of COX in the gastrointestinal (GI) tracts of the rat, dog, monkey, and human (24). Haworth et al. (25) have studied the expression of COX-1 and COX-2 in GI of rat. While COX-1 was present in the lamina propria, submucosal vascular endothelium and within the muscularis and muscularis mucosae of all regions of GI tract, its levels were less in stomach and large intestine compared to those of small intestine. COX-2 was present within the parasympathetic ganglia of the submucosa and muscularis of entire GI tract, while the highest expression of COX-2 was seen in the ileocaecal junction.

## 1.1.4.4 Kidney

In rats, basal levels of COX-1 is expressed in medullary collecting ducts and interstitial cells and, to a lesser degree, in the cortex of rat kidneys (26). In addition, COX-1 is present in papillary interstitial cells (27). COX-2 expression was seen in macula densa, adjacent cortical thick ascending limb in renal cortex (26;27) and papillary interstitial cells (27).

In human, COX-1 is present in the collecting ducts, renal vasculature and papillary interstitial, while COX-2 is expressed in podocytes and small blood vessels (27).

5

Recently, Adegboyega and Ololade (14) have shown the constitutive expression of COX-2 in normal human kidneys. COX-2 was present in the endothelial cells of arteries, arterioles, and glomeruli of the cortex. Also, COX-2 was detected in the cortical thick ascending limb of the loop of Henle, the endothelial lining of the vasa recta, and the collecting ducts.

#### 1.1.5 Selectivity of NSAIDs for COX-1 and COX-2 inhibition

The potency to inhibit COX-1 and COX-2 varies among NSAIDs. Several assays, including purified recombinant enzymes, transfected cells, and whole-blood assays, have been developed to evaluate this potency (28).

Copeland et al. (29) used recombinant COX-1 and COX-2 enzymes to measure the selectivity of two compounds. Enzyme was incubated with various concentrations of NSAIDs. After selected incubation times, arachidonic acid was added and the enzyme activity was determined by the measurement of absorbance change of a known compound, N,N,N',N'-tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine. Since enzyme activity did not replicate the protein binding and transcellular passing of drug, whole-cell systems were develop to measure NSAIDs' potency (19).

Mitchell et al. compared the cultured animal cells (intact or broken) and purified enzyme preparations (30). The potency of NSAIDs to inhibit COX isozymes were measured in bovine aortic endothelial cells for COX-1 and endotoxin-activated J774.2 macrophages for COX-2. Since enzyme preparations assay did not show the same activity for enzyme that were seen with cultured animal cells assay, they concluded that cultured animal cells would be a better predictor of NSAIDs' potency (30). In whole blood assay (WBA), thromboxane  $B_2$  (TXB<sub>2</sub>) and prostaglandin  $E_2$  (PGE<sub>2</sub>) were measured as the indexes of COX-1 and COX-2 activities, respectively (28). In order to induce COX-2, the whole blood had to be incubated with lipopolysaccharide for 24 h. Therefore, the time course of COX-1 and COX-2 assays was different. To address this concern, a modified form of WBA, the William Harvey modified assay (WHMA), was developed. In this assay, pre-stimulated human A-549 monocytic cells were used to measure COX-2 activity (19).

Performing WBA and WHMA, using human airway epithelial cells, Warner et al. (3) have reported COX-1 and COX-2 activities of various NSAIDs. Comparing the inhibitory concentration that is required for 50% inhibition of an enzyme in vitro ( $IC_{50}$ ) and  $IC_{80}$  concentration values,  $IC_{80}$  provided values closer to the steady-state plasma concentrations of many examined NSAIDs. Therefore, they concluded that  $IC_{80}$  values were better estimates of COX-1 and COX-2 potency. Table 1-1 depicts the  $IC_{80}$  concentrations and COX-2-COX-1 ratios for some NSAIDs.

	COX 1	WDA COV 2	WIDAA COV 2	COX-2-COX-1	COX-2-COX-1
Compound	COX-1	WBA-COX-2	WHMA-COX-2	selectivity	selectivity
	$IC_{80}(\mu M)$	IC <sub>80</sub> (μM)	IC <sub>80</sub> (μM)	(Using WBA)	(Using WHMA)
Aspirin	8	100	30	0.08	0.27
Diclofenac	1	0.27	0.23	3.70	4.35
Flurbiprofen	1	24	51	0.04	0.02
Ibuprofen	58	67	150	0.87	0.39
Indomethacin	0.46	5	2	0.09	0.23
Naproxen	110	260	330	0.42	0.33
Celecoxib	28	6	3	4.67	9.33
Etodolac	69	8	3	8.63	23.0
Meloxicam	22	7	2	3.14	11.0
Rofecoxib	100	6	5	16.7	20.0

Table 1-1. Comparison of several NSAIDs with respect to the  $IC_{80}$  concentrations (3).

### **1.1.6 NSAIDs Categories**

NSAIDs are divided into two categories: traditional NSAIDs and COX-2-selective inhibitors (coxibs). However, occasionally aspirin has been considered as a separate class by some authors (31).

# **1.1.6.1 Traditional NSAIDs**

'Traditional' NSAIDs are isoform nonselective, reversible, active site inhibitors of COX (31). NSAIDs, with a wide range of availability, are used more than any other therapeutic compounds (32). Inhibition of  $PGE_2$  and  $PGI_2$  (prostacyclin) production is the basis of their analgesic, and antipyretic, and anti-inflammatory effects (31). This class includes a range of compounds with a variety of chemical structures (Table 1-2).

 Table 1-2. Chemical classification of NSAIDs (32).

Group	Example		
Salicylates	Aspirin		
Propionic acid derivatives	Ibuprofen,		
	naproxen		
Pyranocarboxylic acids	Etodolac		
Acetic acids	Diclofenac		
Indoleacetic acids	Indomethacin		
Oxicams	Piroxicam		
Pyrroloppyrrole	Ketorolac		
Fenamates	Mefenamic acid		

#### 1.1.6.2 COX-2-Selective Inhibitors (Coxibs)

Coxibs were developed with the notion that they exert their anti-inflammatory effect with inhibition of COX-2 and have fewer side effects due to less potency for COX-1, which plays a housekeeping role in many tissues through the body (2). In this attempt, COX-2-selective compounds such as rofecoxib and celecoxib were introduced to the presented NSAIDs such as etodolac, meloxicam, and nimesulide that had shown selectivity for COX-2 (3). However, new studies have revealed the cardiovascular (33) and renal effects (34) associated with inhibition of COX-2.

Among this group of NSAIDs, selectivity for COX-2 is varied: celecoxib, meloxicam, and etodolac are considered as moderately COX-2 selective, while rofecoxib, valdecoxib, etoricoxib, and parecoxib have been categorized as highly COX-2 selective (33).

# **1.1.7 Mechanisms of Action of NSAIDs**

NSAIDs inhibit COX activity leading to a decrease in the production of prostanoids from arachidonic acid (35).

#### 1.1.7.1 Arachidonic Acid Cascade

Phospholipids, present in cell membranes, are metabolized to arachidonic acid by phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> (Figure 1-1) (36). COX converts arachidonic acid to PGG<sub>2</sub> and consequently to PGH<sub>2</sub> (37). Depending on the type of tissue and stimuli, PGH<sub>2</sub> is further converted by individual PG synthases to five major prostanoids: PGD<sub>2</sub>, PGE<sub>2</sub>, prostacyclin, PGF<sub>2α</sub>, and TXA<sub>2</sub> (36) which bind to specific receptors termed DP, EP, IP, FP, and TP, respectively (31)

# Phospholipids



Figure 1-1. Biosynthesis of prostaglandin (36).

#### 1.1.7.1.1 Thromboxane A<sub>2</sub>

TXA<sub>2</sub>, involved in platelet aggregation, vasoconstriction and bronchoconstriction (38), is formed by platelets, macrophages, and lung parenchyma (39). Since TXA<sub>2</sub> plays a role in some medical conditions such as asthma, myocardial ischemia, pulmonary hypertension, and thromboembolic disorders, many pharmaceutical companies have shown interest in developing TXA<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonists, TX synthase inhibitors and drugs having both action mechanisms (38).

#### 1.1.7.1.2 Prostaglandin I<sub>2</sub> (Prostacyclin)

Prostacyclin, produced by vascular endothelium, blocks platelet aggregation (31) and has a vasodilatory effect (31;40). While COX-1 produces basic levels of prostacyclin, over expression of prostacyclin is contributable to COX-2 activity under stress conditions (41).

Prostacyclin, along with  $TXA_2$ , is involved in regulation of renal blood flow (42). Nielsen et al. showed that infusion of prostacyclin, which is a potent vasodilator, elevated the renal blood flow in healthy subjects (43).

#### 1.1.7.1.3 Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>

 $PGE_2$ , the main prostaglandin produced in the brain, plays a role in synaptic plasticity, neurogenesis, and fever sensing and signaling (44). Many inflammatory conditions of brain are associated with higher levels of  $PGE_2$  (45).

PGE<sub>2</sub>, which is predominantly present in kidney tubules such as medullary collecting tubule, the cortical collecting tubule, and the thin limb of Henle's loop, can be expressed tenfold in response to exogenous compound (46). Infusion of various doses of

 $PGE_2$  increased urinary excretion of sodium and potassium in dogs (47). It also increased the secretion of renin from juxtaglomerular cells (48).

# 1.1.7.1.4 Prostaglandin D<sub>2</sub>

PGD<sub>2</sub> is the major prostanoids is produce by mast cells (49). PGD<sub>2</sub> plays a role in bronchoconstriction demonstrated in allergic asthma (50). This prostanoid and histamine are involved in activating and recruiting eosinophils to the site of inflammation (51). PGD<sub>2</sub> exert its effect through two receptors: DP1 ad DP2 which are different in respect to their origin, signaling pathway, and pattern of expression (52). Although DP2 activation is involved in inflammation process observed in allergy, DP1 stimulation leads to improvement in asthma (51).

# 1.1.7.1.5 Prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$

 $PGF_{2\alpha}$  is a smooth muscle contactor (53) that exert its effect by stimulating FP receptors. While  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  produced by COX-1 demonstrates its action in luteolysis, TXA<sub>2</sub> as well as  $PGF_{2\alpha}$ , induced by COX-2, are involved in the last stages of parturition (31).

# **1.1.8 Therapeutic Effects of NSAIDs**

NSAIDs exert their analgesic, and antipyretic, and anti-inflammatory effects by inhibition of COX (1). Inhibition of COX-1, within platelets, is a therapeutic goal to reduce the chance of thromboembolic events (10).

#### 1.1.8.1 Analgesic Effect

'Clinical pain' is a complex phenomenon involving peripheral and central sensitization (54). It has been shown that COX-2 is involved in peripheral inflammatory pain by

facilitating transmitter release and activation of prostanoid receptors in the spinal cord (55). The basal levels of COX-2 are present in brain and spinal cord. However, many stimuli elevate the expression of COX-2, and consequently PGE<sub>2</sub>, which depolarises the second-order neurons by opening a sodium ion channel. Moreover, PGE<sub>2</sub> facilitate release of neurotransmitter by binding to presynaptic EP1 receptors located on the primary afferent neurons (54). Furthermore, It has been shown that NSAIDs exert direct analgesic effect by activation of spinal glutamate and substance P receptors (56). The notion that non-selective NSAIDs and coxibs, but not selective COX-1 inhibitors, have analgesic effect, proves the role of COX-2 in pain signaling (54).

# 1.1.8.2 Antipyretic Effect

Elevated expression of some cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, interferon- $\alpha$  (IFN- $\alpha$ ), IFN- $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$ , as a result of infection or inflammation, increases the production of PGE<sub>2</sub> in brain and consequently stimulates the hypothalamus to increase body temperature. NSAIDs inhibit fever by suppression of PGE<sub>2</sub> synthesis (1).

It has been suggested that the antipyretic effect of acetaminophen is explained by inhibition of COX-3 (57). Since therapeutic doses of acetaminophen yield to steady-state concentrations of 100 micro molar ( $\mu$ M), the concentration for inhibition of COX-3, but not COX-1 and COX-2, the authors concluded that acetaminophen exerts its antipyretic effect via blockage of COX-3.

#### 1.1.8.3 Antithrombotic Effect

TXA<sub>2</sub>, adenosine diphosphate, and fibrinogen, which cause platelets aggregation, are the compounds released by platelets as a result of adherence of their glycoprotein IIb

receptors to a ruptured plaque (58). Aspirin exert its antithrombotic effect by irreversible inhibition of COX-1 (10) through acetylation of the hydroxyl group of serine residue (59).

Although COX-1 is inhibited by other NSAIDs, the inhibition is competitive, reversible, and incomplete (70 to 90%) at therapeutic levels. Since platelets have a significant capacity to produce TXA<sub>2</sub>, the level of inhibition by NSAIDs is not sufficient to obstruct platelet aggregation in vivo (60).

In 2001, Ouellet et al. (61) studied the effect of different NSAIDs, with different COX-1/COX-2 selectivity, on the extent of COX-1 inhibition by aspirin. They found that co-administration of NSAIDs with aspirin may alter the ability of aspirin to block COX-1 by competition over active site of COX-1. The compounds that had the lowest affinity for COX-1 (e.g. etoricoxib) had the lowest potency for interference with COX-1 inhibition. In contrast, diclofenac, which had the highest affinity to inhibit COX-1 among the tested NSAIDs, showed the maximum interference with the antagonism effect of aspirin on COX-1.

#### 1.1.8.4 Anti-inflammatory Effect

The characteristics of inflammation are swelling, redness, heat and pain mediated by an increase in vascular permeability (62). In this process, many cell types such as neutrophils, macrophages, mast cells, lymphocytes, platelets, dendritic cells, endothelial cells, and fibroblasts are recruited to the site of inflammation (63). Also, cytokines, produced by macrophages and lymphocytes, are released locally (62).

Although inflammation leads to recovery in many cases, it may cause tissue destruction (64). It is believed that the tissue damage observed in many diseases such as
multiple sclerosis, Alzheimer disease, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), systemic lupus erythematosus, and Hashimoto's thyroiditis is accompanied by inflammation (63). NSAIDs block production of COX products, mostly PGE<sub>2</sub>, and decrease the symptoms linked to arthritis (5). In addition to short term benefits such as reduction of the heat, redness, swelling, pain and damage to joints, bones and soft tissues, long-term use of NSAIDs has effect on neutrophil and lymphocyte functions (32).

## 1.1.9 Side Effects of NSAIDs

The use of NSAIDs is associated with two major side effects: renal and GI effects.

### 1.1.9.1 Renal Effects

The incidence of nephrotoxicity associated with the use of NSAIDs is estimated to be 1-5% of exposed patients (65). Acute renal failure (ARF), renal papillary necrosis (RPN), hyperkalemia, and sodium retention with hypertension or edema are the four major renal syndromes related to the use of NSAIDs (66).

### 1.1.9.1.1 Urinary System

The urinary system is composed of two kidneys, two ureters, the urinary bladder, and the urethra (67). The kidneys have a bean-shape structure and lie on the posterior wall of the abdomen behind the peritoneum on each side of the vertebral column (68). Each kidney is divided into three regions: the cortex, the medulla, and the renal pelvis (67). In addition to removal of waste products, the kidneys are involved in regulation of plasma volume, osmolarity, hydrogen, and ions including sodium, potassium, calcium, magnesium, chloride, bicarbonate, and phosphate (67). Each kidney has approximately 1.3 million nephrons (Figure 1-2) (69). Each nephron consists of the renal corpuscle, including

Bowman's capsule and glomerulus, and a tubule (67). Via afferent arteriole, the blood is filtrated through the renal corpuscle into the tubule, which consists of the proximal convoluted tubule, the loop of Henle, the distal convoluted tubule, and collecting ducts (69). The remaining blood leaves the glomerulus through efferent arteriole and form a set of capillaries that supply the blood to the tubule (67). The glomerular filtrate passes the tube and forms the urine. The composition of the glomerular filtrate may change by removal of water and substance, tubular reabsorption, from the filtrate or secretion of substances into the filtrate, tubular secretion (69).



Figure 1-2. Structure of a nephron (68).

### 1.1.9.1.1.1 Sodium Balance

Although a large amount of sodium is filtered by nephron, 96-99% of the ion reabsorbs along renal tubule (69). Na-K-ATPase pumps, positioned in the basolateral membrane of the renal tubular epithelial cells, actively transport sodium from cell to interstitial tissue (68). Aldosterone released from the adrenal cortex increases the reabsorption of sodium by stimulating the synthesis of Na-K-ATPase pumps (67). The secretion of renin stimulates the release of aldosterone by activation of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (67).

### 1.1.9.1.1.2 Potassium Balance

Potassium undergoes reabsorption in the proximal tubules and secretion in the late distal tubules and collecting ducts (67;69). Aldosterone regulates the secretion of potassium by increasing the number of Na-K-ATPase pumps and potassium channels located in the late distal tubules and collecting ducts (67).

### 1.1.9.1.2 Acute Renal Failure

The development of ARF is reported to occur in patients at risk such as those with underlying volume depletion, renal insufficiency, congestive heart failure, diabetes, nephrosis, cirrhosis and old age (70). However, the higher risks ARF in elderly patients are suggested to be contributed to the concomitant diseases (34). ARF is diagnosed by the elevated values of blood urea nitrogen (BUN), creatinine, potassium, and body weight (71). Two different mechanisms could be responsible for the ARF associated with the use of NSAIDs: (1) interstitial nephritis (2) a decrease in renal blood flow due to inhibition of production of vasodilator PGs (72). The side effect appears to be exposure-dependent. It has been shown that administration of NSAIDs with longer half-life increases the chance of renal impairment in elderly subjects (73). In another study, the higher doses of ibuprofen were associated with the higher degrees of renal dysfunction (71).

ARF associated with the use of diclofenac in two women is documented by Rossi et al. (74). Although one of the subjects had underlying diseases, no risk factor was reported in other subjects. Nevertheless, the renal function was improved in both cases when diclofenac was discontinued. Literature contains various reports indicating the ARF associated with the use of other NSAIDs such as ketorolac (75), indomethacin (76), naproxen (77), and ibuprofen (78). There are reports showing that the use of COX-2-selective inhibitors increases the chance of ARF. Graham (79) reported a case of ARF in a 57-year-old woman diagnosed with osteoporosis. ARF occurred when the dose of celecoxib was increased from 200 milligram (mg)/day to 400 mg/day. The levels of creatinine and BUN and blood pressure were increased. Also, the presence of edema was evident in the subject. Renal function became normal when celecoxib was stopped. In addition, ARF caused by rofecoxib is reported in a 49-year-old patient who had undergone renal transplantation (80), 23-year-old healthy woman (81), and 71-year-old woman (82). A case of ARF induced by valdecoxib is reported by Muhlfeld et al. (83).

### 1.1.9.1.3 Renal Papillary Necrosis

The mechanism of RPN induced by NSAIDs is explained by Kovacevic et al. (84). Under normal conditions, the vasoconstriction induced by angiotensin II, norepinephrine, and vasopressin, due to hypovolaemia, is neutralized by vasodilatory effect of renal PGs. Administration of NSAIDs, decreases the renal blood flow to the inner medulla, which is normally hypoxemic compared to the cortex. This could result in RPN. Traditional NSAIDs such as ibuprofen (85), aspirin (86), naproxen (84), flurbiprofen (87), and indomethacin (88) are reported to produce RPN. However, the use of COX-2-selective inhibitors is associated with RPN as well. Akhund et al. (89) have reported a case of RPN related to celecoxib therapy in a 61-year-old woman diagnosed with RA. Hematuria and intermittent right flank pain due to RPN was stopped after discontinuation of celecoxib.

## 1.1.9.1.4 Hyperkalemia

PGI<sub>2</sub> stimulates the juxtaglomerular cells in the kidney to release renin (90). This leads to the secretion of aldosterone, which increases the potassium excretion (34). Therefore, the inhibition of PGI<sub>2</sub> production by NSAIDs may result in hyperkalemia (90). The presence of hyperkalemia caused by NSAIDs is more evident in patients who have underlying diseases such as renal dysfunction, cardiac failure, diabetes, or multiple myeloma or take potassium supplements, sparing diuretics, or angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (65).

Alva and Kotian (91) have reported a case of hyperkalemia in a fifty year old male who was taking diclofenac for sixteen days. Hyperkalemia's presence was confirmed with bradycardia, hypotension, and electrocardiography and biochemical changes. Although many other NSAIDs such as naproxen (92), ibuprofen (93), and piroxicam (94) cause hyperkalemia, indomethacin is the major NSAIDs related to hyperkalemia, even in healthy subjects (65). This could be due to the direct effect of indomethacin on potassium uptake. Like traditional NSAIDs, COX-2-selective inhibitors may increase the risk of hyperkalemia in patients at risk (66).

### 1.1.9.1.5 Sodium Retention

The most frequent renal side effect of NSAIDs is sodium retention (65). It has been estimated that 25% of NSAIDs user may develop sodium retention (95) which may lead to edema and gain weight (96). Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the effect of NSAIDs on sodium excretion. The reabsorption of sodium at the thick ascending limb of the loop of Henle is reduced by PGE<sub>2</sub> (34) through inhibitory effect on Na-K-2Cl cotransporter activity (97). NSAIDs decrease the production of PGE<sub>2</sub> which leads to an increases in the expression of Na-K-2Cl cotransporter (98). Also, a reduction in glomerular filtration rate (GFR) caused by NSAIDs may limit sodium excretion by kidney (66). In addition, a change in blood flow due to inhibition of prostacyclin production has a major effect on sodium excretion (99). It has been shown that the decrease in GFR caused by NSAIDs is related to inhibition of COX-1, while sodium excretion reduction is due to inhibition of COX-2 (100;101).

COX-2-selective inhibitors show similar side effects to traditional NSAIDs in terms of sodium excretion reduction (102). To compare the renal effects of rofecoxib and indomethacin, 15 patients 60 to 80 years of age in a randomized, three-period, singledose crossover study were administered 250 mg rofecoxib, 75 mg indomethacin, or placebo (103). Sodium excretion was significantly less in rofecoxib and indomethacin groups compared to placebo.

A randomized double-blind study was conducted to assess renal function after administration of celecoxib, 200 mg twice a day; celecoxib, 400 mg twice a day; naproxen, 500 mg twice a day; or placebo for 7 days in healthy subjects restricted to salt

23

consumption (104). Celecoxib decreased sodium and potassium excretion similar to those of naproxen in subjects.

In a randomized, double blinded trial, 36 healthy older adults received rofecoxib (50 mg every day), indomethacin (50 mg three times a day), or placebo for 2 weeks (101). A transient reduction in sodium was observed in the rofecoxib and indomethacin groups.

A randomized, double blinded, crossover study was carried out to compare the renal effects of rofecoxib and celecoxib, and naproxen in 67 healthy elderly subjects on a sodium-replete diet (96). Subjects received daily 25 mg rofecoxib, 400 mg celecoxib, 1000 mg naproxen, or placebo for 28 days. Rofecoxib, celecoxib, and naproxen decreased sodium excretion by 17, 24, and 31%, respectively.

## 1.1.9.1.5.1 Cardiovascular Events Associated with the Use of NSAIDs

Literature contains conflicting evidences with respect to the cardiovascular effects of selective COX-2 inhibitors. The result of Vioxx Gastrointestinal Outcomes Research (VIGOR) study showed that the use of rofecoxib was associated with the higher rate of myocardial infarction (MI) compared with that of naproxen (105). Since the results of the Adenomatous Polyp Prevention on Vioxx (APPROVe) trial (106) revealed that the chance of cardiovascular events increased among subjects who took rofecoxib more than 18 months, Merck & Co., Inc. withdrew its product, rofecoxib, from the market in 2004 (33). Moreover, a population-based retrospective cohort study among subjects aged 66 years and older was carried out to evaluate the influence of various NSAIDs on the risk for a first MI (107). Increased risk for MI was compared with those who had not used an NSAID. The results of study showed that patient who took low and high doses of

rofecoxib had higher odds of myocardial infarction. Co-administration of aspirin decreased the risk in patients who took lower doses of rofecoxib. This had been predicted earlier (33). The higher risks of rofecoxib for MI were contributed to the higher selectivity of rofecoxib for inhibition of COX-2. However, the results of Therapeutic Arthritis Research and Gastrointestinal Event Trial (TARGET), which assessed the gastrointestinal and cardiovascular safety of the COX-2 inhibitor lumiracoxib compared with two nonselective NSAIDs, naproxen and ibuprofen, among 18,325 patients age 50 years or older, did not reveal any significant differences between the lumiracoxib users and people who took ibuprofen or naproxen with respect to MI (108). It is of note that the COX-2-COX-1 selectivity ratio for lumiracoxib is 515 (109) as compared to 77 (3) and 1.42 (3) for rofecoxib and celecoxib, respectively, using the IC<sub>50</sub> values obtained by WBA.

Some studies have proposed the mechanisms involved in cardiovascular events associated with the coxibs usage. COX-1 is present in platelet, whereas COX-2 is dominant form of COX enzyme in endothelial cells. TXA<sub>2</sub> and prostacyclin are the products of COX enzyme in platelet and endothelial cells, respectively (110). Since nonselective NSAIDs inhibit both TXA<sub>2</sub> and prostacyclin, the balance of TXA<sub>2</sub>/PGI<sub>2</sub> does not change. In contrast, coxibs do not affect production of TXA<sup>2</sup> in platelets. Therefore, TXA<sub>2</sub>/PGI<sub>2</sub> ratio is more toward prothrombotic event (111).

Davies and Jamali (33) have suggested that the physiochemical properties and pharmacokinetic parameters of rofecoxib may be involved in cardiovascular events associated with the drug.

25

It may be also possible that the cardiovascular events are explained by the renal dysfunction, particularly reduced sodium excretion, related to the use of NSAIDs. The selective inhibitors may increase sodium retention (34) and consequently blood pressure (112). The link between urinary sodium excretion and MI in 2937 mildly and moderately hypertensive patients has been reported by Alderman et al. (113) Since the side effects of other NSAIDs have not been studied in the long term studies such as APPROVe, caution should be taken in use of NSAIDs (33).

### **1.1.9.2 Gastrointestinal Effects of NSAIDs**

The use of NSAIDs has been limited due to their GI toxicity (114). It has been reported that the 4-week incidence rate of gastric and duodenal ulcers among people who took NSAIDs to be 8 and 4%, respectively (115). The use of NSAIDs is associated with the upper GI events such as dyspepsia, heartburn, nausea and vomiting (116). High rates of prevalence of dyspepsia (19% of those with normal endoscopy and in 9% of those with abnormal endoscopic findings) was observed in arthritic patients who took NSAIDs for more than six weeks (117). Some large prospective outcome studies have reported the rate of serious upper GI complications such as major bleeding, perforation, and obstruction among arthritic patients who take NSAIDs to be 1-1.5% (114).

Two major mechanisms have been proposed to explain the GI toxicity of NSAIDs. It could be the result of local irritation and/or through inhibition of PGs (118). Most NSAIDs are week acids and exist in nonionized form in acidic pH of stomach. Therefore, they pass the cell membrane due to their lipophilic character. Since the pH of the cells in inside is different from that of outside, NSAIDs are ionized and trapped in the cells and consequently exert their toxicity (119). Since PGs are involved in secretion of mucosal bicarbonate and mucus and maintaining mucosal blood flow of GI, inhibition of PGs by NSAIDs may lead to injury (120). It has been shown that the toxicity of NSAIDs is time and dose dependent. Using permeability test, as a marker of GI toxicity, Davies et al. reported that the elevated permeability of intestine lasted 12 and 36 h following administration of 10 and 20 mg/kg, respectively, indomethacin to rats (121). The GI permeability was higher in the rats treated with 20 mg/kilogram (kg) compared with those of 10 mg/kg. The doses more than 20 mg/kg resulted in massive bleeding, ulceration, and death.

In order to decrease the GI toxicity of NSAIDs, the modified formulations of NSAIDs have been developed (122). For instance, a new enteric-coated formulation of naproxen decreased drug related GI complaints in arthritic patients, while two formulation revealed the equal efficacy (123). However, administration of the modified formulation may increase the toxicity by shifting the release site to the lower parts of intestine, where monitoring of GI tract is more difficult to perform (122;124).

The notion that coxibs do not inhibit COX-1, which protects GI from injury by production of PGs (2), provided a basis for the development of coxibs with less GI toxicity. It has been accepted that coxibs generally provide more GI tolerability over traditional NSAIDs (125). In one study, 8059 arthritic patients were treated with celecoxib, 400 mg twice per day, ibuprofen, 800 mg 3 times per day, or diclofenac, 75 mg twice per day (126). The results of six months of trial revealed that the rate of GI events was lower in patients who took celecoxib compared with other NSAIDs. Of note, celecoxib lost its advantage over diclofenac and ibuprofen when the trial continued for 12 or 15 months (127). In other study, rofecoxib, 50 mg daily, showed less GI toxicity than

27

naproxen, 500 mg twice daily, in arthritic patient who were older than 50 years (105). The number of GI events was more than two-fold higher in naproxen group.

## 1.1.10 Diclofenac

The chemical structure of diclofenac, 2-[(2,6-dichlorophenyl) amino] benzene acetic acid, is depicted in Figure 1-3. Diclofenac is a faintly yellowish white to light beige, virtually odorless, slightly hygroscopic crystalline powder that is available as sodium or potassium salt (128). Since diclofenac is poorly soluble in water and has a high partition coefficient, it more used as sodium or potassium form (129). Diclofenac sodium is sparingly soluble in water and has a log P (partition coefficient) value of 13.4 at pH 7.4 (130). The partition coefficient value of diclofenac potassium which is soluble in water is calculated to be 15.45 at pH 5.2 (130).





Diclofenac sodium is used in symptomatic treatment of RA, osteoarthritis, and ankylosing spondylitis in the United States (1). The recommended dose in the treatment of RA is 75-150 mg/day in divided doses. It is recommended that osteoarthritic patients take 75 mg/day dose that can be increased to 150 mg (131).

### 1.1.10.1 Pharmacokinetics of Diclofenac in the Rat

Diclofenac sodium is rapidly absorbed (132). The time to reach peak plasma level  $(t_{max})$ is reported to be 10 minutes (min) and the half-life  $(t_{1/2})$  of the drug is 16 h. Since the area under the plasma concentration-time curve (AUC) and peak plasma level ( $C_{max}$ ) of diclofenac sodium increased proportionally when the dose was increased, Torres-Lopez et al. were able to report a linear pharmacokinetics after administration of 3 doses, 1, 3.2, or 10 mg/kg, to rats (132). Following oral administration of diclofenac, 3 mg/kg, to rats, the mean apparent clearance (CL) was calculated to be 1.3 L/h/kg (133). In the rat, biliary is the major root of excretion (134). Conjugates of the hydroxylated metabolites and the ester glucuronide of unchanged diclofenac are the major metabolites in the urine and bile of rats, respectively (135). In the bile, glucuronide conjugates of diclofenac sodium easily revert to the drug by alkaline hydrolysis (134). Glucuronidation take places by UGT2B1 in rat (136). The mechanisms of hepatotoxicity caused by diclofenac have been studied by Kretz-Rommel and Boelsterli (137) using inhibitors of UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) or CYP2C subfamily. They have suggested that the acute liver cell injury is attributed to the formation of toxic metabolite(s) catalyzed by CYP2C. On the other hand, hepatitis may be caused by reactive metabolites formed by *UDPGT*.

### 1.1.10.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Diclofenac

Diclofenac shows linear pharmacokinetics in doses of 25 to 150 mg in human (138). Although diclofenac is highly absorbed through the GI tract, the bioavailability of drug is about 60%, mostly attributable to first-pass metabolism (139). Food delays the absorption of drug (139). The  $t_{max}$  of drug, following a single oral dose of 50 mg, was 1.0 to 4.5 h (140). The volume of distribution (V<sub>d</sub>) is reported to be 0.12 to 0.17 liter (L)/kg (141). More than 99.7% of drug is bound to albumin in plasma (134). Diclofenac has a short t<sub>1/2</sub> of 1.2-3.5 h (138). The CL of drug was 236 mL/min, following intravenous administration of a solution containing 50 mg diclofenac sodium to young subjects (140). Diclofenac is metabolized by cytochrome P450s (CYPs) and UGTs enzymes. Glucuronidation occurs by UGT2B7 in human (136). Administration of diclofenac to healthy subjects 8-day pre-treated with digoxin increased the plasma concentrations of digoxin (138). Therefore, the blood levels of digoxin should be monitored in case of co-administration with diclofenac.

## 1.1.11 Flurbiprofen

Flurbiprofen, ( $\pm$ )-2-(2-fluoro-4 biphenylyl) propionic acid (Figure 1-4), is a member of propionic acid family (130). It is slightly soluble in water at pH 7.0 and readily soluble in most polar solvents and available as a white or slightly yellow crystalline powder (128). The log P value of flurbiprofen is reported to be 4.16 (142). Flurbiprofen is indicated for use in RA, degenerative joint disease, and ankylosing spondylitis (143). The recommended dose in the treatment of RA, osteoarthritis, and ankylosing spondylitis is 200 mg/day in divided doses. The maximum daily dosage is 300 mg/day (131).



Figure 1-4. Chemical structure of flurbiprofen.

### 1.1.11.1 Pharmacokinetics of Flurbiprofen in the Rat

While a portion of flurbiprofen absorbs through the stomach, the absorption is complete and fast from small intestine of rats (144). The unbound fraction (fu) of drug is reported to be less than 0.5% (144).

Flurbiprofen presents in two enantiomeric, S and R, forms (130). Most of antiinflammatory effect of drug is attributed to the S-enantiomer (145). Jamali et al. (146) who administered R-enantiomer to the rat and human subjects, observed two enantiomers in plasma and urine of rats, but not human. This suggested that R-enantiomer is bioinverted to S-enantiomer in the rat, while this inversion is negligible in human. Following intravenous administration of racemic flurbiprofen, 20 mg/kg to rats, the CL of R-enantiomer was higher than S-enantiomer,  $2.34 \pm 0.05$  versus  $0.90 \pm 0.06$  mL/min/kg, respectively (147). Terminal  $t_{1/2}$  of R-enantiomer was not significantly different from that of S-enantiomer,  $2.55 \pm 0.79$  versus  $3.07 \pm 1.21$  h, respectively. Also, no significant difference was found when the V<sub>d</sub> of R and S-enantiomer was compared,  $0.32 \pm 0.02$ versus  $0.22 \pm 0.02$  L/kg, respectively.

Six metabolites have been detected in rats. 2-(2-fluoro-4'-hydroxy-4biphenylyl)propionic acid, 2-(i-fluoro-3',4'-dihydroxy-4-biphenylyl)propionic acid, and 2-(2-fluoro-3'-hydroxy-4'-methoxy-4-biphenylyl)propionic acid are the three major metabolites of drug. The renal root is the major basis of excretion.

#### **1.1.11.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Flurbiprofen**

Flurbiprofen has a short elimination  $t_{1/2}$  (3-6 hours) and rapid and complete absorption. It follows a linear pharmacokinetics at therapeutic doses (148). The fu of flurbiprofen in human serum is 0.022% (149). After administration of 100 mg racemic flurbiprofen to

the healthy fasted subjects, The R-enantiomer demonstrated a larger  $V_d$ , 8.41 ± 3.0 versus 7.23 ± 1.9 L, and CL,  $1.47 \pm 0.5$  versus  $1.23 \pm 0.34$  L/h, when compared with Senantiomer. However, no significant difference was observed when the  $t_{1/2}$  of enantiomers was compared,  $4.18 \pm 1.3$  versus  $4.2 \pm 1.2$  h for R and S-enantiomers, respectively (146). Glucuronidation is the major pathway in metabolism of drug (148). Unchanged form and metabolites are mainly excreted by kidney (139). Since the binding site of flurbiprofen to albumin is different from that of warfarin, no significant interaction is reported between these two drugs (148).

## 1.1.12 Rofecoxib

Rofecoxib, 4-[4-(methylsulfonyl)phenyl]-3-phenyl-2(5H)-furanone (Figure 1-5) (128), is a white to off-white to light yellow powder possessing melting point of 204-208 °C (150). It is sparingly soluble in acetone, slightly soluble in methanol and isopropyl acetate, very slightly soluble in ethanol, practically insoluble in octanol, and insoluble in water (128) (128). The log P value for rofecoxib is calculated to be 1.635 (150).





Rofecoxib is advocated in the treatment of the signs and symptoms of osteoarthritis and RA and relief of pain (150). The recommended starting daily dose in

treatment of the osteoarthritis is 12.5 mg, which may be increased to 25 mg once a daily (131). The recommended daily dose in treatment of RA is reported to be 25 mg (96). The recommended initial daily dose in relief of acute pain is 50 mg, but this dose should be limited to a short period (131). In September 2004, Merck & Co., Inc voluntarily pulled out the drug from market because of the increased risk of cardiovascular events (151).

### 1.1.12.1 Pharmacokinetics of Rofecoxib in the Rat

Halpin and at el. (152), who administered intravenous and oral doses of rofecoxib to rats, reported that rofecoxib showed a high and rapid absorption at examined oral doses. The  $t_{1/2}$  of drug ranged from 4 to 6 hours. Although AUC was increased proportional to administered intravenous doses, this relationship was not linear after oral doses. Increasing the dose from 5 to 10 mg/kg did not yield to an increase in AUC, suggesting of the low solubility of drug at higher doses. The fu value of the drug was 7%. Following oral administration of rofecoxib, 5 mg/kg, to two rats, the oral CL was reported to be between 29 and 34 mL/min/kg (153). The mean  $V_d$  of drug was 6.2 L/kg.

The drug is mainly metabolized in the liver (152). The major metabolite is identified as 5-hydroxyrofecoxib-O- $\beta$ -D-glucuronide. Baillie et al. (154) have observed a secondary plasma concentration peak following administration of rofecoxib indicating enterohepatic recirculation of drug. Following intravenous administration of radiolabeled rofecoxib, radioactivity was observed in many tissues in 5 minutes (152). The concentration of drug was 2-fold higher in kidney compared to that of plasma at 5 and 30 minutes and 2 and 24 h post-dose.

### 1.1.12.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Rofecoxib

Rofecoxib is well absorbed through the human gastrointestinal tract (150). The apparent  $V_d$  and CL of drug are reported to be 86 L and 7.3 L/h, respectively, following a 25 mg oral dose (155). Following administration of 12.5 mg rofecoxib to healthy subjects, the  $C_{max}$  and the  $t_{max}$  were  $147 \pm 34 \mu g/L$  and  $2.4 \pm 1.0$ , respectively. The  $t_{1/2}$  of drug was calculated to be  $9.0 \pm 2.7$  h (156). Depre et al. (157) who administered single and multiple doses of 25, 100, 250, or 375 mg rofecoxib to 31 healthy human subjects, observed linear kinetics within the 25 to 100 mg dosage range. For doses more that 100 mg, the relationship between dose and AUC was not linear that was speculated to be due the low solubility of drug in aqueous media. Rofecoxib is highly bound to the plasma proteins 87% (150) and mainly metabolized by cytosolic enzymes to the cis-dihydro and trans-dihydro derivatives (158). CYP plays a minor role in metabolism of rofecoxib (150).

Rofecoxib did not have any effect on pharmacokinetics of methotrexate in the patient diagnosed with RA (159). The effect of different doses of rofecoxib on the pharmacokinetics of warfarin was studied by Schwartz et al. (160). They observed no change in the pharmacokinetics of active enantiomer, S(-) warfarin. However, rofecoxib increased the AUC of less active enantiomer, R(+) warfarin. It has been shown that R(+) warfarin, but not S(-) warfarin, is metabolized by CYP1A2. Since Rofecoxib inhibited CYP1A2, they suggested that elevated concentrations of R(+) warfarin was attributed to inhibition of enzyme. Rofecoxib did not influence the pharmacokinetics digoxin (161) or prednisone (162) in healthy subjects.

### 1.1.13 Celecoxib

Celecoxib, 4-[5-(4-methylphenyl)-3-(trifluoromethyl)-1H-pyrazol-1-yl]

benzenesulfonamide (Figure 1-6), is a diaryl-substituted pyrazole with a molecular weight of 381.38 (128). The log P value of celecoxib is reported to be 3.68, indicating high affinity of drug for hydrophobic environments (163).



Figure 1-6. Chemical structure of celecoxib.

Celecoxib is indicated for relief of the signs and symptoms of osteoarthritis and RA in adult. At equivalent therapeutic doses, naproxen and ibuprofen have shown more efficacy than celecoxib in relief of dental pain (164). The recommended daily dose of celecoxib to relief osteoarthritis is 200 mg/day. The recommended daily dose of celecoxib for the relief of RA is 100 mg twice a day that may be increased to 200 mg twice a day (131).

## 1.1.13.1 Pharmacokinetics of Celecoxib in the Rat

After oral administration of celecoxib, 5 mg/kg, to the normal rats, the  $t_{1/2}$  of drug was reported to be  $3.1 \pm 0.8$  h (165). Celecoxib had a large V<sub>d</sub> ( $5.5 \pm 0.5$  L/kg) and low extraction ratio. The CL of drug was  $10 \pm 1.7$  mL/min/kg. The AUC of drug after

intravenous, intraperitoneal, and oral administration of drug is reported to be  $9.3 \pm 1.8$ ,  $6.6 \pm 1.7$ , and,  $4.6 \pm 2.2 \mu$ .h/mL, respectively. The involvement of first pass CL was confirmed by lower values of AUC after intraperitoneal and oral administration compared with intravenous. Given that the difference between the AUC of intraperitoneal and oral administration was not significant, the authors were not confident if gut had any effect on metabolism of drug. Although the binding of celecoxib to plasma proteins is reported to be linear over the concentration range of 0.1 to 3.0  $\mu$ g/mL, the binding was decreased at 10  $\mu$ g/mL due to the saturation of protein binding sites (166).

Paulson et al. (167) have reported a gender difference in the pharmacokinetics of celecoxib. Intravenous administration of celecoxib resulted in a shorter  $t_{1/2}$ , higher CL, and lower AUC in males as compared with females. This can be explained with the sexspecific expression of rat *CYP2C* and *CYP3A* genes.

### 1.1.13.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Celecoxib

Paulson et al. (168) have categorized celecoxib as a drug with low solubility and high permeability. Therefore, it is expected that administration of drug with food improve the systemic availability of drug as a consequence of delaying in gastric empting. However, the 10% increase in AUC of drug observed in fed conditions was not considered to be clinically significant. They suggested that celecoxib could be absorbed through out the human GI tract. This would allow celecoxib to achieve complete absorption even in fasted conditions. Linear pharmacokinetics of celecoxib, within the range of 100 to **8**00 mg, was reported by McAdam et al. (169). Celecoxib is highly bound to the plasma proteins (170). The elimination  $t_{1/2}$  of drug is reported to be between 11.2-15.6 h. Following oral administration of celecoxib, the apparent V<sub>d</sub> and CL of drug are reported

36

to be 400 L and 30 L/h, respectively (170). Celecoxib is extensively metabolized. The first step in metabolism of celecoxib is hydroxylation of methyl group. Then, hydroxyl group is changed to carboxylic acid group. This moiety is a substrate for conjugation with glucuronide. Only 2.5% of drug is excreted unchanged (171).

The kinetics of methotrexate was not influenced when celecoxib was coadministered in patients with RA (172).

It is shown that celecoxib increases the international normalized ratio in a patient who received celecoxib along with warfarin, indicating elevation in anticoagulant effects of warfarin (173). However, Karim et al. (174) did not detect any significant change in pharmacokinetics of warfarin and prothrombin times of healthy patient who were on celecoxib and warfarin.

## 1.1.14 Meloxicam

Meloxicam, 4-hydroxy-2-methyl-N-(5-methyl-2-thiazolyl)-2H-1,2-benzothiazine-3carboxamide 1,1-dioxide (Figure 1-7), is a pastel yellow solid, practically insoluble in water (128). Meloxicam is present as an anion in the pH more than 4 and a zwitterion in the pH range 1 to 4 (175). The log P of meloxicam is reported to be 0.1 at pH 7.4 (128).



Figure 1-7. Chemical structure of meloxicam.

Meloxicam is used in treatment of RA, osteoarthritis, and ankylosing spondylitis (175). The usual recommended dosage of meloxicam for treatment of osteoarthritis is 7.5, which can be increased to 30 mg/day. 15 mg/day is taken by patients to relief the signs of RA (131).

### 1.1.14.1 Pharmacokinetics of Meloxicam in the Rat

The oral absorption and protein binding of meloxicam are reported to be 95 and 99%, respectively (176). After intravenous administration of meloxicam to rats, some gender-specific differences in pharmacokinetic parameters of drug were found. Elimination  $t_{1/2}$  was 13.4 hr and 36.8 h for male and female rats, respectively. The female AUC<sub>0-∞</sub> values were three times higher than those of males. The CL values were 0.015 L/hr/kg and 0.005 L/hr/kg for male and female rats, respectively. This can be explained by the metabolic pathway of meloxicam. 5'-hydroxymethyl derivative and a 5'-carboxy derivative are the major metabolites of meloxicam in rat and human (177). While CYP2C9 is the enzyme which largely produces 5'-hydroxymethyl derivative in human, *CYP2C7* and *CYP2C11* are two enzymes which perform the same function in the rat (176). The lack of *CYP2C11* in female rats may explain sex-specific differences in meloxicam pharmacokinetics. The steady-state volume of distribution ( $V_{ss}$ ) of the male rats was not significantly different from that of the female rats, 0.257 versus 0.244 L/kg, respectively (176).

## 1.1.14.2 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Meloxicam

Bioavailability of meloxicam after oral dose was 89% (175). Linear kinetics were observed after oral administration of 7.5-30 mg meloxicam to healthy subjects (178). The  $V_{ss}$  of meloxicam following intravenous dose was 0.2 L/kg (179). The elimination  $t_{1/2}$  and

CL of drug are reported to be 20 h and 7-8 ml/min, respectively. Meloxicam is strongly bound to plasma protein (99.1-99.7%) (179). In addition to CYP2C9, which plays the major role, CYP3A4 is involved in the metabolism of meloxicam in human (180). DS-AC 2 SE, AF-UH, UH-AC 110 SE, and BI-BO 8032 NA are 4 inactive metabolites of meloxicam that are produced by oxidation of the 5-methyl moiety of thiazolyl ring or oxidative cleavage of the benzothiazine ring (175).

Co-administration of meloxicam with cimetidine, antacid, aspirin, betaacetyldigoxin, methotrexate, warfarin or forusemide has not revealed any significant interaction (181).

## **1.2 Thesis Rationale**

The use of traditional NSAIDs has been associated with the renal side effects such as ARF, RPN, hyperkalemia, and sodium retention (66). Although the development of coxibs have introduced the NSAIDs with less GI side effects to the market (125), there is no evidence to support the notion that coxibs have fewer renal effects (66). The degree of renal dysfunction associated with the use of NSAIDs may be correlated to the COX-2/COX-1 selectivity or pharmacokinetic parameters of NSAIDs.

It has been shown that patients with RA develop glomerular dysfunction characterizes by a reduction in GFR and creatinine CL throughout the disease course (182). Since selective COX-2 inhibitors are used by many arthritic patients to reduce pain and inflammation, patients may be more susceptible to kidney dysfunction induced by NSAIDs. Furthermore, inflammation is reported to alter pharmacokinetics of many drugs cleared by the liver (165). The effect of inflammation on CL of drugs is attributed to elevation of plasma protein binding or reduction in intrinsic hepatic metabolism (183). Therefore, inflammation may change the pharmacokinetic profile of NSAIDs taken by arthritic patients.

# **1.3 Hypotheses**

- 1. COX-2-selective inhibitors have renal side effects similar to the traditional NSAIDs.
- 2. COX-2/COX-1 selectivity is related to the degree of renal dysfunction associated with the use of selective COX-2 inhibitors.
- 3. The extent of renal side effect produced by selective COX-2 inhibitors is linked to the accumulation of drug in the kidney.
- 4. There is an association between pharmacokinetics and the extent of renal dysfunction.
- 5. Inflammation changes the kidney function.
- 6. Inflammation influences the pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib.
- 7. The distribution of drug into kidney is altered by inflammation.

## **1.4 Objectives**

- 1. To evaluate the renal effects of selective COX-2 inhibitors.
- To evaluate the correlation between renal dysfunction associated with selective COX 2 inhibitors and COX-2/COX-1 selectivity or degree of renal accumulation.
- 3. To evaluate the effect of inflammation on kidney function.
- To evaluate the consequences of inflammation on Pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib and meloxicam.
- 5. To evaluate the degree of drug distributing into the kidney in presence or absence of inflammation.

# **1.5 References**

- (1) Roberts LJ, Morrow JD. Analgesic-Antipyretic and Antiinflammatory Agents and Drugs Employed in the Treatment of Gout. In: Hardman JG, Limbird LE, editors. Goodman & Gilman's The Pharmacologic Basis of Therapeutics. 10<sup>th</sup> ed. McGRAW-HILL; 2001.
- (2) Wagner W, Khanna P, Furst DE. Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs, Disease-Modifying Antirheumatic Drugs, Nonopioid Analgesics, & Drugs Used in Gout. In: Katzung BG, editor. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology. 9<sup>th</sup> ed. McGraw-Hill; 2003.
- (3) Warner TD, Giuliano F, Vojnovic I, Bukasa A, Mitchell JA, Vane JR. Nonsteroid drug selectivities for cyclo-oxygenase-1 rather than cyclooxygenase-2 are associated with human gastrointestinal toxicity: a full in vitro analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96(13):7563-8.
- (4) Bleumink GS, Feenstra J, Sturkenboom MC, Stricker BH. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and heart failure. Drugs 2003; 63(6):525-34.
- (5) Warner TD, Mitchell JA. Cyclooxygenases: new forms, new inhibitors, and lessons from the clinic. FASEB J 2004; 18(7):790-804.
- (6) Vane JR, Botting RM. The mechanism of action of aspirin. Thromb Res 2003; 110(5-6):255-8.
- (7) Shibata M, Kodani I, Osaki M, Araki K, Adachi H, Ryoke K et al. Cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 expression in human oral mucosa, dysplasias and squamous cell carcinomas and their pathological significance. Oral Oncol 2005; 41(3):304-12.
- (8) Crofford LJ. COX-1 and COX-2 tissue expression: implications and predictions. J Rheumatol Suppl 1997; 49:15-9.
- (9) Wu KK. Inducible cyclooxygenase and nitric oxide synthase. Adv Pharmacol 1995; 33:179-207.
- (10) Vane JR, Bakhle YS, Botting RM. Cyclooxygenases 1 and 2. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1998; 38:97-120.
- (11) Hoffmann C. COX-2 in brain and spinal cord implications for therapeutic use. Curr Med Chem 2000; 7(11):1113-20.
- (12) Porcher C, Horowitz B, Bayguinov O, Ward SM, Sanders KM. Constitutive expression and function of cyclooxygenase-2 in murine gastric muscles. Gastroenterology 2002; 122(5):1442-54.
- (13) Porcher C, Horowitz B, Ward SM, Sanders KM. Constitutive and functional expression of cyclooxygenase 2 in the murine proximal colon. Neurogastroenterol Motil 2004; 16(6):785-99.
- (14) Adegboyega PA, Ololade O. Immunohistochemical expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in normal kidneys. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 2004; 12(1):71-4.
- (15) Chandrasekharan NV, Dai H, Roos KL, Evanson NK, Tomsik J, Elton TS et al. COX-3, a cyclooxygenase-1 variant inhibited by acetaminophen and other analgesic/antipyretic drugs: cloning, structure, and expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99(21):13926-31.

- (16) Martel-Pelletier J, Pelletier JP, Fahmi H. New insights into prostaglandin biology. J Rheumatol 2004; 31(1):14-6.
- (17) Kis B, Snipes A, Bari F, Busija DW. Regional distribution of cyclooxygenase-3 mRNA in the rat central nervous system. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 2004; 126(1):78-80.
- (18) Dinchuk JE, Liu RQ, Trzaskos JM. COX-3: in the wrong frame in mind. Immunol Lett 2003; 86(1):121.
- (19) Hawkey CJ. COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitors. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2001; 15(5):801-20.
- (20) Parfenova H, Parfenov VN, Shlopov BV, Levine V, Falkos S, Pourcyrous M et al. Dynamics of nuclear localization sites for COX-2 in vascular endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2001; 281(1):C166-C178.
- (21) Deininger MH, Schluesener HJ. Cyclooxygenases-1 and -2 are differentially localized to microglia and endothelium in rat EAE and glioma. J Neuroimmunol 1999; 95(1-2):202-8.
- (22) Wang H, Hitron IM, Iadecola C, Pickel VM. Synaptic and Vascular Associations of Neurons Containing Cyclooxygenase-2 and Nitric Oxide Synthase in Rat Somatosensory Cortex. Cereb Cortex 2004.
- (23) Weber AA, Przytulski B, Schumacher M, Zimmermann N, Gams E, Hohlfeld T et al. Flow cytometry analysis of platelet cyclooxygenase-2 expression: induction of platelet cyclooxygenase-2 in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. Br J Haematol 2002; 117(2):424-6.
- (24) Kargman S, Charleson S, Cartwright M, Frank J, Riendeau D, Mancini J et al. Characterization of Prostaglandin G/H Synthase 1 and 2 in rat, dog, monkey, and human gastrointestinal tracts. Gastroenterology 1996; 111(2):445-54.
- (25) Haworth R, Oakley K, McCormack N, Pilling A. Differential Expression of COX-1 and COX-2 in the Gastrointestinal Tract of the Rat. Toxicol Pathol 2005; 33(2):239-45.
- (26) Harris RC, McKanna JA, Akai Y, Jacobson HR, Dubois RN, Breyer MD. Cyclooxygenase-2 is associated with the macula densa of rat kidney and increases with salt restriction. J Clin Invest 1994; 94(6):2504-10.
- (27) Khan KN, Venturini CM, Bunch RT, Brassard JA, Koki AT, Morris DL et al. Interspecies differences in renal localization of cyclooxygenase isoforms: implications in nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug-related nephrotoxicity. Toxicol Pathol 1998; 26(5):612-20.
- (28) Hawkey CJ. COX-2 inhibitors. Lancet 1999; 353(9149):307-14.
- (29) Copeland RA, Williams JM, Giannaras J, Nurnberg S, Covington M, Pinto D et al. Mechanism of selective inhibition of the inducible isoform of prostaglandin G/H synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994; 91(23):11202-6.
- (30) Mitchell JA, Akarasereenont P, Thiemermann C, Flower RJ, Vane JR. Selectivity of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs as inhibitors of constitutive and inducible cyclooxygenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993; 90(24):11693-7.
- (31) Fitzgerald GA. Prostaglandins, Aspirin, and Related Compounds. In: Goldman L, Ausiello D, editors. Cecil Textbook of Medicine. 22<sup>th</sup> ed. Elsevier Science Health Science div; 2003.

- (32) Jordan S, White J. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: clinical issues. Nurs Stand 2001; 15(23):45-52.
- (33) Davies NM, Jamali F. COX-2 selective inhibitors cardiac toxicity: getting to the heart of the matter. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2004; 7(3):332-6.
- (34) Brater DC. Effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on renal function: focus on cyclooxygenase-2-selective inhibition. Am J Med 1999; 107(6A):65S-70S.
- (35) Celotti F, Laufer S. Anti-inflammatory drugs: new multitarget compounds to face an old problem. The dual inhibition concept. Pharmacol Res 2001; 43(5):429-36.
- (36) Martel-Pelletier J, Pelletier JP, Fahmi H. Cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandins in articular tissues. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2003; 33(3):155-67.
- (37) Barkin RL, Buvanendran A. Focus on the COX-1 and COX-2 agents: renal events of nonsteroidal and anti-inflammatory drugs-NSAIDs. Am J Ther 2004; 11(2):124-9.
- (38) Dogne JM, de L, X, Hanson J, Frederich M, Lambermont B, Ghuysen A et al. New developments on thromboxane and prostacyclin modulators part I: thromboxane modulators. Curr Med Chem 2004; 11(10):1223-41.
- (39) Moncada S, Vane JR. Pharmacology and endogenous roles of prostaglandin endoperoxides, thromboxane A2, and prostacyclin. Pharmacol Rev 1978; 30(3):293-331.
- (40) Smyth EM, Fitzgerald GA. Human prostacyclin receptor. Vitam Horm 2002; 65:149-65.
- (41) Wu KK, Liou JY, Cieslik K. Control of COX-2 Transcriptional Activation by Proinflammatory Mediators. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005.
- (42) Agnoli GC, Borgatti R, Cacciari M, Lenzi P, Marinelli M, Stipo L. Renal synthesis of prostacyclin and thromboxane in healthy women: differential effects of a short-term saline loading. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2000; 62(2):111-7.
- (43) Nielsen CB, Bech JN, Pedersen EB. Effects of prostacyclin on renal haemodynamics, renal tubular function and vasoactive hormones in healthy humans. A placebo-controlled dose-response study. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 44(5):471-6.
- (44) Vazquez-Tello A, Fan L, Hou X, Joyal JS, Mancini JA, Quiniou C et al. Intracellular-specific colocalization of prostaglandin E2 synthases and cyclooxygenases in the brain. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2004; 287(5):R1155-R1163.
- (45) Matsumura K, Kobayashi S. Signaling the brain in inflammation: the role of endothelial cells. Front Biosci 2004; 9:2819-26.
- (46) Bonvalet JP, Pradelles P, Farman N. Segmental synthesis and actions of prostaglandins along the nephron. Am J Physiol 1987; 253(3 Pt 2):F377-F387.
- (47) Villa E, Garcia-Robles R, Haas J, Romero JC. Comparative effect of PGE2 and PGI2 on renal function. Hypertension 1997; 30(3 Pt 2):664-6.
- (48) Wagner C, Jensen BL, Kramer BK, Kurtz A. Control of the renal renin system by local factors. Kidney Int Suppl 1998; 67:S78-S83.

- (49) O'Sullivan S. On the role of PGD2 metabolites as markers of mast cell activation in asthma. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl 1999; 644:1-74.
- (50) Hardy CC, Robinson C, Tattersfield AE, Holgate ST. The bronchoconstrictor effect of inhaled prostaglandin D2 in normal and asthmatic men. N Engl J Med 1984; 311(4):209-13.
- (51) Spik I, Brenuchon C, Angeli V, Staumont D, Fleury S, Capron M et al. Activation of the Prostaglandin D2 Receptor DP2/CRTH2 Increases Allergic Inflammation in Mouse. J Immunol 2005; 174(6):3703-8.
- (52) Trottein F, Faveeuw C, Gosset P, Angeli V. Role of the d prostanoid receptor 1 in the modulation of immune and inflammatory responses. Crit Rev Immunol 2004; 24(5):349-62.
- (53) Horton EW, Poyser NL. Uterine luteolytic hormone: a physiological role for prostaglandin F2alpha. Physiol Rev 1976; 56(4):595-651.
- (54) Camu F, Shi L, Vanlersberghe C. The role of COX-2 inhibitors in pain modulation. Drugs 2003; 63 Suppl 1:1-7.
- (55) Samad TA, Moore KA, Sapirstein A, Billet S, Allchorne A, Poole S et al. Interleukin-1beta-mediated induction of Cox-2 in the CNS contributes to inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. Nature 2001; 410(6827):471-5.
- (56) Malmberg AB, Yaksh TL. Hyperalgesia mediated by spinal glutamate or substance P receptor blocked by spinal cyclooxygenase inhibition. Science 1992; 257(5074):1276-9.
- (57) Botting R, Ayoub SS. COX-3 and the mechanism of action of paracetamol/acetaminophen. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2005; 72(2):85-7.
- (58) Nicholls C, Sani M. Antiplatelet therapy. Nurs Older People 2004; 16(8):35-6.
- (59) Roth GJ, Majerus PW. The mechanism of the effect of aspirin on human platelets. I. Acetylation of a particulate fraction protein. J Clin Invest 1975; 56(3):624-32.
- (60) Patrono C, Coller B, Fitzgerald GA, Hirsh J, Roth G. Platelet-active drugs: the relationships among dose, effectiveness, and side effects: the Seventh ACCP Conference on Antithrombotic and Thrombolytic Therapy. Chest 2004; 126(3 Suppl):234S-64S.
- (61) Ouellet M, Riendeau D, Percival MD. A high level of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor selectivity is associated with a reduced interference of platelet cyclooxygenase-1 inactivation by aspirin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98(25):14583-8.
- (62) Kulmatycki KM, Jamali F. Therapeutic relevance of altered cytokine expression. Cytokine 2001; 14(1):1-10.
- (63) Chavarria A, cocer-Varela J. Is damage in central nervous system due to inflammation? Autoimmun Rev 2004; 3(4):251-60.
- (64) Nathan C. Points of control in inflammation. Nature 2002; 420(6917):846-52.
- (65) Whelton A, Hamilton CW. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: effects on kidney function. J Clin Pharmacol 1991; 31(7):588-98.
- (66) Breyer MD, Harris RC. Cyclooxygenase 2 and the kidney. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2001; 10(1):89-98.

- (67) Germann WJ, Stanfield CL. Principles of Human Physiology. 2<sup>th</sup> ed. Pearson Education, Inc.; 2005.
- (68) Eaton DC, Pooler JP. Vander's Renal Physiology. 6<sup>th</sup> ed. McGraw-Hill; 2004.
- (69) Ganong WF. Review of Medical Physiology. 22<sup>th</sup> ed. McGraw-Hill; 2005.
- (70) Gambaro G, Perazella MA. Adverse renal effects of anti-inflammatory agents: evaluation of selective and nonselective cyclooxygenase inhibitors. J Intern Med 2003; 253(6):643-52.
- (71) Whelton A, Stout RL, Spilman PS, Klassen DK. Renal effects of ibuprofen, piroxicam, and sulindac in patients with asymptomatic renal failure. A prospective, randomized, crossover comparison. Ann Intern Med 1990; 112(8):568-76.
- (72) Ulinski T, Guigonis V, Dunan O, Bensman A. Acute renal failure after treatment with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Eur J Pediatr 2004; 163(3):148-50.
- (73) Henry D, Page J, Whyte I, Nanra R, Hall C. Consumption of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs and the development of functional renal impairment in elderly subjects. Results of a case-control study. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 44(1):85-90.
- (74) Rossi E, Ferraccioli GF, Cavalieri F, Menta R, Dall'Aglio PP, Migone L. Diclofenac-associated acute renal failure. Report of 2 cases. Nephron 1985; 40(4):491-3.
- (75) Buck ML, Norwood VF. Ketorolac-induced acute renal failure in a previously healthy adolescent. Pediatrics 1996; 98(2 Pt 1):294-6.
- (76) Chan XM. Fatal renal failure due to indomethacin. Lancet 1987; 2(8554):340.
- (77) Ezra E, Caspi I, Weiss J, Lin E, Horoszowsky H. Acute reversible renal failure following naproxen (naxyn) administration. Scand J Rheumatol 1986; 15(4):401-2.
- (78) Spierto RJ, Kaufman MB, Stoukides CA. Acute renal failure associated with the use of over-the-counter ibuprofen. Ann Pharmacother 1992; 26(5):714.
- (79) Graham MG. Acute renal failure related to high-dose celecoxib. Ann Intern Med 2001; 135(1):69-70.
- (80) Wolf G, Porth J, Stahl RA. Acute renal failure associated with rofecoxib. Ann Intern Med 2000; 133(5):394.
- (81) Szalat A, Krasilnikov I, Bloch A, Meir K, Rubinger D, Mevorach D. Acute renal failure and interstitial nephritis in a patient treated with rofecoxib: case report and review of the literature. Arthritis Rheum 2004; 51(4):670-3.
- (82) Morales E, Mucksavage JJ. Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor-associated acute renal failure: case report with rofecoxib and review of the literature. Pharmacotherapy 2002; 22(10):1317-21.
- (83) Muhlfeld AS, Floege J. COX-2 inhibitor induced anuric renal failure in a previously healthy young woman. Clin Nephrol 2005; 63(3):221-4.
- (84) Kovacevic L, Bernstein J, Valentini RP, Imam A, Gupta N, Mattoo TK. Renal papillary necrosis induced by naproxen. Pediatr Nephrol 2003; 18(8):826-9.
- (85) Atta MG, Whelton A. Acute renal papillary necrosis induced by ibuprofen. Am J Ther 1997; 4(1):55-60.

- (86) Gradus DB, Zuker N, Barki Y. Renal papillary necrosis in a child with rheumatic carditis treated with aspirin. Isr J Med Sci 1989; 25(4):196-8.
- (87) Colome NE, Solans R, Espinach J, Delgadillo J, Fonollosa V. Renal papillary necrosis induced by flurbiprofen. DICP 1991; 25(7-8):870-1.
- (88) Mitchell H, Muirden KD, Kincaid-Smith P. Indamethacin-induced renal papillary necrosis in juvenile chronic arthritis. Lancet 1982; 2(8297):558-9.
- (89) Akhund L, Quinet RJ, Ishaq S. Celecoxib-related renal papillary necrosis. Arch Intern Med 2003; 163(1):114-5.
- (90) Stichtenoth DO, Frolich JC. COX-2 and the kidneys. Curr Pharm Des 2000; 6(17):1737-53.
- (91) Alva JP, Kotian G. Diclofenac induced renal dysfunction presenting as cardiac arrhythmia. J Assoc Physicians India 2001; 49:749-52.
- (92) Ray PE, Rigolizzo D, Wara DR, Piel CF. Naproxen nephrotoxicity in a 2-yearold child. Am J Dis Child 1988; 142(5):524-5.
- (93) Marasco WA, Gikas PW, zziz-Baumgartner R, Hyzy R, Eldredge CJ, Stross J. Ibuprofen-associated renal dysfunction. Pathophysiologic mechanisms of acute renal failure, hyperkalemia, tubular necrosis, and proteinuria. Arch Intern Med 1987; 147(12):2107-16.
- (94) Miller KP, Lazar EJ, Fotino S. Severe hyperkalemia during piroxicam therapy. Arch Intern Med 1984; 144(12):2414-5.
- (95) Palmer BF. Renal complications associated with use of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory agents. J Investig Med 1995; 43(6):516-33.
- (96) Schwartz JI, Vandormael K, Malice MP, Kalyani RN, Lasseter KC, Holmes GB et al. Comparison of rofecoxib, celecoxib, and naproxen on renal function in elderly subjects receiving a normal-salt diet. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2002; 72(1):50-61.
- (97) Kaji DM, Chase HS, Jr., Eng JP, Diaz J. Prostaglandin E2 inhibits Na-K-2Cl cotransport in medullary thick ascending limb cells. Am J Physiol 1996; 271(1 Pt 1):C354-C361.
- (98) Fernandez-Llama P, Ecelbarger CA, Ware JA, Andrews P, Lee AJ, Turner R et al. Cyclooxygenase inhibitors increase Na-K-2Cl cotransporter abundance in thick ascending limb of Henle's loop. Am J Physiol 1999; 277(2 Pt 2):F219-F226.
- (99) Cowley AW, Jr., Mattson DL, Lu S, Roman RJ. The renal medulla and hypertension. Hypertension 1995; 25(4 Pt 2):663-73.
- (100) Whelton A, Schulman G, Wallemark C, Drower EJ, Isakson PC, Verburg KM et al. Effects of celecoxib and naproxen on renal function in the elderly. Arch Intern Med 2000; 160(10):1465-70.
- (101) Catella-Lawson F, McAdam B, Morrison BW, Kapoor S, Kujubu D, Antes L et al. Effects of specific inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 on sodium balance, hemodynamics, and vasoactive eicosanoids. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1999; 289(2):735-41.
- (102) Komers R, Anderson S, Epstein M. Renal and cardiovascular effects of selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors. Am J Kidney Dis 2001; 38(6):1145-57.
- (103) Swan SK, Rudy DW, Lasseter KC, Ryan CF, Buechel KL, Lambrecht LJ et al. Effect of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition on renal function in elderly persons

receiving a low-salt diet. A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 2000; 133(1):1-9.

- (104) Rossat J, Maillard M, Nussberger J, Brunner HR, Burnier M. Renal effects of selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition in normotensive salt-depleted subjects. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1999; 66(1):76-84.
- (105) Bombardier C, Laine L, Reicin A, Shapiro D, Burgos-Vargas R, Davis B et al. Comparison of upper gastrointestinal toxicity of rofecoxib and naproxen in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. VIGOR Study Group. N Engl J Med 2000; 343(21):1520-8, 2.
- (106) Bresalier RS, Sandler RS, Quan H, Bolognese JA, Oxenius B, Horgan K et al. Cardiovascular events associated with rofecoxib in a colorectal adenoma chemoprevention trial. N Engl J Med 2005; 352(11):1092-102.
- (107) Levesque LE, Brophy JM, Zhang B. The risk for myocardial infarction with cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors: a population study of elderly adults. Ann Intern Med 2005; 142(7):481-9.
- (108) Farkouh ME, Kirshner H, Harrington RA, Ruland S, Verheugt FW, Schnitzer TJ et al. Comparison of lumiracoxib with naproxen and ibuprofen in the Therapeutic Arthritis Research and Gastrointestinal Event Trial (TARGET), cardiovascular outcomes: randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004; 364(9435):675-84.
- (109) Esser R, Berry C, Du Z, Dawson J, Fox A, Fujimoto RA et al. Preclinical pharmacology of lumiracoxib: a novel selective inhibitor of cyclooxygenase-2. Br J Pharmacol 2005; 144(4):538-50.
- (110) Fitzgerald GA. Coxibs and cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med 2004; 351(17):1709-11.
- (111) Caughey GE, Cleland LG, Penglis PS, Gamble JR, James MJ. Roles of cyclooxygenase (COX)-1 and COX-2 in prostanoid production by human endothelial cells: selective up-regulation of prostacyclin synthesis by COX-2. J Immunol 2001; 167(5):2831-8.
- (112) Cheng HF, Harris RC. Cyclooxygenases, the kidney, and hypertension. Hypertension 2004; 43(3):525-30.
- (113) Alderman M, Sealey J, Cohen H, Madhavan S, Laragh J. Urinary sodium excretion and myocardial infarction in hypertensive patients: a prospective cohort study. Am J Clin Nutr 1997; 65(2 Suppl):682S-6S.
- (114) Laine L. Gastrointestinal effects of NSAIDs and coxibs. J Pain Symptom Manage 2003; 25(2 Suppl):S32-S40.
- (115) Aalykke C, Lauritsen K. Epidemiology of NSAID-related gastroduodenal mucosal injury. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2001; 15(5):705-22.
- (116) Singh G. Recent considerations in nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug gastropathy. Am J Med 1998; 105(1B):31S-8S.
- (117) Larkai EN, Smith JL, Lidsky MD, Graham DY. Gastroduodenal mucosa and dyspeptic symptoms in arthritic patients during chronic nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use. Am J Gastroenterol 1987; 82(11):1153-8.
- (118) Bidaut-Russell M, Gabriel SE. Adverse gastrointestinal effects of NSAIDs: consequences and costs. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2001; 15(5):739-53.

- (119) Hotz-Behofsits CM, Walley MJ, Simpson R, Bjarnason IT. COX-1, COX-2 and the topical effect in NSAID-induced enteropathy. Inflammopharmacology 2003; 11(4):363-70.
- (120) Gana TJ, MacPherson BR, Koo J. Gastric mucosal blood flow in misoprostol pretreated aspirin-induced ulceration. Ann Surg 1988; 207(3):327-34.
- (121) Wright MR, Davies NM, Jamali F. Toxicokinetics of indomethacin-induced intestinal permeability in the rat. Pharmacol Res 1997; 35(6):499-504.
- (122) Davies NM, Jamali F. Influence of dosage form on the gastroenteropathy of flurbiprofen in the rat: evidence of shift in the toxicity site. Pharm Res 1997; 14(11):1597-600.
- (123) Caldwell JR, Roth SH. A double blind study comparing the efficacy and safety of enteric coated naproxen to naproxen in the management of NSAID intolerant patients with rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Naproxen EC Study Group. J Rheumatol 1994; 21(4):689-95.
- (124) Vakily M, Khorasheh F, Jamali F. Dependency of gastrointestinal toxicity on release rate of tiaprofenic acid: a novel pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic model. Pharm Res 1999; 16(1):123-9.
- (125) Becker JC, Domschke W, Pohle T. Current approaches to prevent NSAIDinduced gastropathy--COX selectivity and beyond. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2004; 58(6):587-600.
- (126) Silverstein FE, Faich G, Goldstein JL, Simon LS, Pincus T, Whelton A et al. Gastrointestinal toxicity with celecoxib vs nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: the CLASS study: A randomized controlled trial. Celecoxib Long-term Arthritis Safety Study. JAMA 2000; 284(10):1247-55.
- (127) Micklewright R, Lane S, Linley W, McQuade C, Thompson F, Maskrey N. Review article: NSAIDs, gastroprotection and cyclo-oxygenase-II-selective inhibitors. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003; 17(3):321-32.
- (128) Mosby's Drug Consult. 15<sup>th</sup> ed. St. Louis, Missouri: Mosby, Inc.; 2005.
- (129) Fini A, Fazio G, Gonzalez-Rodriguez M, Cavallari C, Passerini N, Rodriguez L. Formation of ion-pairs in aqueous solutions of diclofenac salts. Int J Pharm 1999; 187(2):163-73.
- (130) Soraci AL, Tapia O, Garcia J. Pharmacokinetics and synovial fluid concentrations of flurbiprofen enantiomers in horses: chiral inversion. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2005; 28(1):65-70.
- (131) Canadian Pharmacists Association. Compendium of Pharmaceutical and Specialties. The Canadian Drug Reference for Health Professionals. Ottawa: 2003.
- (132) Torres-Lopez JE, Robles MB, Perez-Urizar J, Flores-Murrieta FJ, Granados-Soto V. Determination of diclofenac in micro-whole blood samples by highperformance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. Application in a pharmacokinetic study. Arzneimittelforschung 1997; 47(9):1040-3.
- (133) Radwan MA. Zidovudine, diclofenac and ketoprofen pharmacokinetic interactions in rats. J Pharm Pharmacol 2000; 52(6):665-9.

- (134) Riess W, Stierlin H, Degen P, Faigle JW, Gerardin A, Moppert J et al. Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of the anti-inflammatory agent Voltaren. Scand J Rheumatol Suppl 1978;(22):17-29.
- (135) Stierlin H, Faigle JW, Sallmann A, Kung W, Richter WJ, Kriemler HP et al. Biotransformation of diclofenac sodium (Voltaren) in animals and in man. I. Isolation and identification of principal metabolites. Xenobiotica 1979; 9(10):601-10.
- (136) King C, Tang W, Ngui J, Tephly T, Braun M. Characterization of rat and human UDP-glucuronosyltransferases responsible for the in vitro glucuronidation of diclofenac. Toxicol Sci 2001; 61(1):49-53.
- (137) Kretz-Rommel A, Boelsterli UA. Diclofenac covalent protein binding is dependent on acyl glucuronide formation and is inversely related to P450mediated acute cell injury in cultured rat hepatocytes. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1993; 120(1):155-61.
- (138) Davies NM, Anderson KE. Clinical pharmacokinetics of diclofenac. Therapeutic insights and pitfalls. Clin Pharmacokinet 1997; 33(3):184-213.
- (139) Verbeeck RK, Blackburn JL, Loewen GR. Clinical pharmacokinetics of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Clin Pharmacokinet 1983; 8(4):297-331.
- (140) Willis JV, Kendall MJ, Flinn RM, Thornhill DP, Welling PG. The pharmacokinetics of diclofenac sodium following intravenous and oral administration. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1979; 16(6):405-10.
- (141) Skeith KJ, Jamali F. Clinical pharmacokinetics of drugs used in juvenile arthritis. Clin Pharmacokinet 1991; 21(2):129-49.
- (142) Hadgraft J, du PJ, Goosen C. The selection of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents for dermal delivery. Int J Pharm 2000; 207(1-2):31-7.
- (143) Brogden RN, Heel RC, Speight TM, Avery GS. Flurbiprofen: a review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic use in rheumatic diseases. Drugs 1979; 18(6):417-38.
- (144) Risdall PC, Adams SS, Crampton EL, Marchant B. The disposition and metabolism of flurbiprofen in several species including man. Xenobiotica 1978; 8(11):691-703.
- (145) Berry BW, Jamali F. Enantiomeric interaction of flurbiprofen in the rat. J Pharm Sci 1989; 78(8):632-4.
- (146) Jamali F, Berry BW, Tehrani MR, Russell AS. Stereoselective pharmacokinetics of flurbiprofen in humans and rats. J Pharm Sci 1988; 77(8):666-9.
- (147) Knihinicki RD, Day RO, Graham GG, Williams KM. Stereoselective disposition of ibuprofen and flurbiprofen in rats. Chirality 1990; 2(3):134-40.
- (148) Davies NM. Clinical pharmacokinetics of flurbiprofen and its enantiomers. Clin Pharmacokinet 1995; 28(2):100-14.
- (149) Borga O, Borga B. Serum protein binding of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs: a comparative study. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 1997; 25(1):63-77.
- (150) Ahuja N, Singh A, Singh B. Rofecoxib: an update on physicochemical, pharmaceutical, pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic aspects. J Pharm Pharmacol 2003; 55(7):859-94.

- (151) Breckenridge A, Woods K, Raine J. Monitoring the safety of licensed medicines. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2005; 4(7):541-3.
- (152) Halpin RA, Geer LA, Zhang KE, Marks TM, Dean DC, Jones AN et al. The absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of rofecoxib, a potent and selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in rats and dogs. Drug Metab Dispos 2000; 28(10):1244-54.
- (153) Jamali F, Sattari S. High performance liquid chromatographic determination of cyclooxygenase II inhibitor rofecoxib in rat and human plasma. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2000; 3(3):312-7.
- (154) Baillie TA, Halpin RA, Matuszewski BK, Geer LA, Chavez-Eng CM, Dean D et al. Mechanistic studies on the reversible metabolism of rofecoxib to 5hydroxyrofecoxib in the rat: evidence for transient ring opening of a substituted 2-furanone derivative using stable isotope-labeling techniques. Drug Metab Dispos 2001; 29(12):1614-28.
- (155) Davies NM, Teng XW, Skjodt NM. Pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib: a specific cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitor. Clin Pharmacokinet 2003; 42(6):545-56.
- (156) Werner U, Werner D, Mundkowski R, Gillich M, Brune K. Selective and rapid liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry method for the quantification of rofecoxib in pharmacokinetic studies with humans. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 2001; 760(1):83-90.
- (157) Depre M, Ehrich E, Van HA, De L, I, Dallob A, Wong P et al. Pharmacokinetics, COX-2 specificity, and tolerability of supratherapeutic doses of rofecoxib in humans. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2000; 56(2):167-74.
- (158) Halpin RA, Porras AG, Geer LA, Davis MR, Cui D, Doss GA et al. The disposition and metabolism of rofecoxib, a potent and selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in human subjects. Drug Metab Dispos 2002; 30(6):684-93.
- (159) Schwartz JI, Agrawal NG, Wong PH, Bachmann KA, Porras AG, Miller JL et al. Lack of pharmacokinetic interaction between rofecoxib and methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis patients. J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 41(10):1120-30.
- (160) Schwartz JI, Bugianesi KJ, Ebel DL, De SM, Haesen R, Larson PJ et al. The effect of rofecoxib on the pharmacodynamics and pharmcokinetics of warfarin. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2000; 68(6):626-36.
- (161) Schwartz JI, De SM, Larson PJ, Verbesselt R, Ebel DL, Lins R et al. Effect of rofecoxib on the pharmacokinetics of digoxin in healthy volunteers. J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 41(1):107-12.
- (162) Schwartz JI, Mukhopadhyay S, Porras AG, Viswanathan-Aiyer KJ, Adcock S, Ebel DL et al. Effect of rofecoxib on prednisolone and prednisone pharmacokinetics in healthy subjects. J Clin Pharmacol 2003; 43(2):187-92.
- (163) Seedher N, Bhatia S. Solubility enhancement of Cox-2 inhibitors using various solvent systems. AAPS PharmSciTech 2003; 4(3):E33.
- (164) Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. New Drug Application #20998: Medical Review(s) Celecoxib. U S Food and Drug Administration [1998]
- (165) Guirguis MS, Sattari S, Jamali F. Pharmacokinetics of celecoxib in the presence and absence of interferon-induced acute inflammation in the rat: application of a novel HPLC assay. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2001; 4(1):1-6.

- (166) Paulson SK, Kaprak TA, Gresk CJ, Fast DM, Baratta MT, Burton EG et al. Plasma protein binding of celecoxib in mice, rat, rabbit, dog and human. Biopharm Drug Dispos 1999; 20(6):293-9.
- (167) Paulson SK, Zhang JY, Breau AP, Hribar JD, Liu NW, Jessen SM et al. Pharmacokinetics, tissue distribution, metabolism, and excretion of celecoxib in rats. Drug Metab Dispos 2000; 28(5):514-21.
- (168) Paulson SK, Vaughn MB, Jessen SM, Lawal Y, Gresk CJ, Yan B et al. Pharmacokinetics of celecoxib after oral administration in dogs and humans: effect of food and site of absorption. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2001; 297(2):638-45.
- (169) McAdam BF, Catella-Lawson F, Mardini IA, Kapoor S, Lawson JA, Fitzgerald GA. Systemic biosynthesis of prostacyclin by cyclooxygenase (COX)-2: the human pharmacology of a selective inhibitor of COX-2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96(1):272-7.
- (170) Davies NM, McLachlan AJ, Day RO, Williams KM. Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of celecoxib: a selective cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitor. Clin Pharmacokinet 2000; 38(3):225-42.
- (171) Paulson SK, Hribar JD, Liu NW, Hajdu E, Bible RH, Jr., Piergies A et al. Metabolism and excretion of [(14)C]celecoxib in healthy male volunteers. Drug Metab Dispos 2000; 28(3):308-14.
- (172) Karim A, Tolbert DS, Hunt TL, Hubbard RC, Harper KM, Geis GS. Celecoxib, a specific COX-2 inhibitor, has no significant effect on methotrexate pharmacokinetics in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 1999; 26(12):2539-43.
- (173) Mersfelder TL, Stewart LR. Warfarin and celecoxib interaction. Ann Pharmacother 2000; 34(3):325-7.
- (174) Karim A, Tolbert D, Piergies A, Hubbard RC, Harper K, Wallemark CB et al. Celecoxib does not significantly alter the pharmacokinetics or hypoprothrombinemic effect of warfarin in healthy subjects. J Clin Pharmacol 2000; 40(6):655-63.
- (175) Davies NM, Skjodt NM. Clinical pharmacokinetics of meloxicam. A cyclooxygenase-2 preferential nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug. Clin Pharmacokinet 1999; 36(2):115-26.
- (176) Busch U, Schmid J, Heinzel G, Schmaus H, Baierl J, Huber C et al. Pharmacokinetics of meloxicam in animals and the relevance to humans. Drug Metab Dispos 1998; 26(6):576-84.
- (177) Schmid J, Busch U, Trummlitz G, Prox A, Kaschke S, Wachsmuth H. Meloxicam: metabolic profile and biotransformation products in the rat. Xenobiotica 1995; 25(11):1219-36.
- (178) Turck D, Busch U, Heinzel G, Narjes H. Clinical pharmacokinetics of meloxicam. Arzneimittelforschung 1997; 47(3):253-8.
- (179) Schmid J, Busch U, Heinzel G, Bozler G, Kaschke S, Kummer M.
  Pharmacokinetics and metabolic pattern after intravenous infusion and oral administration to healthy subjects. Drug Metab Dispos 1995; 23(11):1206-13.

- (180) Chesne C, Guyomard C, Guillouzo A, Schmid J, Ludwig E, Sauter T. Metabolism of Meloxicam in human liver involves cytochromes P4502C9 and 3A4. Xenobiotica 1998; 28(1):1-13.
- (181) Turck D, Roth W, Busch U. A review of the clinical pharmacokinetics of meloxicam. Br J Rheumatol 1996; 35 Suppl 1:13-6.
- (182) Boers M, Dijkmans BA, Breedveld FC, Camps JA, Chang PC, Van BP et al. Subclinical renal dysfunction in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1990; 33(1):95-101.
- (183) Sattari S, Dryden WF, Eliot LA, Jamali F. Despite increased plasma concentration, inflammation reduces potency of calcium channel antagonists due to lower binding to the rat heart. Br J Pharmacol 2003; 139(5):945-54.
# Chapter 2<sup>1</sup>

# Effect of Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs with Varying Extent of COX-2/COX-1 Selectivity on Urinary Sodium and Potassium Excretion in the Rat<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This chapter is dealt with two hypotheses that COX-2-selective inhibitors have renal side effects similar to the traditional NSAIDs and COX-2/COX-1 selectivity is related to the degree of renal dysfunction associated with the use of selective COX-2 inhibitors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A version of this chapter has been published. Harirforoosh S, Jamali F. Can J Physiol Phramacol 2005; 83:85-90.

#### 2.1 Introduction

Cyclooxygenase (COX) is the enzyme that converts arachidonic acid to prostaglandin H<sub>2</sub> (PGH<sub>2</sub>), which produces prostanoid including PGs, PGI<sub>2</sub> (prostacyclin), and thromboxanes (TXs) (1). Two isoforms of COX have been identified: COX-1 and COX-2 (2). COX-1 is present in platelets (3) and many other tissues including kidney, stomach, and endothelium (4). COX-1 produces a class of PGs that are involved in the normal physiological functions such as gastric mucosal protection and blood clotting (3). COX-2 is induced by inflammatory conditions, growth factors, and cytokines (4). It is primarily responsible for prostanoid synthesis that mediates the propagation of inflammation, pain, and fever. COX-2 is also expressed constitutively in few organs including the brain and kidney (3). COX-2 is present in macula densa, thick ascending limbs, and papillary interstitial cells of rat kidneys and in glomerular podocytes and small blood vessels of human kidneys (5). A recent study in human has detected COX-2 in the macula densa of patients with congestive heart failure and patients with Bartter-like syndrome (6).

It has been shown that COX-2-selective inhibitors cause less gastrointestinal (GI) side effects compared to that of non-selective nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (7). However, they are expected to demonstrate as much renal side effects as other NSAIDs. The use of NSAIDs is associated with several renal side effects including interference with fluid and electrolyte homeostasis, acute renal failure, interstitial nephritis, nephritic syndrome, and renal papillary necrosis (5).

The literature contains some studies that compare COX-2-selective NSAIDs with other drugs in its class. In one study, patients who took celecoxib experienced less renal toxicity than those who received other NSAIDs (8). It has been reported that rofecoxib

had more renal side effects than celecoxib or nonselective NSAIDs (9). Since rofecoxib is the more COX-2-selective than other examined NSAIDs, the greater observed potency may be attributed to its high selectivity. However, it has been shown that both celecoxib and rofecoxib cause renal side effects comparable with the traditional NSAIDs (10).

In the present study, we compared the effect of a selection of therapeutically equivalent doses of NSAIDs (i.e., rofecoxib, celecoxib, meloxicam, diclofenac, and flurbiprofen) with a wide range of COX-2 selectivities, on sodium and potassium excretion as well as urine flow rate.

#### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Chemicals

Tablets of rofecoxib (Vioxx®; Merck Frosst, QC, Canada), meloxicam (Mobicox®; Boehringer Ingelheim, ON, Canada), and capsules of celecoxib (Celebrex®; Searle, MI, USA) were obtained from a local pharmacy in Edmonton. Diclofenac and flurbiprofen were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA). Methyl cellulose 4000 was purchased from BDH pharmaceuticals (Toronto, ON, Canada).

#### 2.2.2 Animals

All experiments were performed on male Sprague-Dawley rats (320-350 g) and carried out within the guidelines of the Animal Care Committee of University of Alberta. Rats were fed with normal sodium chloride diet (0.4% NaCl). Rats were deprived of food but had free access to tap water for the 8-h duration of the experiment and housed at ambient temperature and humidity with a 12-h light-dark cycle.

#### 2.2.3 Dosage Forms and Administration

Tablets of Vioxx or Mobicox were crushed into a fine powder. Crushed tablets of Vioxx or Mobicox, the content of Celebrex capsules, diclofenac powder, and flurbiprofen powder were suspended in 0.5% methyl cellulose suspension and administered by oral gavage.

#### 2.2.4 Selection of NSAIDs and Dosage Regime

As a measure of COX-2/COX-1 activity, we used data reported by Warner et al. (11). The authors have reported both COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitory concentrations at 50% and 80% levels, using 2 different methods (human whole blood assay and human modified whole blood assay). We used all reported COX-2/COX-1 activities by these authors to examine the possibility of a significant correlation between the latter and the urinary excretion of electrolytes.

The doses in this study were chosen to produce sufficient changes in electrolytes excretion to form a basis for comparison among different NSAIDs. The recommended dose of rofecoxib for chronic treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is 25 mg once daily (12). The area under the plasma concentration-time curve from time of dosing to 24 h post-dose (AUC<sub>0-24</sub>) following a single 25 mg dose of rofecoxib is reported to be 2941 ng.h/mL for healthy young male volunteers (13). Among rats, an oral dose of 10 mg/kg of rofecoxib yields an AUC<sub>0-24</sub> of 2963 ng.h/mL (14). Hence, we began our study with 10 mg/kg of rofecoxib. Although we could detect a significant decrease of 58% in sodium excretion as compared with placebo, the change for potassium excretion was not significant in the treated rats with rofecoxib (Figure 2-1). Therefore, we increased the

dose of rofecoxib to 30 mg/kg. Other NSAIDs were administered in doses therapeutically equivalent to that of 30 mg/kg rofecoxib (15).

To test the baseline urine volume rate and sodium and potassium excretion, rats were transferred to metabolic cages and urine samples were collected at 0 to 8 h on day 0. On day 1, 2, 3, and 4, animals received rofecoxib (30 mg/kg, n=8), celecoxib (120 mg/kg, n=6), meloxicam (9 mg/kg, n=6), diclofenac (30 mg/kg, n=3), or flurbiprofen (125 mg/kg, n=6). Control groups received 0.5% methyl cellulose as vehicle. Urine was collected up to 8 h after each dosing. Renal function was assessed by measurement of urinary sodium and potassium excretion using a NOVA Stat Profile Plus 9 analyzer (NOVA Biomedical, Waltham, MA, USA). The origin of measurement was based on the electrical charge produced by exchange of sodium or potassium ions through the membrane which were selective to specific electrolyte.

#### 2.2.5 Data Treatment and Statistical Analysis

Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error (SE). The 0-8 h urine flow rate, urinary sodium and potassium excretion, and the means of the latter indices for 1-4 days were calculated. The values calculated for the treatment groups were compared with those of respective controls using the two-tailed Student's t test. For comparison between more than 2 means analyses of variances followed by Duncan New Multiple Range test were used. The association between cyclooxygenase selectivity and sodium or potassium excretion was evaluated using linear regression analysis. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. Urinary electrolyte excretion (µmol/min/100g) was calculated from:  $C_X * V_X *$ 100 / T \* W, where  $C_X$  is the concentration of urine electrolyte (mmol/L),  $V_X$  is the urine volume (mL), T is the urine collection time (min), and W is the weight of each rat (g). Urine flow rate (mL/h/100g) was estimated from:  $V_X * 100 / T * W$ , where  $V_X$  is the urine volume (mL), T is the urine collection time (h), and W is the weight of each rat (g).

#### 2.3 Results

The 4-day mean sodium and potassium excretion of control groups ranged from 0.41  $\pm$  0.03 to 0.48  $\pm$  0.04 and 0.62  $\pm$  0.03 to 0.72  $\pm$  0.06  $\mu$ mol/min/100g, respectively (Figures 2-2 and 2-3).

The mean 1-4 day sodium excretion was significantly less in rats treated with rofecoxib (p < 0.0011), celecoxib (p < 0.0001), diclofenac (p < 0.0001) and flurbiprofen (P < 0.0001) as compared with respective control groups (Figure 2-2). Administration of meloxicam did not reduce sodium excretion significantly. As shown in Table 2-1 for individual days, there was a significant reduction from baseline in sodium excretion at least on the first day of treatment with rofecoxib, celecoxib, diclofenac and flurbiprofen.

The urinary potassium excretion was significantly reduced following rofecoxib (p < 0.05), celecoxib (p < 0.01), diclofenac (p < 0.0001), and flurbiprofen (p < 0.0001) treatment (Figure 2-3). Treatment with meloxicam did not change potassium excretion significantly. For individual days, potassium excretion was significantly decreased from baseline, at least at one point, after administration of diclofenac or flurbiprofen. However, the daily fluctuation in the electrolyte excretion was not significant following rofecoxib, celecoxib administration. Meloxicam did not change potassium excretion values from the baseline on any specific day (Table 2-1).

The average of 1-4 days urine flow rate values was significantly lower in rofecoxib and flurbiprofen groups compared with their respective control group. The differences did not reach significance for celecoxib, meloxicam, and diclofenac groups

(Figure 2-4). For individual days, the difference from baseline was significant in diclofenac group only on the fourth day of treatment (Table 2-1).

Correlation coefficient values for COX-2/COX-1 selectivity using data generated by Warner et al. (11), using two different methods, did not exceed 0.41 (p > 0.49). In addition, we did not find a correlation between COX-1 or COX-2 potency reported by Warner et al. (11) and percentage change in electrolytes excretion.

#### 2.4 Discussion

The renal effects of NSAIDs are most commonly characterized by decreases in sodium and potassium excretion or renal perfusion (16). In healthy elderly subjects on a controlled intake of sodium, administration of 50 mg of rofecoxib once daily or 50 mg of indomethacin three times daily decreased urinary sodium excretion during the first 72 h of treatment compared with baseline. However, the glomerular filtration rate (GFR) decreased only in the indomethacin group. Given the known renal effects of NSAIDs, it seems likely that COX-2 inhibition causes acute sodium retention, whereas the decline in GFR is attributable to the blockade of COX-1 (17). Moreover, the expression of COX-2 in thick ascending limb cells containing Na-K-ATPase suggests a role for the enzyme in regulation of sodium in the rat kidney (18). Hyperkalemia due to the suppression of the renin–aldosterone axis is linked to the use of NSAIDs. In addition, a decrease in GFR may reduce potassium excretion (19). Accordingly, inhibition of both COX-1 and COX-2 can lead to decreases in sodium and potassium excretion. The severity of the decrease, therefore, may be governed by the degree of inhibition and the extent of drug in the site of action.

Several studies have evaluated the kidney effects of selective COX-2 inhibitors. Since the design and focus of each study has been different, particularly with respect to the renal effect, it is difficult to compare the result from one study to another. Svendsen et al. (20) compared the effects of a 2-week treatment with etodolac and ibuprofen on renal function of healthy subjects. They did not find any significant difference among treated groups in sodium or potassium excretion. Dilger et al. (21) have examined the effects of 200 mg twice daily celecoxib and diclofenac 75 mg twice daily on renal function of young and elderly subjects. They reported a transient decrease in sodium excretion in young subjects on the third day of treatment with both celecoxib and diclofenac. Schwartz et al. (12) reported a significant decrease in urinary sodium excretion on the first day of treatment with rofecoxib 25 mg daily, celecoxib 200 mg twice daily, and naproxen 500 mg twice daily in elderly subjects. One reason for the inconsistency between these studies could be the time of urine collection. The renal effects NSAIDs are best observed during the first 48 h of the commencement of the therapy. Hence, in this study, we compared the time course of the kidney effects of a range of NSAIDs with different degrees of COX-2 selectivity. We found a significant overall decrease in sodium and potassium excretion in rats treated with rofecoxib, celecoxib, diclofenac, or flurbiprofen as compared with their respective control groups during the first 4 days of NSAID therapy (Figures 2-2 and 2-3). As shown in Table 2-1, sodium excretion was decreased starting from the first day and continued throughout the treatment for diclofenac and flurbiprofen. The effect of celecoxib was greatest on the first day of treatment, but it was reduced to an insignificant reduction until the fourth day. Rofecoxib's effect was only significant on the first day. For potassium excretion,

although the overall effect was significant in the rofecoxib, celecoxib, diclofenac, and flurbiprofen groups, when the individual day values were considered, the significance of treatment effect was lost for rofecoxib and celecoxib groups (Table 2-1).

We did not detect any significant change in sodium or potassium excretion in rats treated with meloxicam even though a relatively high dosage regimen was used. We do not have an equivocal explanation for this unique behavior of meloxicam. One plausible explanation for our finding may be low concentrations of meloxicam in the kidney as compared with other NSAIDs. Accumulation in the kidneys is believed to be responsible for renal toxicity of other classes of drugs such as aminoglycosides antibiotics. A significant association has been observed between aminoglycosides concentrations in the kidneys and reduced renal function (22;23). It has been suggested that aminoglycosides are taken up by renal proximal tubular cells through a receptor-mediated indocytosis (24). The authors have demonstrated that blockage of these receptors with other substrates and (or) their peptide fragments such as megalin might be useful in preventing aminoglycoside-induced nephrotoxicity. They demonstrated that megalin substrates such as cytochrome c not only prevent gentamicin-induced nephrotoxicity, they reduce accumulation of gentamicin in the renal cortex, probably through decreasing gentamicin binding of to megalin. Consequently, urinary excretion of N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminidase, a marker of renal tubular damage, was significantly reduced. Since meloxicam is not unique from other NSAIDs with regard to its cyclooxygenase activities, it is plausible to suggest that a lack of sufficient accumulation in the kidneys may explain its lack of significant effect on the excretion of the examined electrolytes.

In this study, we used a series of NSAIDs with a range of COX-2 selectivities. At the dosage range used, we found no significant correlation between urinary electrolytes excretion and COX-2/COX-1 selectivity. Similarly, among the three examined selective COX-2 inhibitors, the degree of selectivity does not appear to be governed by the renal effect following administration of the selected doses. Indeed, celecoxib, which has a COX-2/COX-1 selectivity of 1.43 based on 50% inhibitory concentrations, significantly reduced both sodium and potassium excretion, but meloxicam with a COX-2/COX-1 selectivity of 2.70 did not. The observed lack of association between COX-2/COX-1 selectivity or COX-2 potency and urinary electrolytes excretion, however, may not be conclusive since it was made at only one dose level for each NSAID. It is, therefore, unclear whether the doses used were within the ascending or plateau phase of the dose-effect curve. Nevertheless, the fact that meloxicam, even at relatively high dose, did not influence urinary electrolytes excretion is worthy of noting and presents a potentially important therapeutic observation.

In summary, our data suggest that NSAIDs have a transient and time-dependent effect on urinary excretion of electrolytes that may be independent of COX-2/COX-1 selectivity. In addition, meloxicam does not affect sodium or potassium excretion rates in the rat.

**Table 2-1.** Change from baseline in sodium excretion, potassium excretion, and urine flow rate/100g bodyweight after administration of rofecoxib (30 mg/kg, n=8), celecoxib (120 mg/kg, n=6), meloxicam (9 mg/kg, n=6), diclofenac (30 mg/kg, n=3), or flurbiprofen (125 mg/kg, n=6).

NSAID	Baseline	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4				
Sodium excretion (µmol/min/100g)									
Rofecoxib	0.42 ± 0.04	0.22 ± 0.05*	0.29 ± 0.05	0.30 ± 0.04	0.30 ± 0.05				
Celecoxib	0.38 ± 0.02	0.13 ± 0.02*	0.31 ± 0.05	0.27 ± 0.10	0.20 ± 0.05*				
Meloxicam	0.41 ± 0.03	0.27 ± 0.06	0.54 ± 0.04	0.54 ± 0.07	0.32 ± 0.06				
Diclofenac	0.45 ± 0.08	0.13 ± 0.05*	0.05 ± 0.03*	0.13 ± 0.04*	0.05 ± 0.02*				
Flurbiprofen	0.46 ± 0.07	0.17 ± 0.02*	0.09 ± 0.05*	0.14 ± 0.07*	0.03 ± 0.02*				
Potassium excre	etion (µmol/n	nin/100g)							
Rofecoxib	0.68 ± 0.13	0.62 ± 0.11	0.48 ± 0.05	0.58 ± 0.06	0.53 ± 0.05				
Celecoxib	0.64 ± 0.04	0.48 ± 0.09	0.51 ± 0.08	0.56 ± 0.19	0.45 ± 0.12				
Meloxicam	0.66 ± 0.06	0.51 ± 0.12	0.67 ± 0.04	0.81 ± 0.11	0.44 ± 0.04				
Diclofenac	0.70 ± 0.06	0.43 ± 0.05	0.33 ± 0.01*	0.25 ± 0.09*	0.09 ± 0.06*				
Flurbiprofen	0.71 ± 0.08	0.53 ± 0.08	0.33 ± 0.05*	0.30 ± 0.07*	0.18 ± 0.05*				
Urine flow rate (mL/h/100g)									
Rofecoxib	0.19 ± 0.02	0.17 ± 0.02	0.13 ± 0.03	0.18 ± 0.02	0.16 ± 0.02				
Celecoxib	0.19 ± 0.01	0.12 ± 0.02	0.19 ± 0.03	0.12 ± 0.03	0.14 ± 0.04				
Meloxicam	0.22 ± 0.02	0.12 ± 0.03	0.23 ± 0.02	0.24 ± 0.04	0.16 ± 0.02				
Diclofenac	0.24 ± 0.08	0.14 ± 0.04	0.17 ± 0.06	0.22 ± 0.04	0.05 ± 0.01*				
Flurbiprofen	0.21 ± 0.03	0.16 ± 0.02	0.19 ± 0.04	0.19 ± 0.05	0.18 ± 0.04				

Note: The values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error.

\*Significantly different from baseline (p < 0.05).



Figure 2-1. The effect of low dose of rofecoxib (10 mg/kg) on sodium and potassium excretion /100g bodyweight.

The values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error.

Values represent the average of measurements of days 1-4 (n=5).



🗆 Control 🔳 Treatment

Figure 2-2. The effect of rofecoxib (30 mg/kg, n=8), celecoxib (120 mg/kg, n=6),

meloxicam (9 mg/kg, n=6), diclofenac (30 mg/kg, n=3), or flurbiprofen (125 mg/kg, n=6) on sodium excretion/100g bodyweight.

The values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error.

Values represent the average of measurements of days 1-4.



Figure 2-3. The effect of rofecoxib (30 mg/kg, n=8), celecoxib (120 mg/kg, n=6),

meloxicam (9 mg/kg, n=6), diclofenac (30 mg/kg, n=3), or flurbiprofen (125 mg/kg, n=6) on potassium excretion/100g bodyweight.

The values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error.

Values represent the average of measurements of days 1-4.

\*Significantly different from control (p < 0.05).



Figure 2-4. The effect of rofecoxib (30 mg/kg, n=8), celecoxib (120 mg/kg, n=6),

meloxicam (9 mg/kg, n=6), diclofenac (30 mg/kg, n=3), or flurbiprofen (125 mg/kg, n=6) on urine flow rate/100g bodyweight.

The values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error.

Values represent the average of measurements of days 1-4.

### **2.5 References**

- Chan CC, Boyce S, Brideau C, Charleson S, Cromlish W, Ethier D et al. Rofecoxib [Vioxx, MK-0966; 4-(4'-methylsulfonylphenyl)-3-phenyl-2-(5H)furanone]: a potent and orally active cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor. Pharmacological and biochemical profiles. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1999; 290(2):551-60.
- (2) Smith WL, Dewitt DL. Prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthases-1 and -2. Adv Immunol 1996; 62:167-215.
- (3) Vane JR, Bakhle YS, Botting RM. Cyclooxygenases 1 and 2. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1998; 38:97-120.
- (4) Hawkey CJ. COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitors. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2001; 15(5):801-20.
- (5) Khan KN, Venturini CM, Bunch RT, Brassard JA, Koki AT, Morris DL et al. Interspecies differences in renal localization of cyclooxygenase isoforms: implications in nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug-related nephrotoxicity. Toxicol Pathol 1998; 26(5):612-20.
- (6) Komhoff M, Jeck ND, Seyberth HW, Grone HJ, Nusing RM, Breyer MD. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression is associated with the renal macula densa of patients with Bartter-like syndrome. Kidney Int 2000; 58(6):2420-4.
- (7) Kurumbail RG, Stevens AM, Gierse JK, McDonald JJ, Stegeman RA, Pak JY et al. Structural basis for selective inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 by antiinflammatory agents. Nature 1996; 384(6610):644-8.
- (8) Silverstein FE, Faich G, Goldstein JL, Simon LS, Pincus T, Whelton A et al. Gastrointestinal toxicity with celecoxib vs nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: the CLASS study: A randomized controlled trial. Celecoxib Long-term Arthritis Safety Study. JAMA 2000; 284(10):1247-55.
- (9) Zhao SZ, Reynolds MW, Lejkowith J, Whelton A, Arellano FM. A comparison of renal-related adverse drug reactions between rofecoxib and celecoxib, based on the World Health Organization/Uppsala Monitoring Centre safety database. Clin Ther 2001; 23(9):1478-91.
- (10) Ahmad SR, Kortepeter C, Brinker A, Chen M, Beitz J. Renal failure associated with the use of celecoxib and rofecoxib. Drug Saf 2002; 25(7):537-44.
- (11) Warner TD, Giuliano F, Vojnovic I, Bukasa A, Mitchell JA, Vane JR. Nonsteroid drug selectivities for cyclo-oxygenase-1 rather than cyclo-oxygenase-2 are associated with human gastrointestinal toxicity: a full in vitro analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96(13):7563-8.
- (12) Schwartz JI, Vandormael K, Malice MP, Kalyani RN, Lasseter KC, Holmes GB et al. Comparison of rofecoxib, celecoxib, and naproxen on renal function in elderly subjects receiving a normal-salt diet. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2002; 72(1):50-61.
- (13) Depre M, Ehrich E, Van HA, De L, I, Dallob A, Wong P et al. Pharmacokinetics, COX-2 specificity, and tolerability of supratherapeutic doses of rofecoxib in humans. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2000; 56(2):167-74.

- (14) Halpin RA, Geer LA, Zhang KE, Marks TM, Dean DC, Jones AN et al. The absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of rofecoxib, a potent and selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in rats and dogs. Drug Metab Dispos 2000; 28(10):1244-54.
- (15) Canadian Pharmacists Association. Compendium of Pharmaceutical and Specialties. The Canadian Drug Reference for Health Professionals. Ottawa: 2003.
- (16) Brater DC. Effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on renal function: focus on cyclooxygenase-2-selective inhibition. Am J Med 1999; 107(6A):65S-70S.
- (17) Catella-Lawson F, McAdam B, Morrison BW, Kapoor S, Kujubu D, Antes L et al. Effects of specific inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 on sodium balance, hemodynamics, and vasoactive eicosanoids. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1999; 289(2):735-41.
- (18) Vio CP, Cespedes C, Gallardo P, Masferrer JL. Renal identification of cyclooxygenase-2 in a subset of thick ascending limb cells. Hypertension 1997; 30(3 Pt 2):687-92.
- (19) Breyer MD, Harris RC. Cyclooxygenase 2 and the kidney. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2001; 10(1):89-98.
- (20) Svendsen KB, Bech JN, Sorensen TB, Pedersen EB. A comparison of the effects of etodolac and ibuprofen on renal haemodynamics, tubular function, renin, vasopressin and urinary excretion of albumin and alpha-glutathione-S-transferase in healthy subjects: a placebo-controlled cross-over study. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2000; 56(5):383-8.
- (21) Dilger K, Herrlinger C, Peters J, Seyberth HW, Schweer H, Klotz U. Effects of celecoxib and diclofenac on blood pressure, renal function, and vasoactive prostanoids in young and elderly subjects. J Clin Pharmacol 2002; 42(9):985-94.
- (22) Dellinger P, Murphy T, Pinn V, Barza M, Weinstein L. Protective effect of cephalothin against gentamincin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1976; 9(1):172-8.
- (23) Schentag JJ, Jusko WJ, Plaut ME, Cumbo TJ, Vance JW, Abrutyn E. Tissue persistence of gentamicin in man. JAMA 1977; 238(4):327-9.
- (24) Watanabe A, Nagai J, Adachi Y, Katsube T, Kitahara Y, Murakami T et al. Targeted prevention of renal accumulation and toxicity of gentamicin by aminoglycoside binding receptor antagonists. J Control Release 2004; 95(3):423-33.

# Chapter 3<sup>3</sup>

### The Extent of Renal Effects of COX-2-selective Inhibitors Is

## Pharmacokinetic-dependent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This chapter is dealt with the hypothesis that there is an association between the pharmacokinetics of COX-2-selective inhibitors and the extent of renal dysfunction.

#### **3.1 INTRODUCTION**

At least two isoforms of cyclooxygenase (COX), COX-1 and COX-2, have been identified and one being discussed (1). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) have different selectivity to inhibit two enzymes (2). The selective COX-2 inhibitors such as celecoxib, rofecoxib, meloxicam, and valdecoxib, demonstrate less gastrointestinal (GI) side effects than non-selective NSAIDs (3;4), and have no effect on platelet function at therapeutic doses (5). Other side effects of NSAIDs include sodium and potassium retention secondary to renal effects (6;7) as well as hypertension (8). The latter side effects appeared to be linked (8;9). This is in line with the reported association between reduced urinary sodium excretion and myocardial infarction (MI) observed in 2937 mildly and moderately hypertensive patients (10). There exists a controversy regarding a potential differences between selective COX-2 and other NSAIDs in causing electrolytes retention (6). However, after reviewing five human studies, Sandhu Heyneman (11) concluded that the selective COX-2-inhibitors, celecoxib and rofecoxib, may decrease sodium and potassium excretion, creatinine clearance, and glomerular filtration rate (GFR) with the same degree as those of other NSAIDs. We have also shown that, in the rat, selective COX-2 inhibitors, rofecoxib and celecoxib, but not meloxicam, as well as non-selective NSAIDs, diclofenac and flurbiprofen, cause reduction in sodium and potassium excretion rate, independent of their COX selectivity (7). In the latter work, we speculated that the observed difference among NSAIDs in reducing electrolytes excretion may be explained by differences in the pharmacokinetics of the drugs. In this study, we report the results of our attempts to correlate the renal effect with pharmacokinetics of three selective COX-2 NSAIDs.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

#### **3.2 METHODS**

#### 3.2.1 Chemicals

Tablets of rofecoxib (Vioxx®; Merck Frosst, QC, Canada) and meloxicam (Mobicox®; Boehringer Ingelheim, ON, Canada) and capsules of celecoxib (Celebrex®; Pharmacia Canada Inc., Mississauga, Canada) were purchased from a local pharmacy in Edmonton. Racemate ibuprofen was obtained as a gift from Upjohn Canada (Don Mills, Canada). Piroxicam and ketoprofen powders were obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA). Meloxicam powder was purchased from Unichem Laboratories Limited (Mumbai, India). Isooctane (Assurance grade) was purchased from Merck KGaA (Darmstadt, Germany). All other solvents were high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) grade and purchased from Caledon Laboratories Ltd. (Georgetown, ON, Canada). Methyl cellulose 4000 was purchased from BDH pharmaceuticals (Toronto, ON, Canada). All other chemicals were of analytical or HPLC grade.

#### 3.2.2 Drugs, Dosage Forms and Route of Administration

Tablets of Vioxx or Mobicox were crushed to make a fine powder. Crushed tablets or the content of celebrex capsules were suspended in an aqueous solution containing methylcellulose 0.5%, and administered *via* gastric intubations. The drug content of the formulations was confirmed using HPLC.

In the previous study (7), we reported that a dose of 10 mg/kg rofecoxib was sufficient to produce changes in sodium excretion rate on the day after treatment compared to that of baseline. Therefore, we chose that dose and administered celecoxib and meloxicam in doses therapeutically equivalent to that of 10 mg/kg rofecoxib (12).

#### **3.2.3 Experimental Design and Sample Collection**

All experiments were performed on male Sprague-Dawley rats (330-360 g) and carried out within the guidelines of the Animal Care Committee of the University of Alberta.

On day 0, under halothane anesthesia, a polyethylene cannula was inserted into the right jugular vein of all rats. Rats were allowed to recover overnight and fed with normal sodium chloride diet (0.4% NaCl). They were housed in ambient temperature and humidity with a 12 h light-dark cycle.

On day 1, rats were transferred into the metabolic cages at approximately 9:00 A.M. and urine samples were collected during the 0-8 h period.

On day 2, the animals received rofecoxib (10 mg/kg, n = 13), celecoxib (40 mg/kg, n = 7), meloxicam (3 mg/kg, n = 7), or placebo (methylcellulose 0.5%) (n = 6). Serial blood samples were collected at 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 4, 6, 8, (12 for rofecoxib only), and 24 h post-dose. Dosing was done approximately at 9:00 A.M. and urine was collected for 8 h post-dose.

On day 3, rats were sacrificed and kidneys were excised and stored at -70° C until analyzed. The renal function was assessed by the measurement of urinary sodium and potassium excretion rates.

#### **3.2.4 Rofecoxib Assay**

Rofecoxib concentrations were determined in plasma and kidney using a validated reverse-phase HPLC method (13) with some modifications. Briefly, a 100  $\mu$ L aliquot of various concentrations (50-10000 ng/mL) of rofecoxib standard solution was added to 100  $\mu$ L of blank rat plasma. After addition of 100  $\mu$ L of ketoprofen solution (1  $\mu$ g/mL) as internal standard and 100  $\mu$ L of acetate buffer (pH = 4.5), plasma samples were extracted

with 6 mL of ethyl acetate. After vortex mixing and centrifuging the resultant, the organic layer was separated and evaporated to dryness. The residue was reconstituted into 175  $\mu$ L of mobile phase, water- acetonitrile-acetic acid-triethylamine (72:28:0.1:0.05), and a 150  $\mu$ L aliquot injected into the column. The minimum detectable concentration of rofecoxib in plasma was 50 ng/mL and the coefficient of variation (CV) was 7.2%.

In order to determine rofecoxib concentrations in the rat kidney, two volumes of HPLC-grade water were added to the weighed tissue samples and the mixture was homogenized using a Brinkmann Polytron homogenizer (model PT10/35, Instruments Co, Switzerland). Standard curve samples were prepared by adding 100  $\mu$ L of various concentrations of rofecoxib standard solutions to 100  $\mu$ L of blank homogenized mixture to make the final concentrations of 25-5000 ng/mL. 100  $\mu$ L of 1  $\mu$ g/mL internal standard solution, 100  $\mu$ L of acetate buffer (pH = 4.5) and 6 mL ethyl acetate were added to each tube. The tubes were vortex-mixed for 90 seconds and centrifuged at 2500 g for 3 min. The organic layer was transferred to a tube and evaporated to dryness. The residue was dissolved in 175  $\mu$ L of mobile phase and an aliquot of 150  $\mu$ L was injected into HPLC. The minimum detectable concentration of rofecoxib in kidney was 50 ng/g and the CV was 20.8% (Table 3-1).

#### 3.2.5 Celecoxib Assay

Plasma samples were assayed for celecoxib by the method of Guirguis et al. (14). Two calibration curves of low and high range concentrations were prepared. 100  $\mu$ L of various concentrations of celecoxib solution (50-1000 and 1000-100,000 ng/mL) were mixed with 100  $\mu$ L of blank rat plasma. Then, 100  $\mu$ L of 20  $\mu$ g/mL ibuprofen solution, 200  $\mu$ L

of 0.6 M  $H_2SO_4$  and 5 mL isooctane-iso-propanol (95:5) were added to the test tubes. The tubes were vortex-mixed for 30 seconds and centrifuged at 2500 g for 3 min. The organic layer was transferred into a clean tube and evaporated to dryness. The residue was dissolved in 200 µL of mobile phase and a 150 µL aliquot injected into the HPLC. The minimum detectable concentration of celecoxib in plasma was 50 ng/mL and the CV was 7.8%.

The above assay was modified to analyze kidney samples. Two volumes of water were added to the weighed kidney samples. The mixture was homogenized. To the test tubes containing 100  $\mu$ L of homogenized mixture, 100  $\mu$ L of 20  $\mu$ g/mL ibuprofen solution, 200  $\mu$ L of 0.6 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and 5 mL isooctane:iso-propanol (95:5) were added. The tubes were vortex-mixed for 30 seconds and centrifuged at 2500 g for 3 min. The organic layer was transferred into a clean tube and evaporated to dryness. The residue was dissolved in 200  $\mu$ L of mobile phase and a 150  $\mu$ L aliquot injected into the HPLC. The minimum detectable concentration of celecoxib in kidney was 100 ng/g and the CV was 15.5% (Table 3-2).

#### 3.2.6 Meloxicam Assay

A validated reverse-HPLC method (15) with some modifications was used to determine the concentration of meloxicam in plasma and kidney. Stock solutions were prepared by dissolving meloxicam (100  $\mu$ g/mL) and piroxicam as an internal standard (100  $\mu$ g/mL) in methanol. 100  $\mu$ L of blank rat plasma was spiked with various concentrations of meloxicam stock solutions to make the final concentrations of 50-100,000 ng/mL. Then, 200  $\mu$ L of 2  $\mu$ g/mL piroxicam solution, 200  $\mu$ L of 0.6 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, and 2 mL of chloroform were added to each tube. The tubes were vortex-mixed (2 min) and centrifuged for 2 minutes. 1 mL of the lower (organic) layer was removed and evaporated to dryness. The residue was dissolved in 100  $\mu$ L of mobile phase and a 50  $\mu$ L aliquot injected into the HPLC. The minimum detectable concentration of meloxicam in plasma was 0.5  $\mu$ g/mL and the CV was 5.9%.

For determination of meloxicam in the kidney, two volumes of HPLC grade-water were added to the weighed kidney samples. The mixture was homogenized for 45 seconds. Standards curve samples were prepared by adding 100  $\mu$ L of various concentrations of meloxicam stock solutions to 100  $\mu$ L of homogenized mixture to make the final concentrations of 50-100,000 ng/L. 100  $\mu$ L of 5  $\mu$ g/mL piroxicam solution, 200  $\mu$ L of 0.6 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, and 2 mL of chloroform were added to each tube. After vortex mixing and centrifuging of resultant, 1 mL of the lower (organic) layer was removed and evaporated to dryness. The residue was dissolved in 100  $\mu$ L of mobile phase and a 50  $\mu$ L aliquot injected into the HPLC. The minimum detectable concentration of meloxicam in kidney was 500 ng/g and the CV was 14.5% (Table 3-3).

#### 3.2.7 Neutron Activation Analysis of Urine Samples

Urine samples were analyzed for sodium and potassium using instrumental neutron activation analysis (INAA) at the University of Alberta SLOWPOKE Nuclear Reactor Facility. Calibration was performed using standard solutions of sodium chloride and potassium chloride. Sample and standards, measuring 250  $\mu$ L, were irradiated in batches at a nominal thermal neutron flux of 5 x 10<sup>11</sup> n cm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> for 10 minutes in one of the inner irradiation sites of the reactor. Following a decay period of approximately 24 h the activated samples were individually counted in a 10 centimeter (cm) Pb cave for 480

seconds (s) at a sample-to-detector distance of 2 cm using a 41.4% relative efficiency Princeton Gamma-Tech hyperpure Ge detector with a full-width half-maximum of 1.76 keV for the 1332.5 keV full energy peak of <sup>60</sup>Co. The Ge detector was connected to a PCbased Aptec multichannel analyzer card. Elemental analysis was performed by the semiabsolute method of activation analysis (16). Sodium was quantified using the 1368.6 keV gamma-ray emission of <sup>24</sup>Na (T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> = 14.959 h) produced *via* the neutron reaction <sup>23</sup>Na(n, $\gamma$ )<sup>24</sup>Na, while potassium was determined *via* the 1524.7 keV gamma-ray emission of <sup>42</sup>K (T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> = 12.36 h) produced *via* the neutron reaction <sup>41</sup>K(n, $\gamma$ )<sup>42</sup>K. Spectrometer busies were generally kept below ~10%, however, a Tennelec TC 813 pulse generator was used to correct for pulse pile-up effects (17).

#### **3.2.8 Data Treatment and Statistical Analysis**

Urinary electrolyte excretion rate ( $\mu$ mol/min/100g) were calculated from: C<sub>X</sub> + V<sub>X</sub> + 100 / T + W, where C<sub>X</sub> is the concentration of urine electrolyte (mmol/L), V<sub>X</sub> is the urine volume (mL), T is the urine collection time (min), and W is the weight of each rat (g). Urine flow rate (mL/h/100g) was estimated from: V<sub>X</sub> + 100 / T + W, where V<sub>X</sub> is the urine volume (mL), T is the urine collection time (h), and W is the weight of each rat (g). The values calculated for the baseline were compared with those of after treatment using the paired Student's t-test. The non-compartment model contained in WinNonlin, version 4.1 (Pharsight Corporation, California, USA) was used to estimate pharmacokinetic parameters. Linear regression analysis was performed to examine the relationship of kidney parameters and pharmacokinetic properties of rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. Data are expressed as mean ± SD.

#### **3.3 RESULTS**

The pairs comparison (baseline vs. treatment values) indicated that treatment with rofecoxib significantly decreased sodium (from  $0.33 \pm 0.14$  to  $0.21 \pm 0.11$  µmol/min/100g, p < 0.009) and potassium (from  $0.59 \pm 0.19$  to  $0.39 \pm 0.20$  µmol/min/100g, p < 0.02) excretion rates (Figure 3-1). Similarly, sodium and potassium excretion rates were significantly reduced in rats treated with celecoxib as compared with baseline values (from  $0.08 \pm 0.07$  to  $0.04 \pm 0.04$  µmol/min/100g, p < 0.032 and from  $0.42 \pm 0.18$  to  $0.18 \pm 0.14$  µmol/min/100g, p < 0.006, respectively (Figure 3-2). Meloxicam, on the other hand, significantly influence neither sodium ( $0.49 \pm 0.17$  vs.  $0.38 \pm 0.13$  µmol/min/100g, p > 0.3) nor potassium ( $0.55 \pm 0.20$  vs.  $0.53 \pm 0.15$  µmol/min/100g, p > 0.7) excretion (Figure 3-3). No significant change in sodium and potassium excretion was observed in the control group that received methyl cellulose solution as placebo, p > 0.078 and p > 0.86, respectively (Figure 3-4).

Figures 3-5, 3-6, and 3-7 depict plasma concentration-time curves of rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam, respectively, following oral administration. Table 3-4 depicts the analysis of pharmacokinetic data for rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam.

We found substantially higher ratios of 24-h post-dose kidney over plasma concentrations for rofecoxib and celecoxib group compared to that of meloxicam group (Figures 3-8, 3-9, and 3-10, respectively). The ratios were  $2.14 \pm 1.63$ ,  $3.61 \pm 2.34$ , and  $0.27 \pm 0.10$  for rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam, respectively.

A significant correlation was found between the area under the plasma concentration-time curve from time of dosing to 24 h post-dose (AUC<sub>0-24</sub>) of rofecoxib and the degree of sodium and potassium excretion change from baseline, r = -0.65 and r = -0.82, respectively (Figures 3-11 and 3-12). Although the 24-h post-dose plasma concentration was not correlated with the sodium excretion (p > 0.11, r = -0.45) (Figure 3-13), there was a significant correlation between those values and urinary potassium excretion (p < 0.03, r = -0.61) (Figure 3-14).

For celecoxib, significant correlations between AUC<sub>0-24</sub> of celecoxib and urinary sodium excretion change from baseline (p < 0.05, r = -0.80) (Figure 3-15) were found. Such a correlation was not significant when AUC<sub>0-24</sub> of celecoxib and urinary potassium excretion change from baseline were compared (p > 0.12, r = -0.60) (Figure 3-16). There were strong significant correlations between 24-h post-dose plasma concentrations of celecoxib and the degree of sodium and potassium excretion change from baseline, p < 0.04, r = -0.80 and p < 0.004, r = -0.90, respectively (Figures 3-17 and 3-18).

There was no significant correlation between AUC<sub>0-24</sub> of meloxicam and the degree of sodium and potassium excretion change from baseline, r = 0.46, p > 0.29 and r = 0.18, p > 0.69, respectively (Figures 3-19 and 3-20). Neither did the 24-h post-dose meloxicam plasma concentrations demonstrated a significant correlation with the degree of sodium or potassium excretion rates, r = 0.26, p > 0.57 and r = 0.02, p > 0.96, respectively (Figures 3-21 and 3-22).

#### **3.4 DISCUSSION**

In a recent study, we compared the effect of various NSAIDs on the urinary excretion of sodium and potassium in the rat (7). We found that rofecoxib, celecoxib, diclofenac, and flurbiprofen, but not meloxicam, significantly reduced electrolyte excretion. The effect, however, appeared to be independent of the COX-2 selectivity of the NSAIDs. For example, celecoxib and meloxicam possess close COX-2/COX-1 selectivity (18) but only

celecoxib exhibits significant renal effects. In this study, we confirmed our previous finding (7) that among the tested selective COX-2 inhibitors, rofecoxib and celecoxib, but not meloxicam, significantly decreased sodium and potassium excretion. A reduction in urinary electrolytes excretion due to treatment with NSAIDs has been shown in several other studies (19-21). Although the baseline values for sodium excretion reported in this study were varied among four groups ( $0.08 \pm 0.07$  to  $0.49 \pm 0.17 \mu$ mol/min/100g), these values were within the ranges reported by other authors ( $0.07 \pm 0.01 - 0.53 \pm 0.09 \mu$ mol/min/100g ) (22;23).

Several studies have suggested that both COX-1 and COX-2 are localized in the kidney of different species. COX-1 is distributed in the kidney of various mammalian species in relatively similar fashions. They are found in the renal vasculature, collecting ducts and papillary interstitial cells (24). Interestingly COX-2, that initially thought to be absent under healthy condition and be only expressed in response to inflammatory stimulation, is also found in healthy tissues (1). COX-2 is present in macula densa, thick ascending limbs, and papillary interstitial cells in rats and in glomerular podocytes and small blood vessels of human (25). A more recent study in humans has detected COX-2 in the macula densa of patients with congestive heart failure as well as those with Bartter-like syndrome (26). Vio et al. (27) have reported the expression of COX-2 in thick ascending limb cells of normal rat kidney. This is important in NaCl reabsorption mediated by Na-K-2Cl cotransporter and basolateral Na-K-ATPase. It has been shown that prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> inhibits Na-K-ATPase and consequently NaCl reabsorption (28). Accordingly, selective COX-2 inhibitors could alter sodium balance through the blockage of prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (PGE<sub>2</sub>) production in thick ascending limb, where COX-1 isozyme is

absent (27). Catella-Lawson et al. (29) have shown the involvement of COX-1 in regulation of GFR. They administered repeated doses of rofecoxib or indomethacin to healthy elderly subjects noticed significant reductions in the urinary sodium excretion within the first 72 h of both treatments. Since authors detected a reduction GFR but only after administration of indomethacin, and not rofecoxib, they suggested the effect on the GFR to be through the inhibition of COX-1 pathway.

Indomethacin caused a reversible hyperkalemia in a young woman with glomerulonephritis (30). Since hyperkalemia was accompanied by a decrease in PGE<sub>2</sub>, renin, and aldosterone, it was suggested that indomethacin exerted its effect by inhibition of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system. The use of COX-2 selective inhibitors also has been associated with hyperkalemia. Braden et al. (31) reported hyperkalemia in four oedematous patients who diagnosed with acute renal failure caused by rofecoxib or celecoxib administration. The hyporeninaemic hypoaldostronism was observed in those patient was contributed to the effect of COX-2-selective inhibitors in suppression of renin secretion. Furthermore, a reduction in potassium excretion was suggested to be secondary to reduced GFR which is known to be associated with NSAIDs therapy (32). This could be the result of inhibitory effect of NSAIDs on the production of vasodilatory prostaglandins, which increase the renal blood flow (33).

The observation that the renal effect of NSAIDs was independent of COX-2 selectivity (7) prompted us to hypothesize that the exposure of the kidneys to the drug also plays a role in this process. A comparison of three COX-2 selective NSAIDs revealed that rofecoxib and celecoxib, which reduce the electrolytes urinary excretion, are found in the kidney tissues approximately 2-3 folds greater than in plasma (Figures 3-8

and 3-9). On the other hand, meloxicam, which did not significantly influence the electrolytes excretion, was found in the kidney several fold less than in plasma (Figure 3-10). This observation lends support to the notion that the extent of exposure of the affected organ may play a role in the process. As shown in Figure 3-10, kidney/plasma concentration ratio of meloxicam is lower than other examined NSAIDs, whereas the kidney concentration of the drug is higher than others. This may be explained with the lower molar potency of meloxicam for COX-2 inhibition. The IC<sub>50</sub> for inhibition of COX-2 for meloxicam, rofecoxib, and celecoxib are reported to be 2.1, 0.84, and 0.83  $\mu$ M, respectively (18). Therefore, a higher concentration of meloxicam is needed to exert the same degree of effect. This emphasizes the importance of our finding that the extent of distribution of meloxicam in the kidney relative to the plasma concentration is much lower than that of rofecoxib and celecoxib. If meloxicam had followed the same pattern of distribution, as rofecoxib and celecoxib did, the concentration of drug in the kidney could had been several time higher, consequently it might have exerted the renal effects.

Exposure-dependent nephrotoxicity has been shown to be involved in some drugs of other classes such as cyclosporine A (34;35) and aminoglycosides (36-38). Moutabarrik et al. (34), who found nephrotoxicity of cyclosporine A to be associated with the drug concentration in the kidney, concluded that the accumulation of drug in the tubular cells of kidney caused disruption and consequently death of cells. Furthermore, Perez et al. (35) found cytotoxicity after exposing the kidney proximal tubule epithelial cells to cyclosporin A. Co-treatment with cilastatin, an inhibitor of transcellular transport of cyclosporin A, reduced the side effects presumably by decreasing the accumulation of cyclosporin A in the tubular cells. Schentag et al. (38) showed that the higher

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

concentration of gentamicin in the deep tissue compartment is associated with the higher degrees of decreased creatinine clearance. For both cyclosporine A and aminoglycosides, therefore, the links between plasma concentrations during the post-pseudoequilibrium phase and nephrotoxicity have been established. Indeed, this is the basis of therapeutic drug monitoring for these drugs. Similarly, we found some significant correlations between post-pseudoequilibrium plasma drug concentrations (24-h post-dose) and reduction in excretion of at least one electrolyte for both rofecoxib and celecoxib (Figures 3-11 to 3-18).

The 24-h post-dose concentration-effect relationship may be explained by assuming that the latter reflects the tissue concentration at the post-pseudoequilibrium hence, is a marker of the concentration in the affected tissue, similar to the aminoglycosides case (36-38). Indeed, there was no significant correlation between the observed urinary electrolyte excretions and 8-h post-dose plasma drug concentrations.

Meloxicam did not influence the electrolyte urinary excretion. Since the drug is an effective anti-inflammatory through inhibition of COX pathways, its lack of renal effect (Figure 3-3) may be explained by its limited distribution into the kidney (Figure 3-10). Indeed, no associations were found between the plasma drug concentrations and the urinary sodium or potassium excretions (Figure 3-19 to 3-22). This implies that in addition to be a COX inhibitor, an NSAID should have a relatively high extent of distribution into the kidney to influence the renal function.

Several explanations may be offered for the difference in distribution among the examined NSAIDs. Like other NSAIDs (39), rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam have a high degree of protein binding. Their bindings to protein have been reported to be 93, 91-

98, and 99% in rat, for rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam, respectively (40-42). There is also possibility of saturation of binding in higher concentration. Therefore, in absence of confirming data one cannot unequivocally rule out the involvement of protein binding in the observed different distribution of these drugs. Another explanation for the difference in the distribution of these drugs is the extent of ionization in biological media. Seedher and Bhatia (43) examined the solubility of rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam in the wide pH ranges. They observed the pH has only a limited influence on the solubility of rofecoxib and celecoxib. In contrast, aqueous solubility, hence, polarity of meloxicam increases with elevation of pH. This may limit the permeability of the drug into the cells and results in less kidney/plasma concentration ratio for meloxicam as compared with other two NSAIDs.

Davies and Jamali (1) have suggested that the physiochemical properties and pharmacokinetic parameters of rofecoxib may be involved in the cardiovascular events associated with the drug. The present data suggest that the renal effects of rofecoxib and celecoxib is related to their pharmacokinetics. It is worthy to note that some other effects of NSAIDs have been shown also to be pharmacokinetic-dependent. Both the analgesic (44;45) and anti-inflammatory (46;47) effects of some NSAIDs significantly correlate with their plasma concentration. Vakily et al. (48) have shown the higher concentrations of tiaprofenic acid in the effect compartment increases the intestinal permeability, suggesting that there is a relationship between the concentration and gastrointestinal toxicity.

In agreement with our study, Halpin et al. (40) have reported higher concentrations of rofecoxib in the kidney compared to that of plasma after intravenous

administration of rofecoxib at 2 mg/kg to the rat. However, we noticed that the range of the pharmacokinetic data, following oral administration of 10 mg/kg rofecoxib, in our experiment is different from what reported by the authors. For example,  $AUC_{0-24}$  and peak plasma level ( $C_{max}$ ) are reported to be 2963 ng.h/mL and 400 ng/mL, respectively, whereas, our data indicate that the  $AUC_{0-24}$  and  $C_{max}$  values to be 29800 ng.h/mL and 3180 ng.h/mL, respectively. We cannot explain this discrepancy. Nevertheless, the  $C_{max}$  values observed by Sattari and Jamali (13), 640-1200 ng/mL, following oral administration of 5 mg/kg rofecoxib, fall between two sets of data.

In this study, animals were deprived of food since the night before and during the urine collection period after the administration of the drug. The latter was done to avoid contamination of urine with food and the potential increase in electrolytes content. To limit the period of food deprivation, we chose to collect urine for only 8 h. Our preliminary data indicated that the 8 h collection period was sufficient to reflect the change in electrolyte excretion post-NSAID-dose.

The interpretation of relations depicted in Figures 3-15 and 3-16 for celecoxib regarding AUC vs. electrolyte excretion needs extra attention, as they are each based on only 5 data points. This was because we did not collect serial blood samples in all animals to construct AUCs. However, we had more number of data points to compare 24-h celecoxib plasma concentration vs. electrolytes excretion (Figures 3-17 and 3-18).

As shown in Tables 3-1, 3-2, and 3-3, the error of our experiment to measure the concentration of the drugs in the kidney is relatively high. Therefore, these data should be considered with caution.

In summary, single doses of rofecoxib and celecoxib are associated with renal side effects as demonstrated by decreased sodium and potassium excretions. This effect is well correlated with the drug concentration in the systemic circulation. Accumulation of the examined drugs in the kidney tissue may play a role to producing the adverse effect.

Table 3-1.	Coefficient	of variation	and accu	aracy for the	e rofecoxib	assay in th	ie rat kidney
(n=3).							

Added concentration (ng/g)	Measured concentration (ng/g)	CV*(%)	Accuracy**(%)
50	45.6	19.0	91.2
100	93.5	8.3	93.5
250	257.3	14.5	102.9
500	564.3	20.8	112.9
1000	1021.4	8.0	102.1
5000	4975.2	1.1	99.5

\*Expressed as [(standard deviation of measured concentration)/(mean of measured

### concentration)]x100

\*\* Expressed as [(mean of measured concentration)/(added concentration)]x100

Table 3-2.	Coefficient	of variation	and	accuracy	for the	e celecoxib	assay	in the	rat kid	ney
(n=3).										

Added concentration (ng/g)	Measured concentration (ng/g)	CV*(%)	Accuracy**(%)
100	88.0	3.6	86.0
250	113.7	9.3	42.8
500	329.6	11.9	69.7
1000	1145.5	3.9	111.7
1000	767.2	15.5	76.7
2500	2132.6	5.0	85.3
5000	3941.4	3.3	78.8
10000	8448.3	8.0	84.5
25000	21704.8	5.9	86.8
50000	44064.5	4.1	88.1
100000	102932.3	1.8	102.9

\*Expressed as [(standard deviation of measured concentration)/(mean of measured

### concentration)]x100

\*\* Expressed as [(mean of measured concentration)/(added concentration)]x100
Table 3-3. Coefficient of variation and accuracy for the meloxicam assay in the rat kidney (n=3).

Added concentration (ng/g)	Measured concentration (ng/g)	CV*(%)	Accuracy**(%)
500	665.3	12.0	133.1
1000	1208.7	11.4	120.9
5000	5516.8	10.4	110.3
10000	10997.0	14.5	110.0
50000	53930.0	12.1	107.9
100000	100827.5	6.9	100.8

\*Expressed as [(standard deviation of measured concentration)/(mean of measured

# concentration)]x100

\*\* Expressed as [(mean of measured concentration)/(added concentration)]x100

**Table 3-4.** Pharmacokinetic parameters of rofecoxib (10 mg/kg), celecoxib (40 mg/kg), or meloxicam (3 mg/kg) following oral administration of a single dose.

	Drug		
Parameter	Rofecoxib (n=13)	Celecoxib (n=5)	Meloxicam (n=7)
AUC0-24 (µg.h/mL)	29.8 ± 10.3	59.1 ± 18.0	319 ± 124
C <sub>max</sub> (µg/mL)	3.18 ± 1.73	4.58 ± 1.34	18.3 ± 6.47
t <sub>max</sub> (h)	3.38 ± 1.43	6.40 ± 1.67	4.75 ± 3.75
t1/2 (h)	7.42 ± 4.48	5.59 ± 1.34	74.4 ± 9.74*

Note: The values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation

\*Apparent t1/2

\*Expressed as [(standard deviation of measured concentration)/(mean measured

concentration)]x100

\*\* Expressed as [(mean measured concentration)/(added concentration)]x100



Figure 3-1. Electrolyte excretion/100g bodyweight after administration of rofecoxib (10 mg/kg, n=13).

\*Significantly different from baseline (P < 0.05).

\*\*Significantly different from baseline (P < 0.01).



**Figure 3-2**. Electrolyte excretion/100g bodyweight after administration of celecoxib (40 mg/kg, n=7).

\*Significantly different from baseline (P < 0.05).

\*\*Significantly different from baseline (P < 0.01).



Figure 3-3. Electrolyte excretion/100g bodyweight after administration of meloxicam (3 mg/kg, n=7).

\*Significantly different from baseline (P < 0.05).

\*\*Significantly different from baseline (P < 0.01).





\*Significantly different from baseline (P < 0.05).

\*\*Significantly different from baseline (P < 0.01).



Figure 3-5. Plasma concentration-time profile of rofecoxib in the rat following a 10 mg/kg oral dose (n=13).



**Figure 3-6.** Plasma concentration-time profile of celecoxib in the rat following a 40 mg/kg oral dose (n=5).



Figure 3-7. Plasma concentration-time profile of meloxicam in the rat following a 3 mg/kg oral dose (n=7).



Figure 3-8. 24-h post-dose concentrations of rofecoxib in plasma and kidney of rats following a 10 mg/kg oral dose (n=13).



Figure 3-9. 24-h post-dose concentrations of celecoxib in plasma and kidney of rats following a 40 mg/kg oral dose (n=7).



Figure 3-10. 24-h post-dose concentrations of meloxicam in plasma and kidney of rats following a 3 mg/kg oral dose (n=6).



Figure 3-11. Correlation of  $AUC_{0-24}$  with sodium excretion change from baseline for rofecoxib.



Figure 3-12. Correlation of  $AUC_{0-24}$  with potassium excretion change from baseline for rofecoxib.



Figure 3-13. Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with sodium excretion change from baseline for rofecoxib.



**Figure 3-14.** Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with potassium excretion change from baseline for rofecoxib.



Figure 3-15. Correlation of  $AUC_{0-24}^{\dagger}$  with sodium excretion change from baseline for celecoxib.

<sup>†</sup>Calculated for five rats



Figure 3-16. Correlation of  $AUC_{0-24}^{\dagger}$  with potassium excretion change from baseline for celecoxib.

<sup>†</sup>Calculated for five rats



**Figure 3-17**. Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with sodium excretion change from baseline for celecoxib.



**Figure 3-18.** Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with potassium excretion change from baseline for celecoxib.



Figure 3-19. Correlation of  $AUC_{0-24}$  with sodium excretion change from baseline for meloxicam



Figure 3-20. Correlation of  $AUC_{0-24}$  with potassium excretion change from baseline for meloxicam.



**Figure 3-21.** Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with sodium excretion change from baseline for meloxicam.



**Figure 3-22.** Correlation of 24-h post-dose plasma concentration with potassium excretion change from baseline for meloxicam

# 3.5 Reference

- (1) Davies NM, Jamali F. COX-2 selective inhibitors cardiac toxicity: getting to the heart of the matter. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2004; 7(3):332-6.
- (2) Fenton C, Keating GM, Wagstaff AJ. Valdecoxib: a review of its use in the management of osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, dysmenorrhoea and acute pain. Drugs 2004; 64(11):1231-61.
- (3) McMurray RW, Hardy KJ. Cox-2 inhibitors: today and tomorrow. Am J Med Sci 2002; 323(4):181-9.
- (4) Dequeker J, Hawkey C, Kahan A, Steinbruck K, Alegre C, Baumelou E et al. Improvement in gastrointestinal tolerability of the selective cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 inhibitor, meloxicam, compared with piroxicam: results of the Safety and Efficacy Large-scale Evaluation of COX-inhibiting Therapies (SELECT) trial in osteoarthritis. Br J Rheumatol 1998; 37(9):946-51.
- (5) Hutchison R. COX-2--selective NSAIDs. Am J Nurs 2004; 104(3):52-5.
- (6) Brater DC. Renal effects of cyclooxygyenase-2-selective inhibitors. J Pain Symptom Manage 2002; 23(4 Suppl):S15-S20.
- (7) Harirforoosh S, Jamali F. Effect of Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs with Varying Extent of COX-2/COX-1 Selectivity on Urinary Sodium and Potassium Excretion in the Rat. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 2005; 83:85-90.
- (8) Cheng HF, Harris RC. Cyclooxygenases, the kidney, and hypertension. Hypertension 2004; 43(3):525-30.
- (9) Brater DC. Effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on renal function: focus on cyclooxygenase-2-selective inhibition. Am J Med 1999; 107(6A):65S-70S.
- (10) Alderman M, Sealey J, Cohen H, Madhavan S, Laragh J. Urinary sodium excretion and myocardial infarction in hypertensive patients: a prospective cohort study. Am J Clin Nutr 1997; 65(2 Suppl):682S-6S.
- (11) Sandhu GK, Heyneman CA. Nephrotoxic potential of selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors. Ann Pharmacother 2004; 38(4):700-4.
- (12) Canadian Pharmacists Association. Compendium of Pharmaceutical and Specialties. The Canadian Drug Reference for Health Professionals. Ottawa: 2003.
- (13) Jamali F, Sattari S. High performance liquid chromatographic determination of cyclooxygenase II inhibitor rofecoxib in rat and human plasma. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2000; 3(3):312-7.
- (14) Guirguis MS, Sattari S, Jamali F. Pharmacokinetics of celecoxib in the presence and absence of interferon-induced acute inflammation in the rat: application of a novel HPLC assay. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2001; 4(1):1-6.
- (15) Velpandian T, Jaiswal J, Bhardwaj RK, Gupta SK. Development and validation of a new high-performance liquid chromatographic estimation method of meloxicam in biological samples. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 2000; 738(2):431-6.
- (16) Bergerioux C, Kennedy G, Zikovosky L. Use of the semi-absolute method in neutron activation analysis. J Radioanal Chem 1979; 50:229-34.

- (17) Wyttenbach A. Coincidence losses in activation analysis. J Radioanal Chem 1971; 8:335-43.
- (18) Warner TD, Giuliano F, Vojnovic I, Bukasa A, Mitchell JA, Vane JR. Nonsteroid drug selectivities for cyclo-oxygenase-1 rather than cyclo-oxygenase-2 are associated with human gastrointestinal toxicity: a full in vitro analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96(13):7563-8.
- (19) Power I, Cumming AD, Pugh GC. Effect of diclofenac on renal function and prostacyclin generation after surgery. Br J Anaesth 1992; 69(5):451-6.
- (20) Murray MD, Lazaridis EN, Brizendine E, Haag K, Becker P, Brater DC. The effect of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs on electrolyte homeostasis and blood pressure in young and elderly persons with and without renal insufficiency. Am J Med Sci 1997; 314(2):80-8.
- (21) Lee J, Kim SW, Jung TK, Oh Y, Park CS, Ma SK et al. Indomethacin decreases particulate guanylyl cyclase activity in rat kidney. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2004; 31(4):207-11.
- (22) Kim SW, Kim JW, Choi KC, Ma SK, Oh Y, Jung JY et al. Indomethacin enhances shuttling of aquaporin-2 despite decreased abundance in rat kidney. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004; 15(12):2998-3005.
- (23) Szczepanska-Sadowska E, Paczwa P, Dobruch J. Enhanced food and water intake in renin transgenic rats. J Physiol Pharmacol 2003; 54(1):81-8.
- (24) Sellers RS, Senese PB, Khan KN. Interspecies differences in the nephrotoxic response to cyclooxygenase inhibition. Drug Chem Toxicol 2004; 27(2):111-22.
- (25) Khan KN, Venturini CM, Bunch RT, Brassard JA, Koki AT, Morris DL et al. Interspecies differences in renal localization of cyclooxygenase isoforms: implications in nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug-related nephrotoxicity. Toxicol Pathol 1998; 26(5):612-20.
- (26) Komhoff M, Jeck ND, Seyberth HW, Grone HJ, Nusing RM, Breyer MD. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression is associated with the renal macula densa of patients with Bartter-like syndrome. Kidney Int 2000; 58(6):2420-4.
- (27) Vio CP, Cespedes C, Gallardo P, Masferrer JL. Renal identification of cyclooxygenase-2 in a subset of thick ascending limb cells. Hypertension 1997; 30(3 Pt 2):687-92.
- (28) Lear S, Silva P, Kelley VE, Epstein FH. Prostaglandin E2 inhibits oxygen consumption in rabbit medullary thick ascending limb. Am J Physiol 1990; 258(5 Pt 2):F1372-F1378.
- (29) Catella-Lawson F, McAdam B, Morrison BW, Kapoor S, Kujubu D, Antes L et al. Effects of specific inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 on sodium balance, hemodynamics, and vasoactive eicosanoids. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1999; 289(2):735-41.
- (30) Tan SY, Shapiro R, Franco R, Stockard H, Mulrow PJ. Indomethacin-induced prostaglandin inhibition with hyperkalemia. A reversible cause of hyporeninemic hypoaldosteronism. Ann Intern Med 1979; 90(5):783-5.
- (31) Braden GL, O'Shea MH, Mulhern JG, Germain MJ. Acute renal failure and hyperkalaemia associated with cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19(5):1149-53.

- (32) Breyer MD, Harris RC. Cyclooxygenase 2 and the kidney. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2001; 10(1):89-98.
- (33) Whelton A, Hamilton CW. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: effects on kidney function. J Clin Pharmacol 1991; 31(7):588-98.
- (34) Moutabarrik A, Ishibashi M, Kameoka H, Kawaguchi N, Takano Y, Kokado Y et al. In vitro FK506 kidney tubular cell toxicity. Transpl Int 1992; 5 Suppl 1:S87-S92.
- (35) Perez M, Castilla M, Torres AM, Lazaro JA, Sarmiento E, Tejedor A. Inhibition of brush border dipeptidase with cilastatin reduces toxic accumulation of cyclosporin A in kidney proximal tubule epithelial cells. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19(10):2445-55.
- (36) Dellinger P, Murphy T, Pinn V, Barza M, Weinstein L. Protective effect of cephalothin against gentamincin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1976; 9(1):172-8.
- (37) Schentag JJ, Jusko WJ, Plaut ME, Cumbo TJ, Vance JW, Abrutyn E. Tissue persistence of gentamicin in man. JAMA 1977; 238(4):327-9.
- (38) Schentag JJ, Cumbo TJ, Jusko WJ, Plaut ME. Gentamicin tissue accumulation and nephrotoxic reactions. JAMA 1978; 240(19):2067-9.
- (39) Lin JH, Cocchetto DM, Duggan DE. Protein binding as a primary determinant of the clinical pharmacokinetic properties of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Clin Pharmacokinet 1987; 12(6):402-32.
- (40) Halpin RA, Geer LA, Zhang KE, Marks TM, Dean DC, Jones AN et al. The absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of rofecoxib, a potent and selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in rats and dogs. Drug Metab Dispos 2000; 28(10):1244-54.
- (41) Paulson SK, Kaprak TA, Gresk CJ, Fast DM, Baratta MT, Burton EG et al. Plasma protein binding of celecoxib in mice, rat, rabbit, dog and human. Biopharm Drug Dispos 1999; 20(6):293-9.
- (42) Busch U, Schmid J, Heinzel G, Schmaus H, Baierl J, Huber C et al. Pharmacokinetics of meloxicam in animals and the relevance to humans. Drug Metab Dispos 1998; 26(6):576-84.
- (43) Seedher N, Bhatia S. Solubility enhancement of Cox-2 inhibitors using various solvent systems. AAPS PharmSciTech 2003; 4(3):E33.
- (44) Laska EM, Sunshine A, Marrero I, Olson N, Siegel C, McCormick N. The correlation between blood levels of ibuprofen and clinical analgesic response. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1986; 40(1):1-7.
- (45) Jamali F, Kunz-Dober CM. Pain-mediated altered absorption and metabolism of ibuprofen: an explanation for decreased serum enantiomer concentration after dental surgery. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 47(4):391-6.
- (46) Day RO, Furst DE, Dromgoole SH, Kamm B, Roe R, Paulus HE. Relationship of serum naproxen concentration to efficacy in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1982; 31(6):733-40.
- (47) Jamali F, Brocks DR. Clinical pharmacokinetics of ketoprofen and its enantiomers. Clin Pharmacokinet 1990; 19(3):197-217.

(48) Vakily M, Khorasheh F, Jamali F. Dependency of gastrointestinal toxicity on release rate of tiaprofenic acid: a novel pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic model. Pharm Res 1999; 16(1):123-9.

# Chapter 4<sup>4</sup>

# Effect of Inflammation on Kidney Function and Pharmacokinetics of Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs, with Different COX-2 Selectivity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This chapter is dealt with three hypotheses that inflammation changes the kidney function, inflammation influences the pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib, and the distribution of drug into the kidney is altered by inflammation.

#### **4.1 INTRODUCTION**

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is an autoimmune disease which targets joints and results in pain, inflammation, and disability (1). It is estimated that RA occurs in 1% of population (2).

Boers et al. (3) who studied the effect of inflammation on kidney function of 35 arthritic patient, reported a decrease in glomerular filtration rate (GFR), elevated urinary tubular enzyme levels, and proteinuria in some patients. Although the patients who were taking known nephrotoxic drugs other than drug used for the treatment of RA were excluded from the study, the authors did not rule out the possibility of the influence of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) or disease-modifying drugs on kidney function. Since it is difficult to find patients diagnosed with RA who are not treated with the latter drug, it is reasonable to use animal models of arthritis to study the effect of inflammation on the kidney function. Moreover, it is known that NSAIDs alter sodium and potassium excretion (4). Accordingly, we examined the effect of inflammation on urinary electrolyte excretion in rats. In addition, we looked at the effect of inflammation on total protein, plasma creatinine, and blood urea nitrogen (BUN).

The literature contains many reports describing the effect of inflammation on the pharmacokinetics of drugs (5-9). Many arthritic patients take nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). Since the change in pharmacokinetics of drugs may have therapeutic consequences (5), we investigated the effect of inflammation on the pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib and meloxicam. In order to induce inflammation in rats, we used the pre-adjuvant arthritis model established by Ling and Jamali (8). We chose

118

this model because the animals were exposed to less pain and anxiety compared with the other chronic models of inflammation.

The other aim of this study was to investigate whether inflammation changes the extent of distribution of selective cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors into the kidney. Recently, we have shown that renal effects of selective COX-2 inhibitors, rofecoxib and celecoxib, are explained by their pattern of distribution into the kidney. Our unpublished data shows that altered sodium excretion, caused by rofecoxib and celecoxib treatment, is associated with the accumulation of drug in the kidney of rats. We have shown that renal effects of NSAIDs are correlated with 24-h plasma concentrations of those drugs.

Didier et al. (10) reported that tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and endothelin-1 (ET-1) induced the breakdown of human brain microvascular endothelial cells that were co-cultured with astrocytes, suggestive of an increase in permeability into the brain. Although the structures of kidney and brain membranes are different, we examined the possibility that inflammation may change the distribution of NSAIDs into the kidney.

# **4.2 METHODS**

#### 4.2.1 Chemicals

Tablets of rofecoxib (Vioxx®; Merck Frosst, QC, Canada) and meloxicam (Mobicox®; Boehringer Ingelheim, ON, Canada) were obtained from a local pharmacy in Edmonton. Meloxicam powder was purchased from Unichem Laboratories Limited (Mumbai, India). All solvents were HPLC-grade and purchased from Caledon Laboratories Ltd. (Georgetown, ON, Canada). Methyl cellulose 4000 and ortho-phosphoric acid were purchased from BDH pharmaceuticals (Toronto, ON, Canada). *Asperigillus* nitrate reductase, sodium nitrate, sodium nitrite, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate,

119

lactate dehydrogenase, flavin adenine dinucleotide, pyruvic acid, N-(1naphthyl)ethylenediamine, and sulfanilamide were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). Hepes was purchased from FisherBiotech (Fair Lawn, NJ, USA). *Mycobacterium butyricum* was purchased from Difco Laboratories (Detroit, Michigan, USA). The immunoassay kit for measurement of TNF-α was purchased from BioSource International (Camarillo, California, USA).

#### 4.2.2 Dosage Forms and Administration

Tablets of Vioxx or Mobicox were crushed to make a fine powder, suspended in 0.5% methyl cellulose suspension, and administered via gastric intubations.

#### 4.2.3 Experimental Design and Sample Collection

All experiments were performed on male Sprague-Dawley rats (270-300 g) and carried out within the guidelines of the Animal Care Committee of University of Alberta.

In order to test the baseline urine volume, sodium and potassium excretion, urine samples were collected 0 to 8 hours on day 0. In order to measure the baseline nitrite, TNF-α, total protein, plasma creatinine, and BUN, blood samples were collected via tail vein. After urine and blood collection, rats were randomly divided into 6 groups (n=6 or 7). Group PL/CONT, MEL/CONT, and ROF/CONT received 0.2 mL of sterile normal saline into the ischiadic lymph node at the tail base. Group PL/INF, MEL/INF, and ROF/INF received 0.2 mL of a 50 mg/mL of heat killed *Mycobacterium butyricum*, suspended in squalene, into the ischiadic lymph node at the tail base. The animals were then transferred to standard rat cages, fed with standard commercial rat chow, and housed at ambient temperature and humidity with a 12 h light-dark cycle.

On day 9, blood samples were collected via the tail vein. On day 12, a silastic catheter was inserted into the right jugular vein of rats anesthetized by halothane. Rats were then allowed to recover overnight.

On day 13, groups PL/CONT and PL/INF received methyl cellulose, MEL/CONT and MEL/INF received meloxicam, 3 mg/kg; and ROF/CONT and ROF/INF received rofecoxib, 10 mg/kg. Rats were then transferred to metabolic cages. Blood samples (0, 0.25, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 24 hour in group MEL/CONT, MEL/INF, ROF/CONT and ROF/INF; 24 hours in group PL/CONT and PL/INF) were collected. Urine was collected up to 8 hours. On day 14, rats were sacrificed and kidneys were excised and stored at -70° C until analyzed.

The dose of rofecoxib (10 mg/kg) and meloxicam (3 mg/kg) was chosen based on the result our previous study (11).

#### 4.2.4 Total Protein, BUN and Plasma Creatinine Analysis

A Vet Test 8008 analyzer (Idexx Laboratories Inc, Westbrook, MA) determined total protein, BUN and plasma creatinine. The basis of analysis is based on a 'dry' chemistry analyzer system. Briefly, the biochemical reactions are occurred on films, supplied by the manufacturer. Then, an optical device is used to measure the intensity of reaction.

#### 4.2.5 Nitrite Assay

Nitrite was measured in plasma of all rats using a method reported by Grisham et al. (12). Briefly, 100  $\mu$ L of plasma was incubated with *Asperigillus* nitrate reductase and treated with flavine adenine dinucleotide, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate dehydrogenase to reduce all nitrate to nitrite. Then, lactate dehydrogenase and pyruvic acid were added. Finally, the samples were treated with the Griess reagent, and the absorbance was measured at 540 nm using a Powerwave x 340 plate reader (Bio-Tek Instruments, Fisher Scientific). Calibration was performed using standard solutions of sodium nitrate and sodium nitrite.

# 4.2.6 TNF-α Analysis

TNF- $\alpha$  was determined using an immunoassay kit (rat TNF- $\alpha$  enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Standard curves were used to determine the amount of TNF- $\alpha$  in plasma. The minimum detectable concentration was less than 4 pg/mL.

#### 4.2.7 Rofecoxib and Meloxicam Assays

Rofecoxib and meloxicam concentrations were determined in plasma and kidney using the validated reverse-phase HPLC methods described in chapter 3 (pages 73-74 and 75-76).

#### 4.2.8 Electrolytes Analysis

Urine samples were analyzed for sodium and potassium using instrumental neutron activation analysis as previously described in chapter 3 (pages 76-77).

#### 4.2.9 Data Treatment and Statistical Analysis

Urinary electrolyte excretion ( $\mu$ mol/min) was calculated from: C<sub>X</sub> \* V<sub>X</sub> / T, where C<sub>X</sub> is the concentration of urine electrolyte (mmol/L), V<sub>X</sub> is the urine volume (mL), and T is the urine collection time (min). Urine flow rate (mL/h) was estimated from: V<sub>X</sub> / T, where V<sub>X</sub> is the urine volume (mL) and T is the urine collection time (h). The non-compartment model contained in WinNonlin, version 4.1 (Pharsight Corporation, California, USA) was used to estimate pharmacokinetic parameters. Pharmacokinetic parameters and kidney/plasma concentration ratios calculated for the inflamed groups treated with rofecoxib or meloxicam were compared with those of respective controls using the twotailed Student t-test. Renal data were analyzed using the PROC MIXED procedure of SAS (SAS Inst., Inc., Cary, NC). Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. All data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

#### **4.3 RESULTS**

# 4.3.1 The Presence of Inflammation

The presence of inflammation was confirmed with a significant increase in plasma concentrations of nitrite in groups PL/INF, MEL/INF, and ROF/INF on day 9 compared with the baseline values ( $53.7 \pm 20.5 \text{ vs.} 28.2 \pm 12.2$ ,  $88.4 \pm 7.74 \text{ vs.} 33.3 \pm 17.6$ , and  $54.2 \pm 18.4 \text{ vs.} 28.2 \pm 12.3 \mu \text{mol/L}$ , respectively) (Figure 4-1). As shown in Figure 4-1, nitrite concentrations in groups PL/INF, MEL/INF, and ROF/INF on day 13 were also significantly higher than baseline values ( $51.3 \pm 11.0 \text{ vs.} 28.2 \pm 12.2$ ,  $65.8 \pm 14.8 \text{ vs.} 33.3 \pm 17.6$ , and  $45.4 \pm 16.8 \text{ vs.} 28.2 \pm 12.3 \mu \text{mol/L}$ , respectively) (Figure 4-1). TNF- $\alpha$  concentration increased significantly in group MEL/INF ( $12.7 \pm 3.70 \text{ vs.} 4.12 \pm 1.17 \text{ pg/mL}$ ) on day 9 and in groups MEL/INF, and ROF/INF on day 13 ( $14.55 \pm 3.73 \text{ vs.} 4.12 \pm 1.17 \text{ and } 15.2 \pm 10.42 \text{ vs.} 6.87 \pm 3.92 \text{ pg/mL}$ , respectively) compared with those of baseline values (Figure 4-2).

#### 4.3.2 Effects on Body Weight

On day 9, average weight of rats in inflamed groups was significantly less than control group, while no meaningful change was seen between control group and two groups did not receive adjuvant. On the thirteenth day of experiment, there was a significant difference between the average weight of control group and inflamed groups (Table 4-1).

# 4.3.3 The Effect of Inflammation on Kidney Function

The results of BUN, plasma creatinine, and total protein for all groups are presented in Table 4-2. Compared with baseline values, mean BUN was significantly increased in groups PL/INF and ROF/INF on day 9 (p < 0.0001 and p < 0.0007, respectively) and in groups MEL/INF (p < 0.0007) on day 13. For plasma creatinine, the difference from baseline was significant in all inflamed groups on days 9 and 13. Total protein was not affected by inflammation. The values ranged from  $51.8 \pm 1.64$  to  $54.3 \pm 2.14$ ,  $50.8 \pm 1.60$ to  $55.0 \pm 1.67$ , and  $51.8 \pm 4.75$  to  $56.8 \pm 2.32$  g/L on days 0, 9, and 13, respectively.

#### 4.3.4 Effects on Urinary Electrolyte Excretion and Urine Flow Rate

Table 4-3 summarizes the results of urine flow rate and sodium and potassium excretion. Inflammation elevated urine output in inflamed rats that did not receive any drug. Treatment with rofecoxib significantly decreased sodium excretion rate in normal (p < 0.011) and inflamed (p < 0.005) rats. Also, potassium excretion was significantly decreased in normal rats received rofecoxib (p < 0.023). There was no change in urinary sodium and potassium excretion and urine flow rate in rats receiving meloxicam.
#### 4.3.5 The Effect of Inflammation on Pharmacokinetics Parameters

Examining the plasma concentration-time profile of rofecoxib (Figure 4-3), a delay in the time to reach peak plasma level ( $t_{max}$ ) was observed in the inflamed rats. Table 4-4 summarizes the pharmacokinetic parameters of rofecoxib in the absence and presence of inflammation. Inflammation caused a significant decrease (30%) in oral clearance of rofecoxib (p < 0.006). As a result, the area under the plasma concentration-time curve from time of dosing to 24 h post-dose (AUC<sub>0-24</sub>) of drug was significantly increased in inflamed rats (p < 0.004). However, terminal elimination half-life ( $t_{1/2}$ ) and apparent volume of distribution (V<sub>d</sub>) were not significantly altered by inflammation.

Figure 4-4 shows the plasma concentration-time curve of meloxicam. Inflammation did not affect the pharmacokinetic parameters of meloxicam (Table 4-5). Terminal elimination  $t_{1/2}$ , oral clearance (CL), and apparent V<sub>d</sub> of meloxicam were not estimated due to insufficient data in time of elimination.

# 4.3.6 The Effect of Inflammation on the Distribution of Rofecoxib and Meloxicam into the Kidney

Although the concentrations of rofecoxib in kidney and plasma were higher in inflamed rats compared with those of normal rats, the ratios of kidney/plasma concentration were not significantly different (p > 0.79) between the two groups (Figure 4-5). There was no significant difference (p > 0.14) in the ratio of kidney/plasma concentration of meloxicam in normal and inflamed rats (Figure 4-6).

#### **4.4 DISCUSSION**

It has been shown that the levels of nitric oxide (13) and TNF- $\alpha$  (14) increase in RA patients. Mayo et al. (6) have reported a significant correlation between the severity of disease and concentrations of nitrite in serum. We also found a significant increase in concentrations of nitrite on days 9 or 13 post treatment with adjuvant that confirms the presence of inflammation in those groups (Figure 4-1). In this study, we have shown that TNF- $\alpha$  concentrations significantly increased in groups MEL/INF, on days 9 and 13, and ROF/INF, on day 13 (Figure 4-2) compared with baseline values. Although TNF- $\alpha$  concentration elevated on days 9 and 13 post-injection in groups PL/INF, the values did not reach significance. In addition, the weight of inflamed rats was significantly less than control group on day 9 and 13.

This study provides the evidence that kidney dysfunction occurs in rats inflamed with adjuvant. In order to assess GFR in normal and inflamed rats, we measured the levels of creatinine and BUN concentrations in the rat plasma. Both plasma creatinine (15) and BUN (16) reflect the GFR. In agreement with the result of earlier study (17), we observed an increase in plasma creatinine on day 9 and 13 (Table 4-2). In addition, the levels of BUN increased in inflamed rats after induction of inflammation on day 9 or 13 (Table 4-2). Accordingly, we provided evidence indicating inflammation causes altered renal function.

Although Dijoseph et al. (17) have reported an increase in urine output as a result of inflammation, the result of our study showed that urine output was increased in only one group (group PL/INF) (Table 4-3). The discrepancy between the result of that study and ours is most likely due to the difference in the models of inflammation used by two

studies. It is probable that the severity of inflammation associated with the adjuvantinduced arthritic used by Dijoseph et al. (17) is different from our model, pre-adjuvant arthritis. The other plausible explanation might be a difference in the length of experiments. They have noticed the significance on day 16 of experiment, while we continued the experiment only for 13 days.

In this study, we investigated the effect of inflammation on the total protein concentrations, as well. We did not detect any change in total protein on day 9 or 13 in normal or inflamed rats (Table 4-2). Besides, treatment with rofecoxib or meloxicam did not affect those concentrations. The unchanged concentrations of total protein could provide evidence that the pre-adjuvant arthritis, similar to the adjuvant-induced arthritis, is not a form of nephritic syndrome which is characterized by massive proteinuria (17). In our model of study, the degree of injury was not sufficient to produce protein leakage.

As it is shown in Table 4-3, while sodium and potassium excretion rates were not altered by inflammation, treatment with rofecoxib significantly decreased sodium excretion rate in normal and inflamed rats. Potassium excretion rate was decreased in normal rats treated with rofecoxib. The mechanisms underlying renal effects of NSAIDs are well documented in the literature. A decrease in GFR has been linked to the inhibition of COX-1 after administration of indomethacin to healthy elderly subjects (18). Whereas, the expression of COX-2 in thick ascending limb cells containing Na-K-ATPase proposes a role for the enzyme in regulation of sodium in rat kidney (19-21). NSAIDs may change potassium balance by suppression of the renin–aldosterone axis and/or a reduction in GFR (22). In spite of GFR alteration, confirmed by BUN and plasma creatinine elevation (Table 4-2), our results did not reveal any change in sodium and potassium excretion rate

after induction of inflammation. One explanation could be that the extent of glomerular damage and/or the period of experiment were not adequate to see the change. Also, we did not perform any test to evaluate the tubular damage to the kidney. Since sodium and potassium are exchanged in renal tubules, further studies are needed to investigate the possible tubular damage to the kidney.

Electrolyte excretion was altered by rofecoxib, but not meloxicam, on day 13 (Table 4-3). This study confirms the result of the previous study that we compared the effect of various NSAIDs on the urinary excretion of sodium and potassium in the rat (11) (Chapter 2). We found that rofecoxib, celecoxib, diclofenac, and flurbiprofen but not meloxicam significantly reduced the electrolytes excretion.

We have also shown that inflammation altered the pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib (Table 4-4), but not meloxicam (Table 4-5). It has been reported that inflammatory conditions alter the clearance of drugs which are mainly metabolized in the liver (23). In order to calculate hepatic extraction ratio of rofecoxib in the rat, we used pharmacokinetic data, after intravenous administration, reported by Halpin et al. (24). Based on their data, rofecoxib can be considered as an intermediate extraction ratio drug ( $E \approx 0.50-0.55$ ). For a drug that undergoes first pass metabolism, shows linear pharmacokinetic profile, and has complete absorption, systemic availability is calculated from  $F = Q / (Q + CL_1)$ , where Q is the hepatic blood flow and  $CL_1$  is the intrinsic clearance of drug (25). Since  $CL_1$  can be replaced by  $CL_1'*fu$ , where  $CL_1'$  is the intrinsic clearance of free drug and fu is unbound fraction of drug. For drugs with intermediate hepatic extraction ratios, liver blood flow, unbound fraction of drug in the blood, and intrinsic clearance of unbound fraction are important parameters that influence the

systemic availability of drug. Since inflammation does not have any effect on Q (26), an increase in systemic exposure of rofecoxib (Table 4-4) by inflammation can be explained by a change in protein binding and/or intrinsic clearance. In a study performed to compare the plasma protein binding of propranolol and chlorpromazine between healthy and people diagnosed with inflammatory diseases, the higher plasma protein binding among patients with inflammatory disease was attributable to the elevated  $\alpha_1$ -acid glycoprotein concentrations (7). Ling and Jamali (8) have shown that pre-adjuvant arthritis decreases the content of cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes. The inhibitory effect of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , interleukin-1 $\alpha$  (IL-1 $\alpha$ ), interferon- $\gamma$ , and IL-6 on activity of CYP and glucuronosyl transferase enzymes has been reported by Monshouwer et al. (9).

For a low extraction ratio drug, since Q is much higher than  $CL_I$ , the above equation can be theoretically reduced to F=Q/Q. Therefore, a change in blood flow, protein binding, or intrinsic clearance cannot alter the systemic availability of drug. Hepatic extraction ratio was calculated for meloxicam to be less than 0.1, using the intravenous data reported by Aghazadeh-Habashi and Jamali (27). Not surprisingly, inflammation did not affect the systemic exposure of meloxicam (Table 4-5).

Although, based on radioactivity studies, the mean oral bioavailability of rofecoxib in human subjects is reported to be 93%, due to low solubility and consequently unavailability of intravenous dosage form, absolute bioavailability of drug in human is not known (28). Therefore, more studies are needed to compare the systemic exposure of drug in healthy and arthritic subjects. On the other hand, literature contains intravenous data for meloxicam suggesting the absolute bioavailability of drug is more

than 99% (29). Therefore, based on our data in rat, one may extrapolate that inflammation does not alter systemic availability of meloxicam in human.

The other objective of this study was to understand whether inflammation could change the distribution of NSAIDs into the kidney. Although it has been shown that expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 may change the permeability of the blood-brain barrier (30), the results of our study showed that 24-h post dose kidney/plasma concentration ratios of rofecoxib (Figure 4-5) and meloxicam (Figure 4-6) groups were not different between normal and inflamed rats indicating that inflammation did not change the permeability across the kidney membrane.

In summary, inflammation produces a kidney dysfunction in rat. The altered renal function is verified by an increase in concentrations of BUN and plasma creatinine. However, urinary sodium and potassium excretion are not altered by inflammation. Oral clearance of rofecoxib decreases by inflammation. A decline in unbound fraction or oral first pass metabolism of drug may be responsible for the change in pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib. The degree of distribution of rofecoxib and meloxicam to kidneys are not influenced by inflammation. **Table 4-1.** The effect of inflammation on the weight of normal rats treated with placebo (PL/CONT, n=6), inflamed rats treated with placebo (PL/INF, n=6), normal rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (3 mg/kg), (MEL/CONT, n=7), inflamed rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (MEL/INF, n=7), normal rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/CONT, n=7), and inflamed rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/INF, n=6) on day 13 post-inflammation.

			Gr	oup		
Time	PL/CONT	PL/INF	MEL/CONT	MEL/INF	<b>ROF/CONT</b>	<b>ROF/INF</b>
Baseline	268 ± 2.58	268 ± 2.58	273 ± 9.83	262 ± 3.36	265 ± 5.00	268 ± 2.58
Day 9	337 ± 8.16	298 ± 21.8†	331 ± 8.61	284 ± 14.6†	339 ± 6.27	298 ± 21.8†
Day 13	362 ± 18.9	324 ± 19.9†	346 ± 13.6	302 ± 22.0†	354 ± 13.0	323 ± 19.9†

Data are mean ± standard deviation †Significantly different from control Table 4-2. Changes in BUN, plasma creatinine, and total protein in normal rats treated with placebo (PL/CONT, n=6), inflamed rats treated with placebo (PL/INF, n=6), normal rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (3 mg/kg), (MEL/CONT, n=7), inflamed rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (MEL/INF, n=7), normal rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/CONT, n=7), and inflamed rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/INF, n=6) on day 13 post-inflammation.

				Gro	oup		
Parameter	Time	PL/CONT	PL/INF	MEL/CONT	MEL/INF	ROF/CONT	ROF/INF
	Baseline	3.84 ± 0.93	4.48 ± 0.83	4.24 ± 0.91	4.22 ± 1.06	4.78 ± 0.81	4.48 ± 0.83
BUN (mmol/L)	Day 9	4.57 ± 1.05	6.22 ± 0.63***	4.79 ± 0.66	4.61 ± 0.88	4.42 ± 0.66	6.22 ± 0.63***
	Day 13	5.58 ± 0.69	8.04 ± 0.78	5.33 ± 1.78	10.6 ± 9.3***	7.69 ± 0.82	7.33 ± 2.79
Plasma	Baseline	15.2 ± 3.43	14.33 ± 3.78	26.5 ± 2.07	20.6 ± 2.88	26.4 ± 2.88	14.3 ± 3.78
creatinine	Day 9	18.8 ± 3.42	28.8 ± 3.43***	29.2 ± 2.0	24.3 ± 2.43*	26.9 ± 3.98	28.8 ± 3.43***
(µmoi/L)	Day 13	21.67 ± 3.67	32.2 ± 4.96*	28.0 ± 5.4	39.4 ± 34.2*	34.2 ± 5.85	48.2 ± 32.7***
Total	Baseline	51.8 ± 1.64	53.5 ± 4.18	52.5 ± 1.64	52.3 ± 1.11	54.3 ± 2.14	53.5 ± 4.18
protein	Day 9	55.00 ± 1.67	50.8 ± 1.60	54.7 ± 1.75	52.9 ± 1.95	53.0 ± 2.16	50.8 ± 1.60
(g/L)	Day 13	51.8 ± 4.75	56.8 ± 2.32	53.8 ± 2.93	55.4 ± 0.89	55.2 ± 3.43	52.7 ± 2.58

Data are mean ± standard deviation

\*Significantly different from baseline, p<0.05

\*\*Significantly different from baseline. P<0.01

\*\*\*Significantly different from baseline, p<0.001

Table 4-3. Changes in urine flow rate, sodium excretion, and potassium excretion in normal rats treated with placebo (PL/CONT, n=6), inflamed rats treated with placebo (PL/INF, n=6), normal rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (3 mg/kg), (MEL/CONT, n=7), inflamed rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (MEL/INF, n=7), normal rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/CONT, n=7), and inflamed rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/INF, n=6) on day 13 post-inflammation.

				Gro	oup		
Parameter	Time	PL/CONT	PL/INF	MEL/CONT	MEL/INF	ROF/CONT	ROF/INF
Urine flow	Baseline	0.75 ± 0.11	0.44 ± 0.21	0.54 ± 0.17	0.59 ± 0.30	0.61 ± 0.13	0.44 ± 0.21
rate (mL/h)	Post treatment	$0.92 \pm 0.4$	0.71 ± 0.20*	0.63 ± 0.16	0.65 ± 0.26	0.55 ± 0.23	0.31 ± 0.13
Sodium	Baseline	1.83 ± 0.29	1.38 ± 0.41	1.19 ± 0.53	0.89 ± 0.37	1.62 ± 0.95	1.38 ± 0.41
rate (µmol/min)	Post treatment	1.37 ± 0.46	1.57 ± 0.61	0.82 ± 0.50	0.76 ± 0.37	0.98 ± 0.56*	0.62 ± 0.41*
Potassium	Baseline	2.81 ± 0.87	1.58 ± 0.61	2.08 ± 0.55	1.81 ± 0.64	2.55 ± 0.95	1.58 ± 0.61
rate (µmol/min)	Post treatment	2.10 ± 0.72	2.18 ± 0.80	2.27 ± 0.78	1.41 ± 0.46	1.63 ± 0.82*	1.08 ± 0.53

Data are mean ± standard deviation \*Significantly different from baseline 

 Table 4-4. The pharmacokinetic parameters of rofecoxib (10mg/kg) in the absence or

 presence of inflammation.

	Condition			
Parameter	Normal (n=7)	Inflamed (n=7)		
AUC <sub>0-24</sub> (µg.h/mL)	21.57 ± 3.41	30.51 ± 4.03†		
C <sub>max</sub> (µg/mL)	$2.63 \pm 0.52$	2.44 ± 0.37		
t <sub>max</sub> (h)	2.7 ± 1.2	5.6 ± 1.7		
CL/F (mL/h/kg)	470 ± 75	331± 4 <b>2†</b>		
Vd/F (mL/kg)	3895 ± 765	3888 ± 756		
t1/2 (h)	$5.2 \pm 0.9$	$6.5 \pm 2.6$		

Note: The values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation †Significantly different from normal rats Table 4-5. The pharmacokinetic parameters of meloxicam (3mg/kg) in the absence or

presence of inflammation.

	Condition			
Parameter	Normal (n=7)	Inflamed (n=7)		
AUC <sub>0-24</sub> (µg.h/mL)	366.57 ± 44.11	324.58 ± 81.70		
C <sub>max</sub> (µg/mL)	19.70 ± 3.75	16.85 ± 3.96		
<b>t</b> max (h)	6.7 ± 1.6	6.8 ± 1.8		
CL/F (mL/h/kg)	‡	‡		
Vd/F (mL/kg)	+	‡		
t1/2 (h)	+	<b>‡</b>		

Note: The values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation \$\prod\_Not estimated



**Figure 4-1.** The changes in nitrite in normal rats treated with placebo (PL/CONT, n=6), inflamed rats treated with placebo (PL/INF, n=6), normal rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (3 mg/kg), (MEL/CONT, n=7), inflamed rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (MEL/INF, n=7), normal rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/CONT, n=7), and inflamed rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/INF, n=6) on day 13 post-inflammation.

\*Significantly different from baseline, p < 0.05

\*\*Significantly different from baseline, p < 0.01

\*\*\*Significantly different from baseline, p < 0.001



Figure 4-2. The changes in TNF- $\alpha$  normal rats treated with placebo ((PL/CONT, n=6), inflamed rats treated with placebo (PL/INF, n=6), normal rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (3 mg/kg), (MEL/CONT, n=7), inflamed rats treated with a 3 mg/kg oral dose of meloxicam (MEL/INF, n=7), normal rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/CONT, n=7), and inflamed rats treated with a 10 mg/kg oral dose of rofecoxib (ROF/INF, n=6) on day 13 post-inflammation.

\*\*Significantly different from baseline, p < 0.01

\*\*\*Significantly different from baseline, p < 0.001



Figure 4-3. Plasma concentration-time profile of rofecoxib in absence (n=7) or presence (n=6) of inflammation following a 10 mg/kg oral dose.



**Figure 4-4.** Plasma concentration-time profile of meloxicam in absence (n=7) or presence (n=7) of inflammation following a 3 mg/kg oral dose.







**Figure 4-6.** 24-h post dose concentrations of meloxicam in plasma and kidney of normal (n=6) or inflamed (n=7) rats following a 3 mg/kg oral dose.

### 4.5 References

- (1) Kvien TK. Epidemiology and burden of illness of rheumatoid arthritis. Pharmacoeconomics 2004; 22(2 Suppl):1-12.
- (2) Ruderman EM. Current and future pharmaceutical therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. Curr Pharm Des 2005; 11(5):671-84.
- (3) Boers M, Dijkmans BA, Breedveld FC, Camps JA, Chang PC, Van BP et al. Subclinical renal dysfunction in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1990; 33(1):95-101.
- (4) Stichtenoth DO, Frolich JC. COX-2 and the kidneys. Curr Pharm Des 2000; 6(17):1737-53.
- (5) Sattari S, Dryden WF, Eliot LA, Jamali F. Despite increased plasma concentration, inflammation reduces potency of calcium channel antagonists due to lower binding to the rat heart. Br J Pharmacol 2003; 139(5):945-54.
- (6) Mayo PR, Skeith K, Russell AS, Jamali F. Decreased dromotropic response to verapamil despite pronounced increased drug concentration in rheumatoid arthritis. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2000; 50(6):605-13.
- (7) Piafsky KM, Borga O, Odar-Cederlof I, Johansson C, Sjoqvist F. Increased plasma protein binding of propranolol and chlorpromazine mediated by diseaseinduced elevations of plasma alpha1 acid glycoprotein. N Engl J Med 1978; 299(26):1435-9.
- (8) Ling S, Jamali F. Effect of early phase adjuvant arthritis on hepatic CYP enzymes and pharmacokinetics of verapamil: an alternative approach to the use of an animal model of inflammation for pharmacokinetic studies. Drug Metab Dispos 2005.
- (9) Monshouwer M, Witkamp RF, Nujmeijer SM, Van Amsterdam JG, van Miert AS. Suppression of cytochrome. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1996; 137(2):237-44.
- (10) Didier N, Romero IA, Creminon C, Wijkhuisen A, Grassi J, Mabondzo A. Secretion of interleukin-1beta by astrocytes mediates endothelin-1 and tumour necrosis factor-alpha effects on human brain microvascular endothelial cell permeability. J Neurochem 2003; 86(1):246-54.
- (11) Harirforoosh S, Jamali F. Effect of Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs with Varying Extent of COX-2/COX-1 Selectivity on Urinary Sodium and Potassium Excretion in the Rat. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 2005; 83:85-90.
- (12) Grisham MB, Johnson GG, Lancaster JR, Jr. Quantitation of nitrate and nitrite in extracellular fluids. Methods Enzymol 1996; 268:237-46.
- (13) Ueki Y, Miyake S, Tominaga Y, Eguchi K. Increased nitric oxide levels in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 1996; 23(2):230-6.
- (14) Arend WP, Dayer JM. Cytokines and cytokine inhibitors or antagonists in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1990; 33(3):305-15.
- (15) Perrone RD, Madias NE, Levey AS. Serum creatinine as an index of renal function: new insights into old concepts. Clin Chem 1992; 38(10):1933-53.
- (16) Schnellmann RG. Toxic responses of the kidney. In: Klaassen CD, editor.
   Casarett & Doull's Toxicology. 6<sup>th</sup> ed. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2001. 502.

- (17) DiJoseph JF, Walter TL, Hartman DA, Carlson RP. Kidney dysfunction in the arthritic rat. Int J Immunopharmacol 1993; 15(8):933-41.
- (18) Catella-Lawson F, McAdam B, Morrison BW, Kapoor S, Kujubu D, Antes L et al. Effects of specific inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 on sodium balance, hemodynamics, and vasoactive eicosanoids. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1999; 289(2):735-41.
- (19) Vio CP, Cespedes C, Gallardo P, Masferrer JL. Renal identification of cyclooxygenase-2 in a subset of thick ascending limb cells. Hypertension 1997; 30(3 Pt 2):687-92.
- (20) Ferreri NR, An SJ, McGiff JC. Cyclooxygenase-2 expression and function in the medullary thick ascending limb. Am J Physiol 1999; 277(3 Pt 2):F360-F368.
- (21) Roig F, Llinas MT, Lopez R, Salazar FJ. Role of cyclooxygenase-2 in the prolonged regulation of renal function. Hypertension 2002; 40(5):721-8.
- (22) Breyer MD, Harris RC. Cyclooxygenase 2 and the kidney. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2001; 10(1):89-98.
- (23) Guirguis MS, Sattari S, Jamali F. Pharmacokinetics of celecoxib in the presence and absence of interferon-induced acute inflammation in the rat: application of a novel HPLC assay. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2001; 4(1):1-6.
- (24) Halpin RA, Geer LA, Zhang KE, Marks TM, Dean DC, Jones AN et al. The absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of rofecoxib, a potent and selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, in rats and dogs. Drug Metab Dispos 2000; 28(10):1244-54.
- (25) Gibaldi M, Perrier D. Pharmacokinetics. 2<sup>th</sup> ed. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc.; 1982.
- (26) Walker KA, Barber HE, Hawksworth GM. Mechanism responsible for altered propranolol disposition in adjuvant-induced arthritis in the rat. Drug Metab Dispos 1986; 14(4):482-6.
- (27) Aghazadeh-Habashi A, Jamali F. Pharmacokinetic Study of Meloxicam in the rat. J Pharm Pharm Sci [Proceedings of the CSPS 6th Annual Symposium], 53. 2003. Ref Type: Abstract
- (28) Davies NM, Teng XW, Skjodt NM. Pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib: a specific cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitor. Clin Pharmacokinet 2003; 42(6):545-56.
- (29) Busch U, Heinzel G, Narjes H. The effect of cholestyramine on the pharmacokinetics of meloxicam, a new non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID), in man. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1995; 48(3-4):269-72.
- (30) de Vries HE, Blom-Roosemalen MC, van OM, de Boer AG, van Berkel TJ, Breimer DD et al. The influence of cytokines on the integrity of the blood-brain barrier in vitro. J Neuroimmunol 1996; 64(1):37-43.

# Chapter 5

**General Discussions and Conclusions** 

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are used to reduce pain and inflammation associated with arthritis. However, several side effects such as gastrointestinal (GI) symptoms and renal effects limit the use of these compounds in some groups of patients (1). Since it was known that cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) is constitutively produced in many cells and tissues through the body and COX-2 is only generated in response to inflammation, it was believed that the development of NSAIDs with more selectivity for COX-2 might lead to fewer side effects (2). However, while this is true with respect to GI side effects (3), the discovery of COX-2 expression in the kidney (4), in the absence of inflammation, raised the question whether selective COX-2 inhibitors may possess other side effects such as cardiovascular and renal effects. Accordingly, we considered the hypothesis that selective COX-2 inhibitors have renal side effects similar to the traditional NSAIDs.

In order to examine our hypothesis, we selected a group of NSAIDs with diverse selectivity for COX-1 and COX-2. For instance, we chose flurbiprofen and diclofenac with high selectivity for COX-1 (5). On the other hand, rofecoxib was picked for its high selectivity for COX-2. Also, celecoxib and meloxicam were chosen for their relatively selectivity on COX-2. The most significant complications related to the use of NSAIDs are reported to be reduction in sodium and potassium excretion and renal perfusion (6). It has been shown that decreased sodium excretion can lead to important clinical events such as edema, weight gain, decreased response to anti-hypertensive drugs, and rarely congestive heart failure and hyperkalemia may cause arrhythmia (6). Therefore, the focus of our study was on the effects of NSAIDs on sodium and potassium exertion. The results of our study demonstrated that administration of rofecoxib, celecoxib, diclofenac, and

flurbiprofen significantly decreased sodium excretion in the rats on normal diet.

Additionally, we observed a significant reduction in potassium excretion due to the effect of those NSAIDs. It is worth of noting that meloxicam did not show any effect on sodium and potassium excretion. Meloxicam has been around for many years. Some authors have categorized this drug as a preferential COX-2 inhibitor; however, others have considered it as a selective inhibitor of COX-2. Nevertheless, the unique characteristic of meloxicam concerning renal effects was our motivation to extend our investigation. We were interested to know whether the renal effects of examined NSAIDs were dictated by the degree of selectivity for COX-2 and COX-1. No correlation was found when the COX-2/COX-1 selectivity or potency of drugs versus renal effects was examined. While meloxicam and celecoxib hold the same levels of COX-2/COX-1 selectivity ratio, they showed different effect on renal function. Furthermore, rofecoxib, a highly selective COX-2 inhibitor, altered both sodium and potassium excretion, but meloxicam, with less selectivity for COX-2, did not. Thus, we rejected the hypothesis suggesting a correlation between selectivity for COX enzyme and renal effects.

In this study, we found a significant correlation between the pharmacokinetic parameters of rofecoxib or celecoxib with the renal effect. We provided evidence correlating the drug concentrations and toxic effects of coxibs. The linking pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics predicts the concentration- effect relationship of a drug (7). Knowing these relationships assists the prescriber to administer the doses which reaches the therapeutics concentrations and avoids toxic concentrations. In the field of NSAIDs, there are studies that correlate therapeutic effects (8) or toxic effects (9) with drug plasma concentrations. In case of salicylates, plasma concentrations required

for observing therapeutic effects in treatment of arthritis and toxic concentrations for developing side effects such as tinnitus or headaches have been reported (10). These observations show that measurement of steady plasma concentrations of NSAIDs might have clinical benefits. Our findings indicate a basis for therapeutic drug monitoring of selective COX-2 inhibitors in order to avoid the renal effects. Higher steady plasma concentrations of rofecoxib and celecoxib may indicate the undesirable effects. This is important especially for the patients who are at risk to develop renal effects. These are elderly, who have less renal function, congestive heart failure patients, patents who take other medication that have renal effects, and people diagnosed with kidney dysfunction. Our observations provide a need for clinical studies to establish the correlations between plasma concentrations and renal effects in human.

Although we could show the concentration- side effect relationships for rofecoxib and celecoxib, the main question pursuing the lack of renal effect of meloxicam was not answered yet. For many years, it has been known that the use of aminoglycosides or cyclosporine is associated with renal side effects (11;12). The degree of effect is governed by the extent of accumulation of those drugs in the kidney (13;14). Hence, we speculated that the renal effects of NSAIDs might be correlated with the amount of drug in the kidney as well. We measured the 24-h post-dose plasma and kidney concentrations of three COX-2-selective NSAIDs, rofecoxib, celecoxib, and meloxicam. For rofecoxib and celecoxib, the concentrations of drugs were much higher in kidney compared to those of plasma, while the ratio for meloxicam was in opposite direction. This suggests that the concentration of meloxicam in the kidney does not reach the levels needed to exert the renal effects. This may be explained with the difference in solubility of examined selective COX-2 inhibitors in aqueous solutions. The work of Seedher and Bhatia (15) has been shown that solubility of rofecoxib and celecoxib is very small in response to pH changes. In contrast, meloxicam solubility substantially changed when the pH of solution was increased. Accordingly, the solubility of meloxicam is likely high at physiological pH. Therefore, meloxicam exists in ionized form and unable to pass cell membrane. On the other hand, rofecoxib and celecoxib are likely present in non-ionized form in the blood circulation. Therefore, the lipophilicity of drugs is adequate to pass the tissue membranes and show renal effects.

A review of literature provides evidence that arthritis causes kidney dysfunction (16). These findings indicate that arthritic patients are at risk of developing sub-clinical renal dysfunction. Since it was shown that rofecoxib and celecoxib decreased sodium excretion, it was worth of knowing whether the use of NSAIDs in arthritic patients may make sodium retention worse. In order to study those effects in animal models, we induced inflammation in rats with injection of adjuvant using the model described by Ling and Jamali (17). The presence of inflammation was confirmed with increase in the concentrations of nitric oxide and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ .

We could detect an increase in the concentrations of creatinine and blood urea nitrogen on days 9 or 19 post-adjuvant injection. This indicates a change in glomerular filtration rate attributable to glomerular dysfunction. In contrast, inflammation did not change sodium or potassium excretion in rats. This suggests that inflammation causes glomerular, but not the tubular damage. This may be explained by the notion that sodium is actively transported out of the most portions of the tubule (18). Also, the reabsorption and secretion of potassium take place in proximal tubules and distal tubular cells,

respectively. Accordingly, one may speculate that inflammation does not change the action of renal tubule.

The other objective of this project was to understand the effect of inflammation on pharmacokinetics of selective COX-2 inhibitors. It is well known that inflammation affects the pharmacokinetics of some drugs. As it was expected for a low extraction drug, inflammation did not alter bioavailability of meloxicam. We did not observe any change in the area under the plasma concentration-time curve from time of dosing to 24 h postdose (AUC<sub>0-24</sub>) of drug in inflamed rats. In contrast, AUC<sub>0-24</sub> of rofecoxib was higher in inflamed rats compared to that of control. This suggests that the content and/or activity of enzymes metabolizing rofecoxib were reduced due to inflammation.

These observations in rat may have clinical implications in human. We provided evidence that meloxicam did not alter electrolyte excretion (Chapter 2). Moreover, inflammation did not change the pharmacokinetics of meloxicam due to the low extraction ratio of drug (Chapter 4). Therefore, it can be suggested that meloxicam to be the first choice among selective COX-2 inhibitors in treatment of signs and symptoms of arthritic patients.

In summary, this work provides the evidences that selective COX-2 inhibitors have renal effects similar to traditional NSAIDs. The extent of the effect is correlated with some pharmacokinetic parameters such as AUC and 24-h plasma drug concentration. In addition, inflammation alters the kidney function and pharmacokinetics of rofecoxib. However, Inflammation does not change the permeability of kidney.

## **5.1 References**

- (1) Whelton A. COX-2-specific inhibitors and the kidney: effect on hypertension and oedema. J Hypertens 2002; 20 Suppl 6:S31-S35.
- (2) Mitchell JA, Akarasereenont P, Thiemermann C, Flower RJ, Vane JR. Selectivity of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs as inhibitors of constitutive and inducible cyclooxygenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993; 90(24):11693-7.
- (3) Becker JC, Domschke W, Pohle T. Current approaches to prevent NSAIDinduced gastropathy--COX selectivity and beyond. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2004; 58(6):587-600.
- (4) Adegboyega PA, Ololade O. Immunohistochemical expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in normal kidneys. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 2004; 12(1):71-4.
- (5) Warner TD, Giuliano F, Vojnovic I, Bukasa A, Mitchell JA, Vane JR. Nonsteroid drug selectivities for cyclo-oxygenase-1 rather than cyclo-oxygenase-2 are associated with human gastrointestinal toxicity: a full in vitro analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96(13):7563-8.
- (6) Brater DC. Effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on renal function: focus on cyclooxygenase-2-selective inhibition. Am J Med 1999; 107(6A):65S-70S.
- (7) Holford NH, Sheiner LB. Understanding the dose-effect relationship: clinical application of pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic models. Clin Pharmacokinet 1981; 6(6):429-53.
- (8) Suri A, Grundy BL, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of enantiomers of ibuprofen and flurbiprofen after oral administration. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 1997; 35(1):1-8.
- (9) Vakily M, Khorasheh F, Jamali F. Dependency of gastrointestinal toxicity on release rate of tiaprofenic acid: a novel pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic model. Pharm Res 1999; 16(1):123-9.
- (10) Famaey JP. Correlation plasma levels, NSAID and therapeutic response. Clin Rheumatol 1985; 4(2):124-32.
- (11) Moutabarrik A, Ishibashi M, Kameoka H, Kawaguchi N, Takano Y, Kokado Y et al. In vitro FK506 kidney tubular cell toxicity. Transpl Int 1992; 5 Suppl 1:S87-S92.
- (12) Dellinger P, Murphy T, Pinn V, Barza M, Weinstein L. Protective effect of cephalothin against gentamincin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1976; 9(1):172-8.
- (13) Perez M, Castilla M, Torres AM, Lazaro JA, Sarmiento E, Tejedor A. Inhibition of brush border dipeptidase with cilastatin reduces toxic accumulation of cyclosporin A in kidney proximal tubule epithelial cells. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19(10):2445-55.
- (14) Schentag JJ, Cumbo TJ, Jusko WJ, Plaut ME. Gentamicin tissue accumulation and nephrotoxic reactions. JAMA 1978; 240(19):2067-9.
- (15) Seedher N, Bhatia S. Solubility enhancement of Cox-2 inhibitors using various solvent systems. AAPS PharmSciTech 2003; 4(3):E33.

- (16) Boers M, Dijkmans BA, Breedveld FC, Camps JA, Chang PC, Van BP et al. Subclinical renal dysfunction in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1990; 33(1):95-101.
- (17) Ling S, Jamali F. Effect of early phase adjuvant arthritis on hepatic CYP enzymes and pharmacokinetics of verapamil: an alternative approach to the use of an animal model of inflammation for pharmacokinetic studies. Drug Metab Dispos 2005.
- (18) Ganong WF. Review of Medical Physiology. 22<sup>th</sup> ed. McGraw-Hill; 2005.